

## Impact of Proanthocyanidins on Intestinal Dysfunction Induced by Nutritional or Chemical Agents

Carlos Alberto González Quilen



DOCTORAL THESIS 2020

Carlos Alberto González Quilen

## Impact of Proanthocyanidins on Intestinal Dysfunction Induced by Nutritional or Chemical Agents

**DOCTORAL THESIS** 

Supervised by Dr. Maria Teresa Blay Olivé and

Dr. Ximena Terra Barbadora

MoBioFood Research Group

Department of Biochemistry and Biotechnology



Tarragona, 2020



DEPARTAMENT DE BIOQUÍMICA I BIOTECNOLOGIA Campus Sescelades C/ Marcel·lí Domingo, 1 43007 Tarragona Tel. +34 977 55 84 97 Fax +34 977 55 82 32

WE STATE that the present study entitled **IMPACT OF PROANTHOCYANIDINS ON INTESTINAL DYSFUNCTION INDUCED BY NUTRITIONAL OR CHEMICAL AGENTS** presented by **CARLOS ALBERTO GONZÁLEZ QUILEN** for the award of the degree of Doctor has been carried out under our supervision at the Department of Biochemistry and Biotechnology from the Universitat Rovira i Virgili.

FEM CONSTAR que aquest treball titulat **IMPACT OF PROANTHOCYANIDINS ON INTESTINAL DYSFUNCTION INDUCED BY NUTRITIONAL OR CHEMICAL AGENTS** que presenta **CARLOS ALBERTO GONZÁLEZ QUILEN** per al'obtenció del títol de doctorat ha estat realitzat sota la nostra direcció al Departament de Bioquímica i Biotecnologia de la Universitat Rovira i Virgili.

Tarragona, June 19<sup>th</sup>, 2020 / Tarragona, 19 de juny de 2020

Doctoral thesis supervisors / Les directores de la tesi doctoral

Dr. M. Teresa Blay Olivé

Dr. Ximena Terra Barbadora

"Somewhere, something incredible

is waiting to be known."

-Carl Sagan

The completion of this doctoral thesis would not have been possible without the support of supervisors, colleagues and friends along the way.

First, I would like to thank my supervisors Dr. M. Teresa Blay and Dr. Ximena Terra for providing their invaluable guidance and encouragement throughout this research in order to accomplish the objectives planned. Collectively, I thank the rest of MoBioFood Research group seniors Anna Ardévol, Montse Pinent and Raul Beltrán for their active cooperation during the experiments and for spending their valuable time on discussing aspects related to this work.

I extend my gratitude to the predoctoral fellows who directly or indirectly supported this project, specially my laboratory partner Carme Grau for her great enthusiasm, patience and commitment. Also, I greatly appreciate the incredible support received from our wonderful technicians Niurka Llópiz and Rosa Pastor: whenever anything came up, they always figured out a way.

I gratefully acknowledge the financial support from Universitat Rovira i Virgili (Marti i Franquès grant) and from the Generalitat de Catalunya (FI-AGAUR grant).

Finally, I owe my deepest gratitude to my dear mother, Marielba, for encouraging me to follow my dreams, and to my beloved, Stéphie, for being there for me no matter what and for showing me that fairytale love does exist.

### **Table of Contents**

-

Summary1
Resum
Abbreviations
I. INTRODUCTION7
1. Background
2. The Western Diet: Definition and Implications for Health
3. Fructose Metabolism and Metabolic Syndrome12
4. PACs for Intestinal Dysfunction: An Approach for Disease Prevention and Treatment
4.1. <b>Manuscript 1</b> : Health-Promoting Properties of Proanthocyanidins for Intestinal Dysfunction23
1. Introduction25
2. The Intestinal Barrier
3. Intestinal Inflammatory Response: The Critical Role of TLRs and NF-κB
4. Cytokine-Induced Regulation of Tight Junctions
5. Intestinal Dysfunction: Pathophysiological Basis and Environmental Triggers
6. PACs: Chemical Structure, Occurrence, and Intake
7. The Fate of PACs after Ingestion35
8. Studies on the Benefits of PACs for Intestinal Dysfunction
8.1. Studies with Cell Culture Models
8.2. In Vivo Studies of Diet-Induced Intestinal Dysfunction
8.3. In Vivo Studies of Chemical-Induced Intestinal Dysfunction 46
8.4. Other in Vivo Studies with Animal Models
8.5. Human <i>ex Vivo</i> Studies
8.6. Clinical Trials
9. Biochemical and Molecular Mechanisms Underlying the Barrier Protective and Anti-Inflammatory Properties of PAC in the Intestine

\_

91 Antioxidant Activity	51
9.2 Modulation of Signaling Transduction Pathways	52
9.3 Modulation of TLIntegrity	52 54
9.4. Interaction with Bacterial Endotoxins	54 56
9.5 Modulation of Intestinal Microbiota	50
10 Conclusions and Future Perspectives	50 57
II. HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVES	75
III. RESULTS	81
1. <i>In Vivo</i> and <i>in Vitro</i> Studies of Intestinal Dysfunction Induced by Nutritional Factors	83
1.1. <b>Manuscript 2:</b> Grape-Seed Proanthocyanidins are Able to Revers Intestinal Dysfunction and Metabolic Endotoxemia Induced by a Cafeteria Diet in Wistar Rats	se a 85
1.2. Manuscript 3: Detrimental Effects of High Fructose Concentration in Monolayers of Human Colon Carcinoma Caco-2 Cells: The Ro of Proanthocyanidins in Permeability Alterations and Proinflammatory Changes	ons de .115
2. Human <i>ex Vivo</i> Study of Intestinal Dysfunction Induced by a Chemical Agent	.137
2.1. <b>Manuscript 4:</b> Protective Properties of Grape-seed Proanthocyanidins in Human <i>ex Vivo</i> Acute Colonic Dysfunction Induced by Dextran Sodium Sulphate	1 .139
IV. GENERAL DISCUSSION	165
1. The CAF Diet Induces Detrimental Effects in the Intestine That Can Impact Overall Health	.167
2. Preclinical Research: Unveiling the Influence of GSPE on Intestinal Dysfunction Induced by Nutritional Factors	.170
3. Bridging the Gap Between Preclinical Research and Clinical Trials: A Human <i>ex Vivo</i> Model of Acute Colonic Dysfunction	.174
V. CONCLUSIONS	181
List of publications	.185

#### Summary

The intestinal tract is a site of interaction with microorganisms and potentially detrimental environmental factors. The high intake of fructose and saturated fats typical of the Western diet has been associated with intestinal dysfunction (disruption of barrier function and inflammation) and an increased influx of proinflammatory bacterial endotoxins into the systemic circulation. In turn, high concentrations of plasma endotoxins (metabolic endotoxemia) are a precursor to the onset of metabolic syndrome. In view of the above, the intestine is emerging as a target for disease prevention and therapy. Proanthocyanins (PACs) are naturally occurring phenolic compounds with remarkable anti-inflammatory properties in the intestinal mucosa, according to preclinical studies. Thus, PAC administration is a promising adjunctive therapeutic strategy for the treatment of intestinal dysfunction, but its efficacy in humans is yet to be confirmed. The main objective of this doctoral thesis was to evaluate the impact of a grape-seed PAC extract (GSPE) on preclinical models of intestinal dysfunction and to investigate its effectiveness in humans. We found that a long-term Western-style diet (cafeteria diet) induces intestinal dysfunction in rats, and that alterations in the permeability of the colon largely contribute to metabolic endotoxemia. These effects are partially driven by high luminal concentrations of fructose and could be effectively reversed *in vivo* by pharmacological doses of GSPE. Lastly, we compared these findings with evidence derived from an *ex vivo* human model of chemically-induced colonic dysfunction in which we were able to replicate the reduction of intestinal permeability and the amelioration of inflammatory status by means of GSPE found in vivo. In conclusion, the administration of GSPE results in the overall improvement of intestinal dysfunction and associated metabolic endotoxemia. Effective doses in humans are probably pharmacological and will have to be determined in clinical trials.

#### Resum

El tracte intestinal és un lloc d'interacció amb microorganismes i factors ambientals potencialment nocius. En aquest sentit, un alt consum de components majoritaris de la dieta occidental com la fructosa i els greixos saturats s'ha associat amb la disfunció intestinal (disrupció de la funció de barrera i inflamació) i l'entrada d'endotoxines bacterianes amb efecte proinflamatori en la circulació. Addicionalment, una alta concentració d'endotoxina en plasma (endotoxemia metabòlica) es vincula amb la síndrome metabòlica. Així, l'intestí està emergint com un blanc terapèutic per a la prevenció i tractament de malalties. Les proantocianidines (PACs) són compostos fenòlics naturals amb potent efecte antiinflamatori en la mucosa intestinal d'acord amb evidència preclínica. Per tant, l'administració de PACs és prometedora com a estratègia terapèutica complementària, però la seva eficàcia s'ha de confirmar en humans. El principal objectiu de la present tesi doctoral va ser avaluar l'impacte d'un extracte de PACs de la pinyol de raïm (GSPE) en models preclínics de disfunció intestinal i explorar la seva efectivitat en l'humà. Trobem que una dieta estil occidental (dieta de cafeteria) indueix disfunció intestinal en rates i que l'alteració de permeabilitat al còlon contribueix en gran mesura a la endotoxemia metabòlica. Aquests efectes van ser atribuïts parcialment a altes concentracions luminals de fructosa i van poder ser revertits amb dosis farmacològiques de GSPE in vivo. Finalment, contrastem aquests resultats amb evidència derivada d'un model humà ex vivo de disfunció colònica. En aquest model vam poder replicar la reducció de permeabilitat i la millora de l'estat inflamatori reportats in vivo. En conclusió, l'administració de GSPE pot millorar la disfunció intestinal i la endotoxemia metabòlica associada. Les dosis efectives en humans són probablement farmacològiques i hauran de ser establertes en estudis clínics posteriors.

### Abbreviations

CAF, cafeteria

COX, cyclooxygenase

DP, degree of polymerization

DSS, dextran sodium sulfate

FD4, fluorescein isothiocyanate 4 kDa

GSPE, grape-seed proanthocyanidin extract

HEB, human equivalent dose

IBD, inflammatory bowel disease

IFN- $\gamma$ , interferon- $\gamma$ 

IgA, immunoglobulin A

IKK, IkB kinase

IL, interleukin

JAM, junctional adhesion molecule

LDH, lactate dehydrogenase

LPS, lipopolysaccharides

LY, Lucifer yellow

M cell, microfold cell

MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase

MLCK, myosin light chain kinase

MPO, myeloperoxidase

MUC2, mucin 2

NF-κB, nuclear factor-κB

NO, nitric oxide

NOAEL, no-observed-adverse-effect level

NOS, nitric oxide synthase

OVA, ovalbumin

Papp, apparent permeability

SFA, saturated fatty acid

ROS, reactive oxygen species

TEER, transepithelial electrical resistance

Th, T helper cell

TJ, tight junction

TLR, toll-like receptor

TNBS, trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid

TNF- $\alpha$ , tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ 

UCh, Ussing chamber

ZO, zonula occludens

## I. Introduction

#### 1. Background

The burden of metabolic disorders including abdominal obesity, dyslipidemia, hyperglycemia and hypertension—namely metabolic syndrome—is increasing all over the globe [1]. These chronic conditions are linked to the unhealthy dietary habits and lifestyle behaviors prevalent in Western societies [2]. Ultra-processed food products are the primary calorie source in the so-called Western diet, dominating the global food system of high-income countries [3,4]. In general, ultra-processed foods are energy-dense and highly palatable products, rich in fats, sugars and various metabolically active food additives [5]. Furthermore, the consumption of these foods is also increasing rapidly in middle-income countries due to their convenience and attractiveness [5,6].

The intestinal epithelium is the largest interface between the host, microbial organisms and the external environment. It also constitutes an integral component of innate immunity and therefore a primary site of immune induction [7]. To address the challenges related to the continuous exposure to antigens, the intestinal mucosa maintains a finely tuned balance between immune response and tolerance [7,8]. Dietary components can substantially alter the physiology of the intestine by modifying microbiota composition [9] or directly targeting host responses [10,11]. Studies in mammals have reported that a high intake of saturated fats and fructose increases intestinal permeability and the influx of bacterial endotoxins (lipopolysaccharides, LPS) into the systemic circulation [12-14]. The resulting metabolic endotoxemia may elicit strong proinflammatory responses and induce features of metabolic syndrome [15]. Some research has suggested that the diet-induced disruption of intestinal barrier integrity and inflammation (i.e. intestinal dysfunction) is a precursor to obesity and insulin resistance [16]. Additionally, the disruption of the intestinal barrier may precede the clinical onset of type 1 diabetes [17] and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) in

humans [18]. In this paradigm, the intestine is emerging as an immune organ with significant influence on the etiology of serious pathologies and as a potential target for disease prevention and therapy [19,20].

Natural products derived from plants have historically been a source of therapeutic agents [21]. Proanthocyanins (PACs) are the second most abundant phenolics in nature after lignin [22] and the most important group of flavonoids in the human diet [23]. Attention has been focused on these phytochemicals due to their remarkable immunomodulatory properties, which make them promising complementary agents for therapeutic purposes in the treatment of chronic conditions [24,25]. Accumulated evidence mostly provided by *in vivo* studies in animals suggests that PACs may be beneficial in the treatment of intestinal dysfunction associated with diet-induced obesity [26,27] or caused by other detrimental factors [28–30], although their effectiveness in humans has yet to be confirmed.

# 2. The Western Diet: Definition and Implications for Health

Ultra-processed foods are formulations of ingredients that contain little, if any, intact food, typically combined by a series of industrial techniques and processes. The overall purpose of ultra-processing is to create convenient, attractive (hyper-palatable), accessible and durable food products [31]. Some common ultra-processed products are sugar-sweetened beverages and carbonated soft drinks, candy, sweetened breakfast cereals, snacks, mass-produced packaged breads and buns, cookies (biscuits), pastries, cakes, margarine and other spreads, and ready-to-eat meals [5]. Ultra-processed foods are cheaper to produce, transport, and store than perishable foods such as unprocessed meats or dairy products. As a result,

diets based on refined grains, added sugars and fats are more affordable than diets based on lean meats, fish, whole grains, fresh vegetables and fruits. This inverse relationship between energy density and energy cost [32] has shaped a shift from traditional diets towards a "Western" pattern diet [33].

The Western diet can be defined as a hypercaloric diet characterized by the overconsumption of saturated fats, refined sugar and corn-derived fructose syrup, salt and proteins derived from fatty and processed meats, with an associated reduced consumption of fruits and vegetables [34]. This dietary pattern represents a prominent contributing factor to the prevalence of obesity and related comorbidities [35,36]. The effects of the Western diet on human health have been accurately reproduced in rodents fed a cafeteria (CAF) diet [37]. In this model, animals are allowed free access to ultra-processed human foods, thus inducing a voluntary and sustained overfed state. The body weight of CAF-diet fed Wistar rats significantly increases as early as one week after initiating the intervention [38] and the animals manifest clear alterations in biochemical parameters (hypertriglyceridemia, hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia) after 17 weeks [39]. In rats, the CAF diet has also been found to shift the composition of intestinal microbiota and to decrease bacterial diversity (dysbiosis) at 12 weeks [40]. In multiple studies, alterations in the intestinal microbiota caused by high-fat diets have been correlated with two main physiological effects [41]: first, a greater microbial ability to break down food components and harvest energy from the diet, which may result in an increase in body fat; and second, an increase in intestinal LPS-bearing bacterial species and the subsequent over-activation of proinflammatory signal transduction pathways in the intestinal mucosa. Accordingly, an increased expression of proinflammatory mediators, immune cell infiltration and oxidative stress have been reported in the ileum of Wistar rats fed a CAF diet after 12–14.5 weeks of intervention [39], suggesting that intestinal dysfunction is an early event in obesity.

11

The dietary components invariably present in ultra-processed foods, i.e. fats and sugars, are both linked to adiposity and weight gain. Nevertheless, as stated above, the association between the components of the Western diet and health issues is substantially more complex than the simple concept of energy balance, and it involves a variety of underlying metabolic mechanisms [42]. Decades of dietary recommendations have focused on reducing total fat intake. In light of accumulated evidence identifying saturated fat intake as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease, these guidelines have been established with the goal of keeping the consumption of this type of fat to less than 10% of daily caloric intake. While recent findings shift the responsibility for the rising toll of chronic illness from fats to carbohydrates and sugars [43,44] (which is certainly not a new trend [45]), other studies highlight the need to focus on lowering the intake of specific types of nutrients and specific foods, and on changing overall dietary patterns rather than reducing the total fat/carbohydrate content of the diet [46,47].

#### 3. Fructose Metabolism and Metabolic Syndrome

Carbohydrates provide up to 22% of total daily calories in the Western diet [48] and include complex polymers (e.g., starch), and sugars, including the disaccharides lactose and sucrose, and the monosaccharides glucose and fructose [48]. Fructose has become a major component of the Western diet due to the increasing consumption of sucrose and high-fructose corn syrup, which are widely used as sweeteners by the food industry [49,50] and represent up to 10–12% of the daily calorie intake of some populations [49]. The contribution of fructose consumption to the toll of chronic illness in humans is still under discussion [51,52] due to a lack of clinical data (the current state of the controversy has been extensively reviewed by Stanhope [53]). On the one hand, fructose consumption was indeed suggested to be beneficial in the context of diabetes since, unlike

glucose, it does not stimulate insulin secretion from pancreatic beta cells, and it has been shown to reduce glycated hemoglobin [54]. On the other hand, epidemiological and preclinical data links chronic fructose intake to non-alcoholic fatty liver disease [55–57], hypertriglyceridemia [58], and even insulin resistance [59–61]. The ability of fructose to induce insulin resistance and other features of metabolic syndrome in experimental animals does not seem to require excessive energy intake [13,62], suggesting the existence of molecular mechanisms responsible for its metabolic effects beyond body weight gain.

The absorption and metabolism of fructose differ from those of glucose. Fructose is transported across the apical membrane of the intestinal epithelial cells by GLUT5 [63]. After a meal, most of the fructose is not metabolized in the intestine, but rather passes via the portal vein to the liver. There, it is rapidly converted to fructose 1phosphate by fructokinase (ketohexokinase, KHK) and then into the trioses glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate and dihydroxyacetone to enter glycolysis [64]. Unlike glucose, fructose bypasses the major rate-limiting step of glycolysis (phosphofructokinase) and stimulates an accelerated *de novo* fatty acid synthesis. Thus, excessive fructose consumption may contribute both to hepatic steatosis and to increased circulating triglyceride levels in the form of very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) [64]. The metabolism of large loads of fructose has been associated with hepatotoxicity [65,66]. Furthermore, some in vivo studies have linked the intake of large amounts of fructose to intestinal dysfunction [62,67], raising the possibility that the metabolism of fructose in the intestinal mucosa contributes to metabolic endotoxemia and to the associated chronic low-grade inflammation in the context of the Western diet.

#### References

1. Wang, H.; Naghavi, M.; Allen, C.; Barber, R.M.; Carter, A.; Casey, D.C.; Charlson, F.J.; Chen, A.Z.; Coates, M.M.; Coggeshall, M.; et al. Global, regional, and national life expectancy, all-cause mortality, and cause-specific mortality for 249 causes of death, 1980–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. Lancet 2016, 388, 1459–1544.

- 2. Forouzanfar, M.H.; Afshin, A.; Alexander, L.T.; Biryukov, S.; Brauer, M.; Cercy, K.; Charlson, F.J.; Cohen, A.J.; Dandona, L.; Estep, K.; et al. Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 79 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *Lancet* **2016**, *388*, 1659–1724.
- 3. Monteiro, C.A.; Moubarac, J.C.; Cannon, G.; Ng, S.W.; Popkin, B. Ultra-processed products are becoming dominant in the global food system. *Obes. Rev.* **2013**, *14*, 21–28.
- 4. Martínez Steele, E.; Raubenheimer, D.; Simpson, S.J.; Baraldi, L.G.; Monteiro, C.A. Ultra-processed foods, protein leverage and energy intake in the USA. *Public Health Nutr.* **2018**, *21*, 114–124.
- 5. Monteiro, C.A.; Cannon, G.; Lawrence, M.; Louzada, C.M.L.; Pereira Machado, P. *Ultraprocessed foods, diet quality, and health using the NOVA classification system*; FAO, 2019; ISBN 978-92-5-131701-3.
- 6. Baker, P.; Friel, S. Food systems transformations, ultra-processed food markets and the nutrition transition in Asia. *Global. Health* **2016**, *12*, 80.
- Allaire, J.M.; Crowley, S.M.; Law, H.T.; Chang, S.Y.; Ko, H.J.; Vallance, B.A. The Intestinal Epithelium: Central Coordinator of Mucosal Immunity. *Trends Immunol.* 2018, 39, 677–696.
- 8. Chistiakov, D.A.; Bobryshev, Y. V.; Kozarov, E.; Sobenin, I.A.; Orekhov, A.N. Intestinal mucosal tolerance and impact of gut microbiota to mucosal tolerance. *Front. Microbiol.* **2014**, *5*, 781.
- 9. Riaz Rajoka, M.S.; Shi, J.; Mehwish, H.M.; Zhu, J.; Li, Q.; Shao, D.; Huang, Q.; Yang, H. Interaction between diet composition and gut microbiota and its impact on gastrointestinal tract health. *Food Sci. Hum. Wellness* **2017**, *6*, 121–130.
- 10. Ulluwishewa, D.; Anderson, R.C.; McNabb, W.C.; Moughan, P.J.; Wells, J.M.; Roy, N.C. Regulation of Tight Junction Permeability by Intestinal Bacteria and Dietary Components. *J. Nutr.* **2011**, *141*, 769–776.
- 11. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Blay, M.; Terra, X. Effects of flavonoids on intestinal inflammation, barrier integrity and changes in gut microbiota during diet-induced obesity. *Nutr. Res. Rev.* **2016**, *29*, 234–248.
- 12. Bergheim, I.; Weber, S.; Vos, M.; Krämer, S.; Volynets, V.; Kaserouni, S.; McClain, C.J.; Bischoff, S.C. Antibiotics protect against fructose-induced hepatic lipid accumulation in mice: Role of endotoxin. *J. Hepatol.* **2008**, *48*, 983–992.
- 13. Kavanagh, K.; Wylie, A.T.; Tucker, K.L.; Hamp, T.J.; Gharaibeh, R.Z.; Fodor, A.A.; Cullen, J.M. Dietary fructose induces endotoxemia and hepatic injury in calorically controlled primates. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2013**, *98*, 349–357.

- 14. Do, M.H.; Lee, E.; Oh, M.J.; Kim, Y.; Park, H.Y. High-glucose or-fructose diet cause changes of the gut microbiota and metabolic disorders in mice without body weight change. *Nutrients* **2018**, *10*, E761.
- 15. Cani, P.D.; Osto, M.; Geurts, L.; Everard, A. Involvement of gut microbiota in the development of low-grade inflammation and type 2 diabetes associated with obesity. *Gut Microbes* **2012**, *3*, 279–88.
- 16. Ding, S.; Lund, P.K. Role of intestinal inflammation as an early event in obesity and insulin resistance. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* **2011**, *14*, 328–333.
- 17. Bosi, E.; Molteni, L.; Radaelli, M.G.; Folini, L.; Fermo, I.; Bazzigaluppi, E.; Piemonti, L.; Pastore, M.R.; Paroni, R. Increased intestinal permeability precedes clinical onset of type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia* **2006**, *49*, 2824–2827.
- 18. Irvine, E.J.; Marshall, J.K. Increased intestinal permeability precedes the onset of Crohn's disease in a subject with familial risk. *Gastroenterology* **2000**, *119*, 1740–1744.
- 19. Bischoff, S.C.; Barbara, G.; Buurman, W.; Ockhuizen, T.; Schulzke, J.D.; Serino, M.; Tilg, H.; Watson, A.; Wells, J.M. Intestinal permeability a new target for disease prevention and therapy. *BMC Gastroenterol.* **2014**, *14*, 189.
- 20. Winer, D.A.; Winer, S.; Dranse, H.J.; Lam, T.K.T. Immunologic impact of the intestine in metabolic disease. *J. Clin. Invest.* **2017**, *127*, 33–42.
- 21. Balunas, M.J.; Kinghorn, A.D. Drug discovery from medicinal plants. *Life Sci.* **2005**, 78, 431–441.
- 22. He, F.; Pan, Q.H.; Shi, Y.; Duan, C.Q. Biosynthesis and genetic regulation of proanthocyanidins in plants. *Molecules* **2008**, *13*, 2674–2703.
- 23. Smeriglio, A.; Barreca, D.; Bellocco, E.; Trombetta, D. Proanthocyanidins and hydrolysable tannins: occurrence, dietary intake and pharmacological effects. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **2017**, *174*, 1244–1262.
- 24. Bladé, C.; Aragonès, G.; Arola-Arnal, A.; Muguerza, B.; Bravo, F.I.; Salvadó, M.J.; Arola, L.; Suárez, M. Proanthocyanidins in health and disease. *BioFactors* **2016**, *42*, 5–12.
- 25. Rauf, A.; Imran, M.; Abu-Izneid, T.; Iahtisham-Ul-Haq; Patel, S.; Pan, X.; Naz, S.; Sanches Silva, A.; Saeed, F.; Rasul Suleria, H.A. Proanthocyanidins: A comprehensive review. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* **2019**, *116*, 108999.
- 26. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Arola, L.; Blay, M.; Terra, X. Chronic supplementation with dietary proanthocyanidins protects from diet-induced intestinal alterations in obese rats. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2017**, *61*, 1601039.
- 27. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Blay, M.; Terra, X. The coadministration of proanthocyanidins and an obesogenic diet prevents the increase in intestinal permeability and metabolic endotoxemia derived to the diet. *J. Nutr.*

*Biochem.* **2018**, *62*, 35–42.

- Li, X.; Yang, X.; Cai, Y.; Qin, H.; Wang, L.; Wang, Y.; Huang, Y.; Wang, X.; Yan, S.; Wang, L.; et al. Proanthocyanidins from Grape Seeds Modulate the NF-κB Signal Transduction Pathways in Rats with TNBS-Induced Ulcerative Colitis. *Molecules* 2011, *16*, 6721–6731.
- 29. Wang, Y.-H.; Ge, B.; Yang, X.-L.; Zhai, J.; Yang, L.-N.; Wang, X.-X.; Liu, X.; Shi, J.-C.; Wu, Y.-J. Proanthocyanidins from grape seeds modulates the nuclear factor-kappa B signal transduction pathways in rats with TNBS-induced recurrent ulcerative colitis. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* **2011**, *11*, 1620–1627.
- Gil-Cardoso, K.; Comitato, R.; Ginés, I.; Ardévol, A.; Pinent, M.; Virgili, F.; Terra, X.; Blay, M. Protective Effect of Proanthocyanidins in a Rat Model of Mild Intestinal Inflammation and Impaired Intestinal Permeability Induced by LPS. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 2019, *63*, 1800720.
- 31. Monteiro, C.A.; Cannon, G.; Moubarac, J.C.; Levy, R.B.; Louzada, M.L.C.; Jaime, P.C. The UN Decade of Nutrition, the NOVA food classification and the trouble with ultraprocessing. *Public Health Nutr.* **2018**, *21*, 5–17.
- 32. Drewnowski, A.; Darmon, N. The Economics of Obesity: Dietary Energy Density and Energy Cost. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2005**, *82*, 265S-273S.
- 33. Drewnowski, A.; Popkin, B.M. The Nutrition Transition: New Trends in the Global Diet. *Nutr. Rev.* **1997**, *55*, 31–43.
- 34. Statovci, D.; Aguilera, M.; MacSharry, J.; Melgar, S. The impact of western diet and nutrients on the microbiota and immune response at mucosal interfaces. *Front. Immunol.* **2017**, *8*.
- 35. Malinowska, A.M.; Mlodzik-Czyzewska, M.A.; Chmurzynska, A. Dietary patterns associated with obesity and overweight: When should misreporters be included in analysis? *Nutrition* **2020**, *70*, 110605.
- 36. Rodríguez-Monforte, M.; Sánchez, E.; Barrio, F.; Costa, B.; Flores-Mateo, G. Metabolic syndrome and dietary patterns: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Eur. J. Nutr.* **2017**, *56*, 925–947.
- 37. Sampey, B.P.; Vanhoose, A.M.; Winfield, H.M.; Freemerman, A.J.; Muehlbauer, M.J.; Fueger, P.T.; Newgard, C.B.; Makowski, L. Cafeteria diet is a robust model of human metabolic syndrome with liver and adipose inflammation: comparison to high-fat diet. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. **2011**, *19*, 1109–17.
- Ginés, I.; Gil-Cardoso, K.; Serrano, J.; Casanova-Martí, À.; Blay, Mt.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Terra, X. Effects of an Intermittent Grape-Seed Proanthocyanidin (GSPE) Treatment on a Cafeteria Diet Obesogenic Challenge in Rats. *Nutrients* 2018, 10, 315.
- 39. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Terra, X.; Blay, M. A cafeteria diet

triggers intestinal inflammation and oxidative stress in obese rats. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2017**, *117*, 218–229.

- 40. Del Bas, J.M.; Guirro, M.; Boqué, N.; Cereto, A.; Ras, R.; Crescenti, A.; Caimari, A.; Canela, N.; Arola, L. Alterations in gut microbiota associated with a cafeteria diet and the physiological consequences in the host. *Int. J. Obes.* **2018**, *42*, 746–754.
- 41. Murphy, E.A.; Velazquez, K.T.; Herbert, K.M. Influence of high-fat diet on gut microbiota: A driving force for chronic disease risk. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* **2015**, *18*, 515–520.
- 42. Duan, Y.; Zeng, L.; Zheng, C.; Song, B.; Li, F.; Kong, X.; Xu, K. Inflammatory links between high fat diets and diseases. *Front. Immunol.* **2018**, *9*, 2649.
- 43. Dehghan, M.; Mente, A.; Zhang, X.; Swaminathan, S.; Li, W.; Mohan, V.; Iqbal, R.; Kumar, R.; Wentzel-Viljoen, E.; Rosengren, A.; et al. Associations of fats and carbohydrate intake with cardiovascular disease and mortality in 18 countries from five continents (PURE): a prospective cohort study. *Lancet* **2017**, *390*, 2050–2062.
- 44. Faruque, S.; Tong, J.; Lacmanovic, V.; Agbonghae, C.; Minaya, D.M.; Czaja, K. The Dose Makes the Poison: Sugar and Obesity in the United States a Review. *Polish J. Food Nutr. Sci.* **2019**, *69*, 219.
- 45. Drewnowski, A. The real contribution of added sugars and fats to obesity. *Epidemiol. Rev.* **2007**, *29*, 160–171.
- 46. Liu, A.G.; Ford, N.A.; Hu, F.B.; Zelman, K.M.; Mozaffarian, D.; Kris-Etherton, P.M. A healthy approach to dietary fats: Understanding the science and taking action to reduce consumer confusion. *Nutr. J.* **2017**, *16*.
- 47. Julibert, A.; Bibiloni, M.D.M.; Bouzas, C.; Martínez-González, M.Á.; Salas-Salvadó, J.; Corella, D.; Zomeño, M.D.; Romaguera, D.; Vioque, J.; Alonso-Gómez, Á.M.; et al. Total and subtypes of dietary fat intake and its association with components of the metabolic syndrome in a mediterranean population at high cardiovascular risk. *Nutrients* **2019**, *11*.
- 48. Alpers, D.H. CARBOHYDRATES | Digestion, Absorption, and Metabolism. In *Encyclopedia of Food Sciences and Nutrition*; Academic Press, 2003; pp. 881–887.
- 49. Vos, M.B.; Kimmons, J.E.; Gillespie, C.; Welsh, J.; Blank, H.M. Dietary fructose consumption among US children and adults: The Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey CME. *MedGenMed Medscape Gen. Med.* **2008**, *10*, 160.
- 50. Azaïs-Braesco, V.; Sluik, D.; Maillot, M.; Kok, F.; Moreno, L.A. A review of total & added sugar intakes and dietary sources in Europe. *Nutr. J.* **2017**, *16*, 6.
- 51. Bray, G.A.; Popkin, B.M. Dietary sugar and body weight: Have we reached a crisis in the epidemic of obesity and diabetes?: Health be damned! Pour on the sugar. *Diabetes Care* **2014**, *37*, 950–956.

- 52. Kahn, R.; Sievenpiper, J.L. Dietary sugar and body weight: Have we reached a crisis in the epidemic of obesity and diabetes? We have but the pox on sugar is overwrought and overworked. *Diabetes Care* **2014**, *37*, 957–962.
- 53. Stanhope, K.L. Sugar consumption, metabolic disease and obesity: The state of the controversy. *Crit. Rev. Clin. Lab. Sci.* **2016**, *53*, 52–67.
- 54. Livesey, G.; Taylor, R. Fructose consumption and consequences for glycation, plasma triacylglycerol, and body weight: Meta-analyses and meta-regression models of intervention studies. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2008**, *88*, 1419–1437.
- 55. Ouyang, X.; Cirillo, P.; Sautin, Y.; McCall, S.; Bruchette, J.L.; Diehl, A.M.; Johnson, R.J.; Abdelmalek, M.F. Fructose consumption as a risk factor for non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *J. Hepatol.* **2008**, *48*, 993–999.
- 56. Sellmann, C.; Priebs, J.; Landmann, M.; Degen, C.; Engstler, A.J.; Jin, C.J.; Gärttner, S.; Spruss, A.; Huber, O.; Bergheim, I. Diets rich in fructose, fat or fructose and fat alter intestinal barrier function and lead to the development of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease over time. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* **2015**, *26*, 1183–1192.
- 57. Jensen, T.; Abdelmalek, M.F.; Sullivan, S.; Nadeau, K.J.; Green, M.; Roncal, C.; Nakagawa, T.; Kuwabara, M.; Sato, Y.; Kang, D.H.; et al. Fructose and sugar: A major mediator of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *J. Hepatol.* **2018**, *68*, 1063–1075.
- 58. Busserolles, J.; Gueux, E.; Rock, E.; Demigné, C.; Mazur, A.; Rayssiguier, Y. Oligofructose Protects against the Hypertriglyceridemic and Pro-oxidative Effects of a High Fructose Diet in Rats. *J. Nutr.* **2003**, *133*, 1903–1908.
- 59. Stanhope, K.L.; Schwarz, J.M.; Keim, N.L.; Griffen, S.C.; Bremer, A.A.; Graham, J.L.; Hatcher, B.; Cox, C.L.; Dyachenko, A.; Zhang, W.; et al. Consuming fructosesweetened, not glucose-sweetened, beverages increases visceral adiposity and lipids and decreases insulin sensitivity in overweight/obese humans. *J. Clin. Invest.* 2009, *119*, 1322–1334.
- 60. Malik, V.S.; Popkin, B.M.; Bray, G.A.; Després, J.P.; Willett, W.C.; Hu, F.B. Sugarsweetened beverages and risk of metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes: A metaanalysis. *Diabetes Care* **2010**, *33*, 2477–2483.
- 61. Baena, M.; Sangüesa, G.; Dávalos, A.; Latasa, M.J.; Sala-Vila, A.; Sánchez, R.M.; Roglans, N.; Laguna, J.C.; Alegret, M. Fructose, but not glucose, impairs insulin signaling in the three major insulin-sensitive tissues. *Sci. Rep.* **2016**, *6*, 1–15.
- 62. Johnson, R.J.; Rivard, C.; Lanaspa, M.A.; Otabachian-Smith, S.; Ishimoto, T.; Cicerchi, C.; Cheeke, P.R.; McIntosh, B.; Hess, T. Fructokinase, Fructans, Intestinal Permeability, and Metabolic Syndrome: An Equine Connection? *J. Equine Vet. Sci.* **2013**, *33*, 120–126.
- 63. Burant, C.F.; Takeda, J.; Brot-Laroche, E.; Bell, G. Fructose transporter in human spermatozoa and small intestine is GLUT5. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1992**, *267*, 14523–14526.

- 64. Hannou, S.A.; Haslam, D.E.; McKeown, N.M.; Herman, M.A. Fructose metabolism and metabolic disease. *J. Clin. Invest.* **2018**, *128*, 545–555.
- 65. Jang, C.; Hui, S.; Lu, W.; Cowan, A.J.; Morscher, R.J.; Lee, G.; Liu, W.; Tesz, G.J.; Birnbaum, M.J.; Rabinowitz, J.D. The Small Intestine Converts Dietary Fructose into Glucose and Organic Acids. *Cell Metab.* **2018**, *27*, 351-361.e3.
- 66. Puri, B.K.; Kingston, M.C.; Monro, J.A. Fructose-associated hepatotoxicity indexed by the lactate dehydrogenase isoenzyme LDH-5. *Med. Hypotheses* **2019**, *124*, 40–41.
- 67. Kawabata, K.; Kanmura, S.; Morinaga, Y.; Tanaka, A.; Makino, T.; Fujita, T.; Arima, S.; Sasaki, F.; Nasu, Y.; Tanoue, S.; et al. A high-fructose diet induces epithelial barrier dysfunction and exacerbates the severity of dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* **2019**, *43*, 1487–1496.

# 4. PACs for Intestinal Dysfunction: An Approach for Disease Prevention and Treatment

**Manuscript 1**, presented below, is a comprehensive literature review comprising a series of relevant topics that can be grouped into two main subjects.

The first subject includes basic notions of intestinal physiology, the definition of intestinal dysfunction and the role of environmental factors in its pathophysiology. This subject is covered in the following sections of the manuscript:

- The Intestinal Barrier
- Intestinal Inflammatory Response: The Critical Role of TLRs and NF-κB
- Cytokine-Induced Regulation of Tight Junctions
- Intestinal Dysfunction: Pathophysiological Basis and Environmental Triggers

The second subject focuses on the generalities of PACs, the accumulated evidence of their effects on intestinal dysfunction with an emphasis on grape-seed PAC extract (GSPE) and the mechanisms underlying the therapeutic properties of these bioactive compounds on intestinal health. This subject is covered in the following sections of the manuscript:

- PACs: Chemical Structure, Occurrence, and Intake
- The Fate of PACs after Ingestion
- Studies on the Benefits of PACs for Intestinal Dysfunction
- Biochemical and Molecular Mechanisms Underlying the Barrier Protective and Anti-Inflammatory Properties of PACs in the Intestine



#### Published in Nutrients (MDPI)

January 2020; 12(1): 130. DOI: 10.3390/nu12010130
## Health-Promoting Properties of Proanthocyanidins for Intestinal Dysfunction

By Carlos González-Quilen, Esther Rodríguez-Gallego, Raúl Beltrán-Debón, Montserrat Pinent, Anna Ardévol, M Teresa Blay and Ximena Terra

MoBioFood Research Group, Departament de Bioquímica i Biotecnologia, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, 43007 Tarragona, Spain

**Abstract:** The intestinal barrier is constantly exposed to potentially harmful environmental factors, including food components and bacterial endotoxins. When intestinal barrier function and immune homeostasis are compromised (intestinal dysfunction), inflammatory conditions may develop and impact overall health. Evidence from experimental animal and cell culture studies suggests that exposure of intestinal mucosa to proanthocyanidin (PAC)-rich plant products, such as grape seeds, may contribute to maintaining the barrier function and to ameliorating the pathological inflammation present in diet-induced obesity and inflammatory bowel disease. In this review, we aim to update the current knowledge on the bioactivity of PACs in experimental models of intestinal dysfunction and in humans, and to provide insights into the underlying biochemical and molecular mechanisms.

**Keywords**: gut; permeability; inflammation; metabolic endotoxemia; obesity; IBD; flavonoid; flavan-3-ol; condensed tannin; procyanidin

#### 1. Introduction

The primary function of the intestinal tract is to digest food components and absorb nutrients and water from the lumen to the systemic circulation. The intestine is also a physical barrier that is in contact with the environment. As a result, the intestinal epithelium is constantly exposed to potentially pathogenic microorganisms, toxins, and harmful components of the diet. When there are disturbances in the barrier function and mucosal immune homeostasis, the influx of intestine luminal content triggers an exaggerated mucosal immune response [1]. Ultimately, chronic exposition to these detrimental environmental stimuli may lead to the development of local and systemic inflammatory conditions [2,3].

Natural products have been recognized as a source of therapeutic agents for many years [4]. Some plant-derived phenolic compounds show promising antiinflammatory effects and have been associated with the prevention of certain chronic diseases [5]. Proanthocyanidins (PACs), also known as condensed tannins, are oligo- and polymeric end products of the flavonoid biosynthesis pathway in plants [6]. There has been extensive laboratory research into the effects of both pure PAC molecules and PAC-rich extracts on overall health. These phytochemicals show a wide range of physiological activities [7], including anti-inflammatory and barrier protective effects in the intestine [8–10], which may be interesting in the context of diet-induced obesity and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD).

We have reported previously that grape-seed PACs and other flavonoids have beneficial effects on inflammation [11–13] and protect the intestine against alterations associated with diet-induced obesity in rats [8,9,14,15]. In addition, research conducted during the last decade with cell culture and animal models has made significant progress in determining the underlying mechanism of the health promoting properties of PACs in the gastrointestinal tract and peripheral tissues.

#### 2. The Intestinal Barrier

The intestinal epithelium is a single cell-layer responsible for separating underlying mucosal tissues from the environment and is the largest exposed surface area in the body [16]. As there is a prolific commensal microbial community in the intestinal lumen (intestinal microbiota), epithelial integrity plays a pivotal role in maintaining overall health [16,17]. The intestinal epithelium is integrated

by several cell types with specialized functions. The enterocytes are responsible for the absorptive function and constitute the most abundant epithelial cell lineage. The goblet cells are implicated in the synthesis of secretory mucin glycoproteins that form the mucus layer, with mucin 2 (MUC2) being the most prominent [18]. Other cellular types integrating the epithelium, microfold (M) [19], Paneth, and enteroendocrine cells are specialized in antigen sampling and presentation to dendritic cells, synthesis of antimicrobial peptides, and secretion of hormones, respectively.

The first strategy the host tissue has to maintain its homeostatic relationship with the intestinal microbiota is to minimize the physical interaction with microorganisms, thus limiting microbial translocation and physiological inflammation [20,21]. The thick mucus layer secreted by goblet cells represents a primary defense line against environmental insults [18]. In addition, the enterocytes are joined together forming an intricately and well-regulated barrier sustained by intercellular junctions linked to the cell cytoskeleton, such as tight junctions (TJs), desmosomes, and adherent junctions. TJs partially seal the paracellular space and prevent passive transport of large molecules, including microbial components and other potentially proinflammatory agents [1,22]. The main protein components of TJs are claudins, occludins, and junction adhesion molecules (JAMs), which are associated with peripheral proteins such as zonula occludens (ZOs) [22].

#### 3. Intestinal Inflammatory Response: The Critical Role of TLRs and NF-кВ

Beneath the intestinal epithelium, a thin mucosal layer of connective tissue known as the lamina propria hosts the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT), which is responsible for the intestinal immunological response to microbial and nonmicrobial antigens [23]. GALT is distributed along the intestinal tract and includes aggregates of lymphoid cells forming scattered structures such as Peyer's patches, which occur mainly in the ileum [23,24]. In the follicle-associated epithelium (FAE), M cells actively internalize, process, and present microbial and non-microbial antigens taken from the lumen [19]. M cells also contribute to the induction of antigen-specific immunoglobulin A (IgA), the dominant isotype in mucosal tissues [19].

The constant exposure of the intestine epithelium to the microbiota generates the need for a homeostatic balance between tolerance and the immune response [21]. Thus, intestinal immune cells exert protective immunity against pathogens while they show a limited responsiveness to commensal bacteria and food derived antigens. Failure to maintain this balance may lead to inflammatory conditions [25]. Inflammation is a normal biological response of the immune system triggered by detrimental stimuli or conditions, such as infections and tissue damage. The inflammatory response is the first of several overlapping processes that lead to tissue repair and regeneration [26]. During the inflammatory response, cell signaling pathways are activated to regulate the concentration of proinflammatory mediators in the affected tissue and the recruitment of immune cells from the circulation [27].

The innate immune response is initiated by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) recognizing microbial antigens known as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). Among others, the PRRs include Toll-like receptors (TLRs) located on the cell membrane and nucleotide binding oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs) present in the cytoplasm. PRRs are the primary component of innate immunity responsible for preventing systemic dissemination of pathogens by activating proinflammatory intracellular signaling pathways [28]. In addition, TLRs can recognize multiple endogenous molecules derived from damaged tissue (damage-associated molecular patterns or DAMPs) such as peptides, lipids, glycans, and nucleic acids [29]. PRR expression is not uniformly distributed along the proximal/distal axis of the intestinal tract [30,31] or on the crypt/villus axis of the epithelium [30]. In fact, there is a significantly higher expression of TLRs in the

distal segments of the intestine (ileum and colon) where the microbial population is enriched [30,31]. Moreover, a higher PRR expression is found along the crypt/villus axis of the epithelium in both villus and lamina propria [30].

Activation of TLRs (mainly TLR4/myeloid differentiation 2 (MD-2) complex) by bacterial lipopolysaccharides (LPS), induces recruitment and phosphorylation of multiple intracellular protein complexes, leading to the stimulation of the nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B-cell (NF-κB) signaling [32]. NF-κB is a family of inducible transcription factors responsible for expression of numerous genes implicated in the innate immune response, including cytokines such as the tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), chemokines, adhesion molecules (CAMs), and inducible enzymes such as the nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) and cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2) [33]. Proteins p50 (NF-κB1), p52 (NF-κB2), RelA (p65), RelB, and c-Rel are present in the cytosol as inactive homo- or heterodimers bound by a family of inhibitory proteins known as inhibitors of  $\kappa B$  (I $\kappa B$ ), of which I $\kappa B\alpha$  is the most studied member. NF-kB is activated by both canonical signaling, associated with the innate immune response, and non-canonical signaling, implicated in maturation, survival, and homeostasis of B cells [34]. In the canonical signaling pathway, TLR ligands activate the IkB kinase (IKK) complex. IKK induces site-specific phosphorylation of IkB that leads to its ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation, releasing NF-kB dimers, predominantly p50/RelA complex. Subsequent activation of this complex by post-translational modifications promotes its translocation to the nucleus where transcription of target genes is induced [33]. Activation and differentiation of naive T cells are processes of adaptive immunity also influenced by gene programs regulated by NF- $\kappa$ B [35,36]. Depending on the cytokines present during activation, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells differentiate in multiple subsets of T helper cells with different cytokine profiles. Th1 cells play a role in the immune response against intracellular pathogens, essentially through the production of interferon (IFN)- $\gamma$ . Th2 cells are involved in the response to extracellular pathogens and allergic reactions and are producers of interleukin

(IL)-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-9, IL-13, and IL-25 [35]. Th17 cells primarily express IL-17 and are also related to the immune response against extracellular pathogens [36].

TLRs are also required for production of IgA, which in turn contributes to determining the microbiota composition and maintenance of the noninflammatory host-microbial relationship [37]. Furthermore, TLR2 signaling is associated with the regulation of TLR3/4-mediated production of proinflammatory Th1 cytokines through anti-inflammatory IL-10 induction [38]. TLR2 activation also improves the barrier function by means of protein kinase C-mediated sorting and assembly of ZO-1 [39].

#### 4. Cytokine-Induced Regulation of Tight Junctions

TJ protein complexes are not rigid but rather exhibit dynamic elements that ultimately modulate the epithelial paracellular permeability [40]. Phosphorylation of the myosin II regulatory light chain in the perijunctional actomyosin ring by myosin light chain kinase (MLCK), produces a transient TJ opening that enhances paracellular flux [40]. MLCK activation is also implicated in the redistribution of ZO-1 [41] and caveolin-1-dependent occludin endocytosis [42]. TJ protein expression and MLCK activation are both regulated by multiple signaling molecules, including cytokines produced as a result of the activation of NF-KB. These regulatory processes are complex and also involve the activation of multiple kinase enzymes downstream, such as mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs), phosphoinositide-3-kinases (PI3Ks), and monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) [43]. For example, IFN-y down-regulates expression of ZO-1 and occludin in an AMPK-dependent pathway [44]. The activation of MLCK by interleukin IL-1β is mediated by p38 MAPK-dependent induction of the transcription factor ATF2, which binds to the MLCK promoter [45]. The activation of MLCK induced by TNF- $\alpha$ is mediated by extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK1/2), which phosphorylates and promotes nuclear translocation of the transcription factor ELK-1 [46]. TNF- $\alpha$  also induces expression of the pore-forming claudin-2 through

the upregulation of the transcription factor CDX2 mediated by PI3K/protein kinase B (Akt) signaling [47].

# 5. Intestinal Dysfunction: Pathophysiological Basis and Environmental Triggers

We define intestinal dysfunction as the state of increased intestinal permeability and pathological inflammation seen in diet-induced obesity and IBD (ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease) [48]. Evidence suggests that changes in the epithelial barrier function and inflammation are associated with metabolic disorders and alterations in the regulation of body weight [49–51]. This pathological inflammation is characterized by increased levels of proinflammatory mediators and enhanced infiltration of immune cells into the intestinal tissues ([52,53] and **Figure 1**). Regardless of the specific triggering events, intestinal inflammatory states share common immunological processes. However, intestinal dysfunction associated with IBD is significantly more severe than in diet-induced obesity [48]. Diet-induced obesity and Crohn's disease lead to a Th1 response with increased IFN-γ production and reduced Th17 response [53,54], while ulcerate colitis has often been considered a Th2-mediated disease [53].

Multiple environmental factors have been identified as potential triggers of intestinal inflammatory conditions, including Western dietary habits [55]. It has been described that saturated fats play a direct role in inflammatory signaling. Saturated fatty acids (SFA) such as lauric (C12:0) and palmitic (C16:0) directly induce NF-κB activation, acting as non-microbial TLR2 and TLR4 agonists in macrophages [56]. Data suggest that activation of TLRs by SFA is mediated by TLR dimerization and recruitment into lipid rafts [57]. We have reported mild intestinal inflammation and increased permeability in rats feeding on a cafeteria diet consisting of high-saturated fat/high-refined sugar food products [58]. This enhanced permeability has been shown to favor bacterial LPS and other potentially

proinflammatory molecules entering the systemic circulation, which is known as metabolic endotoxemia [15].



**Figure 1.** Dysfunctional intestinal mucosal. Chronic exposition to detrimental environmental stimuli, including several food components, may lead to dysbiosis, mucus layer depletion, and breakdown of the epithelial barrier. Constitutive stimulation of NF- $\kappa$ B signaling by bacterial endotoxins induce overproduction of proinflammatory cytokines and reactive species of oxygen and nitrogen, feeding back the epithelial barrier disruption and immune cell infiltration.

Diet plays an important role in the composition of intestine microbiota, promoting or inhibiting growth of microorganisms [59]. Alterations in the composition and metabolism of the intestinal microbiota (dysbiosis) have also been associated with the consumption of high-saturated fat diets in rodents and humans [60,61]. In fact, metagenomic analysis of the intestinal microbiome in Western populations has shown a reduction not only of microbial diversity but also of functional potential [62].

Dysbiosis is linked to obesity-associated intestinal inflammation, although the "egg or hen" question related to the cause-effect relationship is not answered yet [63]. High-fat intake in rodents often decreases overall diversity of microbiota and the abundance of Bacteroidetes, and increases the relative abundance of Firmicutes [64,65]. Several human studies have described similar associations [66,67], but the importance of the ratio *Firmicutes* to *Bacteroidetes* remains controversial [68,69], and some authors state that the experimental results are not sufficiently consistent [70]. Interestingly, the existence of a colitogenic microbiota was demonstrated in T-bet-/-  $\times$  RAG2-/- deficient mice whose spontaneous ulcerative colitis was horizontally transmissible to wild-type individuals when co-housed [71]. Although mechanisms by which dysbiosis trigger intestinal inflammation are not fully understood, it is known that they involve the loss of immune tolerance due to local immune homeostasis disruption and continuous abnormal activation of TLRs [72]. Overactivation of NF-κB leads to a chronic proinflammatory cytokine release and immune cell infiltration [33]. Furthermore, as stated before, proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  decrease barrier integrity, feeding back the dysfunctional state. The association of NF-kB signaling with intestinal inflammation-related pathologies is supported by the NF-κB-inhibiting properties of drugs used in the treatment of IBD, such as aminosalicylates [73,74]. Given the importance of NF-kB in inflammation-associated pathologies, it is relevant to study dietary components that negatively regulate the NF-kB signaling pathway, such as PACs and other flavonoids [9].

#### 6. PACs: Chemical Structure, Occurrence, and Intake

PACs consist of flavan-3-ol subunits with a degree of polymerization (DP) equal to or greater than 2, mainly linked by  $(4 \rightarrow 8)$  or  $(4 \rightarrow 6)$  carbon-carbon bonds (B-

type PACs) [75]. In some botanical sources an additional  $(2 \rightarrow 7)$  ether-linkage also occurs (A-type PACs) [76] (**Figure 2**).



**Figure 2.** Chemical structures of proanthocyanidins (PACs). Flavan-3-ol monomers differ based on the hydroxylation pattern and their cis- or trans- configuration. Dimers A1/A2 and B1/B2 are shown as example of A- and B-type PACs, respectively.

Depending on the type of monomers, PACs can be classified into procyanidins, prodelphinidins, and propelargonidins. The most abundant group, procyanidins, consists exclusively of (+)-catechin and (–)-epicatechin monomers [77]. Prodelphinidins and propelargonidins are composed of (–)-gallocatechin/(–)-epigallocatechin and (+)-afzelechin/(–)-epiafzelechin monomers, respectively [75], and have a more limited distribution.

Dietary assessment studies have shown that PACs, especially procyanidins, are among the most abundant polyphenols in the human diet [6], as they are present in a variety of botanical sources and plant food products such as tea, fruits, nuts, cacao products, legumes, and cereal grains. However, PAC intake varies widely between geographical regions and cultures and is greatly dependent on eating habits, lifestyle behaviors, and socioeconomic status [78]. The daily PAC (dimers to polymers) intakes in adult populations from Korea, the U.S., Mexico, and EU were estimated as 71[79], 73 [78], 103 [80], and 123–180 mg [81,82], respectively, but intakes up to 230 mg d<sup>-1</sup> have been reported in some regions of Spain and Norway [83].

#### 7. The Fate of PACs after Ingestion

Flavan-3-ols are remarkably stable during gastric transit in humans [84]. Monomers such as (+)-catechin and (–)-epicatechin are readily absorbed in the upper sections of the small intestine [85,86], recognized as xenobiotics and then subjected to an extensive phase II metabolism that generates glucuronidated, sulfated, and methylated conjugates [87]. Flavan-3-ol monomers and their conjugated metabolites reach peak plasma concentration 1–4 h after flavan-3-ol-rich food consumption [88–90]. Studies conducted in cultivated epithelial monolayers [91–93], rats [94,95], and humans [90,96] indicate that PAC absorption is conversely more limited and is highly dependent on DP, and that the permeation of larger oligomers (DP > 5) and polymers is negligible. No PAC transporter has been identified in the enterocyte membrane in the small intestine. Thus, dimers to tetramers are passively transported across the intestinal epithelium essentially by paracellular diffusion. Although transcellular passive diffusion is not likely to occur due to the hydrophilic nature of PACs conferred by the multiple hydroxyl groups, uptake might be possible by endocytic mechanisms [92].

In humans, a study assessed the contribution of the ingested cocoa flavan-3-ols and procyanidins to the systemic pool, and found that the plasma (–)-epicatechin came

from the orally administered cocoa (–)-epicatechin and not from their oligomers or polymers [97]. This is in agreement with evidence obtained with rats that suggests that PACs from different sources do not depolymerize to monomers after ingestion [98,99]. Stalmach et al. [86] conducted a study with ileostomized patients who were administered green tea, and found 70% of the ingested flavan-3-ol in the ileal fluid after 24 h. Altogether, these findings suggest that substantial amounts of ingested flavan-3-ol monomers and PACs remain unabsorbed in the small intestine and reach the colon. There, they are efficiently transformed by the colonic microbiota into low molecular weight phenolic compounds that can be absorbed by colonocytes [87].

In vitro fermentation of purified procyanidin dimers with human fecal microbiota has shown to produce mainly 2-(3', 4'-dihydroxyphenyl) acetic acid and 5-(3', 4'dihydroxyphenyl)-y-valerolactone [100]. In agreement with this, a randomized cross-over study in healthy humans found that a great portion of the ingested (-)-epicatechin and procyanidin B1 was metabolized by the colonic microbiota to produce phenyl-y-valerolactones as the major microbial metabolites [90]. In this study, microbial degradation of larger procyanidins was substantially lower, possibly to the inhibition of digesting enzymes or to the antibacterial properties exhibited by these compounds. Other human studies analyzing the bioavailability of flavan-3-ols reported high levels of phenyl-y-valerolactones in the circulation and urinary excretion after ingestion of a red grape pomace drink [101] and apple juice [102]. In the colonocytes and hepatocytes, these microbial products undergo further metabolism by phase II enzymes to produce conjugated derivatives. Margalef et al. [103] analyzed the tissue distribution of metabolites derived from a grape-seed proanthocyanidin extract (GSPE) 2 h after ingestion by rats. These authors detected a few microbial metabolites (methyl conjugated phenols) at low concentrations in the colon tissue, while most phase II metabolites (glucuronidated and methyl-glucuronidated forms) were found in the kidneys and liver. In humans, the major contributors to the excretion of phenyl- $\gamma$ -valerolactones after ingestion of a red grape pomace drink, are sulphated and glucuronidated conjugates of 5-(3', 4'-dihydroxyphenyl)-γ-valerolactone [101].

#### 8. Studies on the Benefits of PACs for Intestinal Dysfunction

During the last decade, the beneficial properties of PACs for intestinal function have been reported in several studies performed with cell culture models and experimental animals (**Table 1** and **Table 2**). This experimental data indicate that PACs contribute to maintaining the intestinal barrier and improving mucosal inflammation induced by environmental insults. However, there are few studies on the effect of PACs on human intestinal health, although epidemiological studies connect PAC-rich food consumption with a lower risk of colorectal cancer [104].

*In vitro* models of inflammation have been fundamental in the comprehension of cellular mechanisms driving physiological effects of bioactive molecules. Studies on intestinal dysfunction have employed human colon carcinoma cell lines, with Caco-2 being the most well-established and widely used model of the human intestine barrier ([105] and **Table 1**). Mucus producer [106], macrophages [107], and B cell lines [108] have been employed in co-culture systems to explore the interaction between cell populations.

Although there is a strong trend in the industry towards replacing animal experiments with human cell-culture based models [109,110], there are no *in vitro* models of the human intestine that replicate the complex interplay between cell types and the regulation of the barrier function by the mucosal innate and adaptive immunity. Therefore, most physiologically relevant data on intestinal dysfunction comes from the animal model. Most *in vivo* studies testing the effect of PAC supplementation on intestinal health have been performed in diet-induced obesity models and chemical-induced colitis models. The first resemble intestinal alterations seen in humans with metabolic syndrome [58]. The latter closely mimic histopathological features of human colitis and are frequently used to study the

pathophysiology of IBD and the effectiveness of novel therapeutic drugs [111]. Notably, PAC-rich grape-seed extracts (GSPE) are between the most studied botanical extracts, mainly by *in vivo* approaches in rodents (**Table 2**).

#### 8.1. Studies with Cell Culture Models

The data available on the interaction between PACs and permeability and inflammation markers in cell models of intestinal dysfunction are summarized in **Table 1**. Caco-2-based models have shown to be responsive to proinflammatory stimulation, producing a wide range of inflammatory mediators and increasing the paracellular permeability. Proinflammatory agents such as LPS, phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA), and cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ ) have been used in multiple studies testing the effect of PAC molecules and PAC-rich botanical extracts on inflamed Caco-2 cells [10,112–114]. Stimulated-Caco-2 cell monolayers incubated with PACs generally show a reduction in gene expression and secretion of TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6, and IL-8 [10,112,114,115], which is often linked to the downregulation of NF- $\kappa$ B signaling at different levels [10,114,116]. An increased expression of antioxidant enzymes, such as glutathione peroxidase (GPx), superoxidase dismutase (SOD), and hemeoxygenase 1 (HO-1), has also been reported [10].

When permeable support systems such as transwell or Ussing chamber (UCh) are used, alterations in barrier integrity and paracellular permeability of epithelial cell monolayers are evaluated by transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER), an electrophysiological parameter that measures ion conductance across the monolayer, and by the transepithelial transport of molecular markers such as Lucifer yellow (LY) and fluorescently-labelled dextrans (FD) [117,118]. Some *in vitro* studies have associated PACs with increased TEER and decreased transport of permeability markers in the context of barrier dysfunction [113,114,119]. The expression levels of TJ proteins (claudins, occludins, and ZOs) often correlate, but not always [106], with intestinal permeability and are also considered markers of epithelial integrity. Bitzer et al. [113] found that the dextran sodium sulphate (DSS)-induced loss of barrier function in Caco-2 cells was significantly inhibited by polymeric PACs of cocoa but not by oligomers. Moreover, a higher barrier protective activity was determined in PACs with DP  $\geq$ 7, which were able to reduce the detrimental effect of DSS in a dose-dependent fashion [113]. Effectiveness of procyanidin B2 ameliorating dextran sodium sulphate (DSS)-induced permeability alterations was examined using a Caco-2/HT29-MTX co-culture model [106]. Although procyanidin B2-incubated cells showed increased levels of the TJ proteins claudin-7, occludin, and ZO-1, these changes did not reduce TEER loss. Altogether, these results suggest that the ability of PACs to strengthen the intestinal barrier integrity depends on the degree of polymerization (DP).

Manuscript No. 1

<b>Table 1.</b> Interaction of PACs with permeability and inflammatory markers in cell culture models of intestinal dysfunction.
--

				Permeability	Out	tcomes	
Extract or Compound	Concentration	Time of Incubation	Cell line(s)	and/or Inflammatory Inductor	Permeability/ Integrity	Inflammation/ Oxidative Stress	Ref.
Apple procyanidins	13-50 μg mL <sup>-1</sup>	6 h	Caco-2	PMA (300 ng mL <sup>-1</sup> )	ND	↓ IL-8 release	[112]
Apple procyanidin dimer fraction	50-150 μg mL <sup>-1</sup>	24 h	Caco-2	LPS (50 µg mL-1)	↑ Occludin. ↑ ZO-1.	↓ NF-κB and TNF-α gene expression. ↑ GPx, SOD, HO-1.	[10]
Cranberry procyanidins	250 μg mL-1	Preincubation for 24 h	Caco-2/15 cells	Fe/Asc mixture (200 μM/2 mM) or LPS (200 μg mL <sup>-1</sup> ) for 6 h	ND	↓ PGE₂ accretion. ↓ COX-2 protein content. ↓ TNF-α and IL-6 protein content.	[115]
Hexameric procyanidins	20 µM	Preincubation for 30 min	Caco-2	TNF-α (10 ng mL-1) for 60 min	ND	↓ ΙκΒα phosphorylation. ↓ NF-κB p50 and RelA nuclear translocation. ↓ NF- <b>κ</b> B-DNA binding. ↓ iNOS mRNA and protein content ↓ ROS.	[116]
Nut polymeric-PAC fraction	4.8–12 (mg cyanidin equivalents mL <sup>-1</sup> )	Preincubation for 1 h followed by co-incubation for 24 h with the inflammation inductor	Caco-2	IL-1β (25 ng mL <sup>-1</sup> )	↑ TEER. ↓ FSA permeation.	↓ IL-6 and IL-8 release. ↓ IκBα phosphorylation. ↓ RelA nuclear translocation.	[114]

Manuscript No. 1

Table 1. (Continuation)

_				Permeability	Out	comes	
Extract or Compound	Concentration	Time of Incubation	Cell line(s)	and/or Inflammatory Inductor	Permeability/ Integrity	Inflammation/ Oxidative Stress	Ref.
Cocoa procyanidin		Preincubation for	Caco-2	DSS (2% w v <sup>-1</sup> ) for 48 h	ND	↓ IL-8 release.	
polymers 100 µ	100 μg mL <sup>-1</sup>	24 h	HT-29	TNF-α (5 ng mL <sup>-1</sup> ) for 6 h	↓ FD (4 kD) permeation	ND	[113]
Procyanidin B2	50 μΜ	Preincubation for 24 h, co- incubation with the inflammation inductor for a further 48h	Caco-2/HT29- MTX co-culture	LPS-activated Raw264.7 medium	≈ TEER. ↑ Claudin-7. ↑ Occludin. ↓ ZO-1.	ND	[106]
Various PAC-rich extracts (apple and avocado peel, cranberry and grape)	12.5–50 µg mL <sup>-1</sup>	24 h	Caco-2	p-Cresol (3.2 mM)	↑ TEER. ↓ FD (4 kD) permeation.	ND	[119]

FSA, fluorescein-5-(and-6)-sulfonic acid trisodium salt. ND, not determined.

			<b>TT</b> ' (			_	
Extract or Compound	Dose (Way of Administration)	Time of Administration	Animal Model	and/or Inflammatory Inductor	Permeability/ Integrity	Inflammation/ Oxidative Stress	Ref.
GSPE	5, 25 or 50 mg kg <sup>-1</sup> bw (daily oral gavage)	3 weeks (after 15 weeks of cafeteria diet)	Diet-induced obese Wistar rat	Long-term cafeteria diet (18 weeks)	<i>Ileum:</i> ↑ZO-1 gene expression.	<i>lleum:</i> ↓ IL-1β gene expression. ↓ iNOS gene expression. ↓ MPO activity. ↓ ROS.	[14]
GSPE	500 mg kg <sup>-1</sup> bw (daily oral gavage)	17 weeks every other week or 10 days (before cafeteria diet).	Diet-induced obese Wistar rat	Long-term cafeteria diet (17 weeks)	<ul> <li>↓ Plasma OVA</li> <li><i>Duodenum, ileum</i></li> <li>and colon:</li> <li>↑ TEER (ex vivo).</li> <li><i>Ileum:</i></li> <li>↑ Claudin-1 gene</li> <li>expression.</li> </ul>	<i>lleum:</i> ↓ MPO activity.	[8]
GSPE	100 or 500 mg kg <sup>.1</sup> bw (daily oral gavage)	2 weeks (after 15 weeks of cafeteria diet)	Diet-induced obese Wistar rat	Long-term cafeteria diet (17 weeks)	↓ Plasma OVA Ileum and colon: ↑ TEER (ex vivo). Ileum: ↑ Claudin-1 gene expression.	Duodenum and colon: ↓ TNF-α release (ex vivo). Ileum: ↓ MPO activity.	[15]
Pyracantha fortuneana fruit PAC-rich extract	0.4 or 1 g 100 g <sup>-1</sup> of dry feed weight (orally)	8 weeks (after second week of high-fat diet).	Diet-induced obese Sprague Dawley rat	High-fat diet (10 weeks)	↓ LMR. ↑ Occludin (segment not specified). ↑ ZO-1 (jejunum).	ND	[120]

**Table 2.** Interaction of PACs with permeability and inflammatory markers in animal models of intestinal dysfunction.

Manuscript No. 1

Table 2. (Continuation)

		mi c		Permeability		Outcomes	
Extract or Compound	Dose (Way of Administration)	ose (Way of Time of Animal Model and/or ministration) Administration Inflammatory Inductor	and/or Inflammatory Inductor	Permeability/ Integrity	Inflammation/ Oxidative Stress	Ref.	
GSPE	100, 200 or 400 mg kg <sup>-1</sup> bw (daily oral gavage)	7 days (after second TNBS- induced colitis)	Wistar rat with TNBS-induced recurrent ulcerative colitis	TNBS (ir. injection of 80 mg kg <sup>-1</sup> , 30 mg kg <sup>-1</sup> after 16 days)	ND	Colon: ↓ TNF-α. ↓ MPO and iNOS activities. ↓ IKKα/β and IκBα phosphorylation. ↓ NF-κB nuclear translocation. ↓ MDA. ↑ GPx and SOD activities.	[119, 120]
GSPE	100, 200 or 400 mg kg <sup>-1</sup> bw (daily oral gavage)	7 days (after TNBS-induced colitis)	Wistar rat with TNBS-induced ulcerative colitis	TNBS (ir. injection of 100 mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	ND	<i>Colon:</i> ↓ IL-1β. ↓ MPO activity. ↓ IKK activity. ↓ IκBα phosphorylation. ↓ RelA protein content.	[123]
Procyanidin B2	10, 20 or 40 mg kg <sup>-1</sup> (daily oral gavage)	11 days	C57BL/6 mouse with DSS- induced colitis	DSS (2.5 g 100 mL <sup>-1</sup> of drinking water for 9 days)	ND	Colon: ↓ MMP9. ↓ Cleaved caspase-1. ↓ RelA phosphorylation. ↓ TNF-α, IL-1β and IL-6 gene expression.	[124]
GSPE	1 g 100 g <sup>-1</sup> of dry feed weight (orally)	16 weeks	IL10-deficient mouse prone to colitis	None (spontaneous colitis)	ND	Colon: ↓ TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-6 and IFN-γ gene expressions. ↓ MPO protein content and gene expression. ↓ RelA phosphorylation.	[125]

Manuscript No. 1

Table 2. (Continuation)

				Permeability	0			
Extract or Compound	Dose (Way of Administration)	Administration	Animal Model	Animal Model	and/or Inflammatory Inductor	Permeability/ Integrity	Inflammation/ Oxidative Stress	Ref.
GSPE	0.1 g 100 mL <sup>-1</sup> of drinking water (orally)	12 weeks	IL10-deficient mouse prone to colitis	None (spontaneous colitis)	ND	<i>Jejunum:</i> ↓ TNF-α and IFN-γ. ↑ IκBα protein content. ↑ iNOS gene expression.	[126]	
GSPE	75 or 375 mg kg <sup>-1</sup> bw (daily oral gavage)	15 days (before LPS administration)	Wistar rat with LPS-induced intestinal dysfunction	LPS (ip. injection of 0.3 mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	↓ Plasma OVA <i>Duodenum:</i> ↑ JAM-A gene expression. <i>Ileum:</i> ↓ ZO-1, occludin, claudin-2, and JAM- A gene expressions.	Duodenum: ↓ COX-2 activity. Duodenum and ileum: ↓ MPO activity. Colon: ↓ ROS.	[13]	

Bw, body weight. LMR, lactulose to mannitol ratio. Ir., intrarectal. Ip., intraperitoneal. ND, not determined.

#### 8.2. In Vivo Studies of Diet-Induced Intestinal Dysfunction

The cafeteria (CAF) diet is a self-selected high-saturated fat/high-refined sugar diet that stimulates hyperphagia and a rapid weight gain in experimental animals [127,128]. In this feeding regime, highly palatable and energy dense foods commercially available, such as muffins, biscuits, bacon, sausages and sugared milk, are offered ad libitum [15,129]. A long-term CAF diet (62% carbohydrate (mostly simple sugar), 23% lipid, and 13% protein in dry matter) has negative effects on intestinal function in rodents, increasing intestinal permeability and inducing mucosal inflammation [58]. We have described the beneficial effects of administering GSPE against the intestinal dysfunction induced by a long-term CAF diet (17–18 weeks) in Wistar rats [8,14,15]. The composition of the GSPE used in these studies has been analyzed in detail and is shown in **Table 3**. Both nutritional (5–50 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> [14]) and pharmacological (100–500 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> [8,15]) doses of GSPE administered orally as a preventive [8] or counteractive treatment [14,15] tended to reduce intestinal inflammatory markers such as TNF- $\alpha$  release or myeloperoxidase (MPO) activity (an indicator of neutrophil infiltration in tissues).

The reduction of plasma ovalbumin (OVA), an *in vivo* marker of intestinal permeability, was supported by (1) the increase in TEER in small and large intestine segments. This parameter is determined *ex vivo* by UCh-based protocols [8,15]. And (2) by the upregulation of TJ proteins such as ZO-1 [14] and claudin-1 [8,15]. Notably, the protective effect of GSPE in the intestinal barrier function was linked to the amelioration of metabolic endotoxemia (reduction of plasma LPS) and systemic inflammation (reduction of plasma TNF- $\alpha$ ) in obese rats [15,130]. Other authors have also reported the upregulation of ZO-1 and claudin-1 TJ proteins in high-fat fed rats supplemented with other PAC-rich extracts [120].

	Composition				
Compound	% of Total Flavan-3-ol Content	mg g <sup>-1</sup> Extract			
Flavan-3-ol monomers	21.3				
Catechin		121.32 ± 3.41			
Epicatechin		93.44 ± 4.27			
Epicatechin gallate		21.24 ± 1.08			
PAC dimers	17.4				
Procyanidin B1		88.80 ± 3.46			
Procyanidin B2		33.24 ± 1.39			
Procyanidin B3		$46.09 \pm 2.07$			
Dimer gallate		8.86 ± 0.14			
PAC trimers	16.3	$4.90 \pm 0.47$			
PAC tetramers	13.3	$0.05 \pm 0.01$			
Other PACs (DP > 5)	31.7	n/a			

**Table 3.** Main compounds of the PAC-rich grape-seed extracts (GSPE) used in the *in vivo*studies on cafeteria (CAF) diet-induced intestinal dysfunction.

The GSPE (Vitaflavan<sup>®</sup>) was provided by Les Dérives Résiniques et Terpéniques (Dax, France). According to the manufacturer, the extract has a 75% of procyanidins. HPLC-MS/MS analysis by Margalef et al. Table adapted from [131].

#### 8.3. In Vivo Studies of Chemical-Induced Intestinal Dysfunction

Chemical agents administered orally to induce colitis in rodents include trinitrobenzene sulphonic acid (TNBS) and DSS. These agents erode the colonic mucosal lining and produce the loss of the intestinal barrier function and colonic inflammation. In these models, the severity of outcomes depends on the dose of the chemical agent and the frequency of administration. Li et al. [132] found that intragastric administration of GSPE in rats at pharmacological doses (100–400 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) prior to TNBS-induced recurrent colitis reduced weight loss and attenuated macro and microscopic tissue damage scores in the colon. This protective effect was accompanied by a reduction in oxidative stress (malondialdehyde; MDA), inflammation (IL-1 $\beta$ ), and neutrophil infiltration (MPO activity) in colonic tissues. Remarkably, the beneficial effects of low-to-high doses of GSPE were comparable to those of sulfasalazine (200 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>), a potent inhibitor of NF-kB. Subsequent studies carried out by these authors with the same model confirmed the role of the GSPE down-regulating NF-κB response [122,123]. Amelioration of the redox status due to the increase in GPx and SOD activity was also observed in the colon tissues of GSPE-treated rats [122]. A preventive effect of procyanidin B2 was also evidenced in a mouse model of DSS-induced colitis [124]. Administration of procyanidin B2 (10–40 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) attenuated the severity of tissue damage in the colon and reduced the levels of matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9), a marker of macrophage infiltration. In addition, inhibition of the NF- $\kappa$ B signaling and of NLRP3 inflammasome activation was observed, with a concomitant reduction in the gene expression of proinflammatory cytokines. Overall, the benefits of procyanidin B2 administration, especially at the highest dosage (40 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>), were comparable to those of mesalazine (200 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>), a cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitor. The authors suggest that these effects were largely due to the reduction in activated macrophages infiltrating colonic tissues, probably driven by reactive oxygen species (ROS) clearance.

#### 8.4. Other in Vivo Studies with Animal Models

The IL-10 deficient mouse is a classic knockout model that develops spontaneous colitis under pathogen-free conditions. Some authors have explored the influence of GSPE in this model, supplementing colitic animals with 0.1–1 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup> of dry feed weight for 12–16 days [125,126]. These studies evidenced a reduction of multiple inflammatory markers in the jejunum and colon, such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and IFN- $\gamma$  gene expressions, as well as MPO activity. This anti-inflammatory effect was associated with the inhibition of the NF- $\kappa$ B signaling. Interestingly, GSPE supplementation also increased the density of goblet cells in the jejunum of treated animals, suggesting that there is an alternative mechanism by which inflammation

is attenuated. Cardoso et al. [13] recently tested both dietary (75 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) and pharmacological doses of GSPE (375 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) in a rat model of mild intestinal dysfunction induced by intraperitoneal injection of LPS. GSPE was administered daily by oral gavage for 15 days prior to LPS-induced intestinal dysfunction. LPS enhanced intestinal permeability and induced both oxidative stress and inflammation. GSPE-treated animals reduced OVA permeation to the circulation, MPO activity and COX-2 in the small intestine tissues, and reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels in the colon. Furthermore, a gene expression analysis with a lowdensity microarray technique revealed that unlike the dietary dose of GSPE, the pharmacological dose had a striking effect on the LPS-gene expression profile, showing a strong modulation of multiple genes associated with chemokines and ILs, including upregulation of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-13.

#### 8.5. Human ex Vivo Studies

Although the use of animal models is the predominate approximation at preclinical stages for testing novel therapies in intestinal dysfunction, there is a strong trend in the industry towards replacing animal experiments with human cell-culture based models [109,110]. Nevertheless, advantages related to the usefulness of *in vitro* models for screening of bioactives and exploring action mechanisms are offset by limitations regarding the mimicking of the *in vivo* situation and translation to the human [133]. Thus, some human *ex vivo* models have been proposed to test immunomodulatory properties of drug candidates in intestinal explants from IBD patients [134,135]. Intestinal function can also be studied with UCh-based protocols. The UCh system consists of two halves with an opening between them, where mucosal tissue is adapted, thus isolating the apical and basolateral sides of the tissue. This technique has been applied for studying drug absorption [136] and secretion of enterohormones [137] in human endoscopic biopsies. An advantage of UCh models over explant-based models is that UCh models make it possible to measure the electrophysiological parameters, including TEER [136]. All these set-

ups permit analyzing the cytokine profiling of intestinal explants or biopsies retaining their *in situ* conditioning in a polarized fashion [135,138]. We have employed the UCh to determine TEER and cytokine release (TNF- $\alpha$ ) in intestinal tissues from CAF diet-induced obese rats treated with GSPE [8,15]. It could also be useful for testing the effect of bioactives on dysfunctional human intestine. A feature of *ex vivo* models is that screening of drug effects does not compromise the patients by exposing them to unknown outcomes.

#### 8.6. Clinical Trials

The use of PACs for intestinal dysfunction is an emerging therapeutic strategy still in preclinical development. There have been no large, well-designed clinical trials that have tested the effectiveness of these phytochemicals. However, current evidence in humans suggests that PAC administration is a promising and safe adjunctive support to current therapies in IBD.

Translation of doses of PAC-rich extracts used in rodent models of intestinal dysfunction to human equivalent doses (HED) indicates that pharmacological doses (up to 5 g d<sup>-1</sup> for a 60 kg person) could be required to achieve beneficial effects in clinical trials [14,15]. Thus, the first uncertainty involved in assessing the use of PACs as therapy agents in humans is safety. Grape-seed and skin proanthocyanidin-rich extracts have been subjected to toxicological tests in rats to determine their safety for use in functional foods [139–141]. In these studies, the median lethal dose (LD50) was found to be greater than 5000 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> bw (HED > 50 g) when administered once by oral gavage, and 1400-2000 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> (HED of ~14–20 g d<sup>-1</sup>) was found to be the no-observed-adverse-effect level (NOAEL) for systemic toxicity in subchronic administration. A recent study evaluated the safety and tolerability of GSPE intake (up to 2.5 g d<sup>-1</sup>) in a small number of healthy adults for a four-week period and found a good tolerability without adverse effects on hematological or biochemical parameters [47].

To date, there are few clinical studies that evaluate the influence of PACs on intestinal inflammatory conditions. A pilot study was conducted on paediatric Crohn's disease patients in remission to test the possibility of influencing oxidative stress markers with a procyanidin-rich bark extract from the French maritime pine (Pycnogenol®) [142]. Patients showed reduced antioxidant defenses and increased oxidative stress markers at the beginning of the study compared with healthy controls. After 10 weeks of administration (2 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>), Pycnogenol had no impact on inflammatory markers (CRP and calprotectin) and the disease activity index score, but it increased the activity of erythrocyte antioxidant enzymes (SOD and GPx), reduced the level of lipid peroxidation markers in the blood (lipoperoxides and 8-isoprostanes), and reduced protein damage (advanced oxidation protein products). Another clinical study revealed that the postprandial increase of plasma LPS associated with the intake of a high-fat meal was significantly reduced in obese subjects who consumed 1 g of GSPE [143]. As translocation of LPS to the circulation is considered a critical factor in the appearance of systemic low-grade inflammation in patients with metabolic syndrome [144], reduction of postprandial endotoxemia could be particularly interesting from a therapeutic perspective. Large double-blind clinical studies need to be conducted to provide more information on PAC clinical efficacy in intestinal dysfunction so that these phytochemicals can be used therapeutically to improve intestinal health in obese and IBD individuals.

### 9. Biochemical and Molecular Mechanisms Underlying the Barrier Protective and Anti-Inflammatory Properties of PAC in the Intestine

PACs were often considered to be nutritionally undesirable due to their ability to form complexes with macronutrients and reduce the activity of virtually any enzyme implicated in digestion [145,146]. Nevertheless, based on the anticancerous, anti-mutagenic, and antimicrobial activities these phytochemicals elicited in laboratory experiments, a role in the modulation of the metabolism and immune system was suggested [146]. The ability of PACs to form cross-links with biomolecules can be attributed to the hydroxyl groups and aromatic rings in their structure that can establish hydrogen bonds and hydrophobic interactions [147]. PACs have a significant affinity for proline-rich proteins and peptides [148]. In general, binding to proteins seems to increase with the DP as larger PAC molecules have more potential binding sites for the associations with proline residues [148]. This phenomenon, responsible for the "tanning effect" that converts animal skin into leather, accounts for most of their therapeutic properties. The interaction results in effects determined by the biological function of the target protein. Thus, PACs not only alter enzymatic activity, but they may also prevent ligand-receptor interactions and the binding of transcription factors to their specific sites in DNA. In addition, some PAC molecules can be adsorbed non-specifically onto biomembrane surfaces [149], affecting their physical characteristics, such as fluidity and density, and potentially altering membrane-dependent processes, including protein receptor activity [150]. Altogether, these effects lead ultimately to the alteration of cell signaling pathways and the modulation of gene expression (Figure 3)

#### 9.1. Antioxidant Activity

For a long time, the significance of PACs for promoting overall health was attributed to the antioxidant and free radical scavenging activity shown in many *in vitro* studies, a hallmark feature of plant phenolic compounds [151]. This property is related to their structure, as the presence of the numerous hydroxyl groups reduces free radicals through electron donation, and the aromatic rings allow the resultant aroxyl radicals to be stabilized by resonance. The antioxidant activity of PACs has been demonstrated in numerous studies performed with PAC-rich foods and derived food products, such as grape, green tea, and cocoa products [152,153]. In particular, GSPEs have shown better free radical scavenging abilities than  $\beta$ -carotene and vitamins C and E [154,155].

New knowledge about the limited bioavailability of PACs meant that the physiological relevance of their antioxidant effects needed to be reconsidered. PACs have been found to have a very limited intestinal absorption [91], and concentrations in the systemic circulation are low with respect to other compounds that display similar antioxidant activity *in vivo* [133]. Thus, PAC antioxidant activity was unlikely to be relevant for the *in vivo* situation in several tissues [133], except for those directly exposed to high concentrations, such as the gastrointestinal tract. In vitro studies have suggested that flavan-3-ol and other flavonoids have an inhibitory effect on the NF-κB signaling pathway [156,157]. In addition, it has been demonstrated in HepG2 cells that GSPE improves cell redox status through upregulation of endogenous antioxidant enzymes such as GPx, glutathione Stransferase (GST) and SOD [158]. This is probably mediated by the activation of the nuclear factor-erythroid-2-related factor 2 (NRF2) [159]. These observations support the view of PACs and other polyphenols as versatile bioactives rather than mere antioxidants and encourage the exploration of novel immunomodulatory mechanisms.

#### 9.2. Modulation of Signaling Transduction Pathways

PACs exert direct anti-inflammatory effects modulating kinases activity and transcription factors implicated in the production of cytokines, chemokines, and other inflammatory mediators in epithelial and immune cells. Signaling pathways modulated by PACs include NF- $\kappa$ B, ERK1/2 and p38 MAPKs, and NRF2. Park et al. [157] reported an inhibitory effect of monomeric flavan-3-ol and some oligomeric PACs in NF- $\kappa$ B dependent gene expression of IFN- $\gamma$ -stimulated RAW 264.7 cells (murine macrophages). However, the first demonstration of flavan-3-ols inhibiting NF- $\kappa$ B by direct interaction with key components of the signaling pathway, came from a study by Mackenzie et al. [160]. In this study, Jurkat (human T lymphocyte) cells incubated with (+)-catechin, (-)-epicatechin or B-type dimeric PACs prior to the PMA (NF- $\kappa$ B activator) stimulation showed a reduction in the nuclear

translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B due to the inhibition of IKK $\beta$  and I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  phosphorylation. In addition, accumulation of these compounds in the nucleus (especially PAC dimers) dose-dependently suppressed the DNA-binding activity of the p50/RelA complex, indicating that inhibition of the NF- $\kappa$ B signaling pathway also occurred downstream. A subsequent study by the same authors [161] evidenced that dimeric procyanidins B1 and B2, but not A1 or A2, inhibited binding of p50/RelA to DNA. Molecular modelling for these interactions indicated that dimeric B-type PACs adopted a folded structure that mimicked the guanine pair in the  $\kappa$ B DNA consensus sequence, which is responsible for the binding of arginine residues in the p50/RelA complex [161]. Terra et al. [11] demonstrated that GSPE also downregulated I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  mRNA and inhibited RelA nuclear translocation in RAW 264.7 macrophages stimulated with LPS and IFN- $\gamma$ . Further *in vivo* studies confirmed unequivocally that grape-seed PACs orally administered to rats suppressed canonical activation of NF- $\kappa$ B induced by TNBS and a CAF diet in the intestine [122,123] and liver [130].

ERK1/2 and p38 MAPKs and are a family of serine/threonine kinases that mediate cellular responses to external stress signals and cytokines [162]. Activation of p38 MAPK has been associated with transduction of the proinflammatory cytokine signal within the intestinal epithelial cell [45]. ERK1/2 and p38 are involved in NF- $\kappa$ B transactivation through the phosphorylation and activation of the mitogen- and stress-activated protein kinase-1 (MSK-1), which in turn phosphorylates RelA [163]. They are also implicated in the phosphorylation of the coactivator p300 required for RelA acetylation [164]. PACs have shown to modulate MAPK activity by different mechanisms. Some authors have suggested that hexameric PACs inhibit bile acid-induced activation of ERK1/2 and p38 MAPKs in intestinal epithelial cells by a lipid raft-dependent effect involving inhibition of NADPH oxidase (NOX) [165]. More recently, a molecular docking analysis indicated that procyanidin B1 may bind to the TLR4/MD-2 complex and be able to act as a competitive antagonist of LPS [166]. This effect was associated with the inhibition

of the LPS-induced phosphorylation of p38 MAPK and activation of NF-κB signaling in THP1 (human monocyte) cells. However, PACs may activate ERK1/2 and p38 MAPKs under some oxidative stress situations, which has been associated with translocation of NRF2 to the nucleus. Under oxidative stress, NRF2 promote cell survival by inducing expression of antioxidant enzymes via antioxidant responsive element (ARE) binding [167]. Studies in Caco-2 [159] and HepG2 cells [168] showed that procyanidin B2 and grape-seed PACs induce activation of NRF2, increasing GST [159] and HO-1 [168] activity. More recently, AMPK-induced activation of NRF2 by oral administration of GSPE was associated with a protective effect against lead-induced lung oxidative stress in rats [169].

#### 9.3. Modulation of TJ Integrity

The precise mechanisms underlying the improvement in intestine paracellular permeability due to PACs in inflammation are not yet completely elucidated; however, it is known that they lead ultimately to the upregulation (e.g., ZO-1 and claudin-1 [8,13]) or downregulation (e.g., claudin-2 [125]) of TJ protein expression. Loss of TJ integrity in the proinflammatory state is mediated by the NF-kB signaling pathway and by the activation of protein kinases MAPKs, PI3Ks, AMPK, and MLCK [43]. MLCK is particularly crucial in actomyosin-based cytoskeletal functions and multiple studies highlight its important role in intestinal TJ remodelling [40,41]. PACs reduce the production of proinflammatory mediators (e.g.,  $TNF-\alpha$ ) and reactive oxygen species (i.e., iNOS activity) associated with enhancing intestinal permeability by antagonizing the NF- $\kappa$ B signaling pathway. In addition, PACs are potent inhibitors of kinases including MLCK [43,170]. Contreras et al. [171] suggested that there is an upstream mechanism associated with flavan-3-ols that leads to the prevention of TNF- $\alpha$ -induced intestinal permeability. In this study, TNF- $\alpha$ -stimulated Caco-2 monolayers incubated with (-)-epicatechin showed a reduction of NOX activity, an enzyme that also facilitates activation of TNF- $\alpha$  signaling. This effect was directly associated with the inhibition of ERK1/2 MAPK activity of IkB phosphorylation and of MLCK activation.



**Figure 3.** Molecular mechanisms implicated in the physiological effects of PAC in the intestinal mucosa. PACs suppress inflammation interacting with bacterial endotoxins, as well as protein receptors, kinases and transcription factors involved in the proinflammatory signaling (NF-κB and mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) pathways). Oxidative stress is mitigated directly by free-radical scavenging and indirectly by the activation of factor-erythroid-2-related factor 2 (NRF2), leading to antioxidant enzyme production via antioxidant responsive element (ARE) binding.

#### 9.4. Interaction with Bacterial Endotoxins

Delehanty et al. [172] demonstrated that naturally occurring A- and B-type cranberry PACs were able to bind the lipid A moiety of LPS, exhibiting an affinity similar to that of polymyxin B, a potent LPS-binding molecule. In this study, PACs efficiently blocked endocytosis of bacterial LPS in a dose-dependent manner in HEK 293 (human embryonic kidney cells) that expressed receptors TLR4/MD-2 and CD14, thus preventing the induction of the NF- $\kappa$ B signaling pathway without any interaction with cellular components. However, other authors reported that PACs isolated from cocoa beans did not abrogate the binding of LPS to TLR4 in cultivated human dendritic cells [173]. PAC–LPS binding has been linked to the reduction of the post prandial increase in blood LPS associated with the ingestion of a high-fat meal in obese subjects ingesting an oral dose of GSPE [143].

#### 9.5. Modulation of Intestinal Microbiota

Dietary PACs, specifically longer polymers, reach the distal intestine nearly intact, where they become fermentable substrates for the commensal microbiota [174]. PACs have been associated with prebiotic properties, boosting the composition of several kinds of probiotics such as *Bifidobacterium spp., Lactobacillus spp* [175] and the stimulator of MUC2 production *Akkermansia muciniphila* [176,177]. Nevertheless, current evidence is somewhat controversial as effects described in different *in vivo* studies mainly performed with rodents do not always agree. This suggests that interactions between PACs and microbiota depend largely on the botanical source, the types of molecules present in the extracts tested, and the animal model [178].

A recent study by Casanova et al. [179] found that oral administration of GSPE in Wistar rats for eight days resulted in profound changes in the cecal microbiota composition, reducing diversity indices and the ratio of *Firmicutes* to *Bacteroidetes*. Similar results were found in diet-induced obese Sprague Dawley rats supplemented with a PAC-rich extract of the *Pyracantha fortuneana* fruit, although in this study an increase in microbiota diversity was also reported [120]. GSPE supplementation in IL-10 deficient mice resulted in an increased abundance of *Bacteroides* and *Lactobacilli* [125]. Xing et al. [177] reported that the administration of procyanidin B2 in rabbits feeding a high-fat-cholesterol diet, promoted an increase in the relative abundance of *Akkermansia*. These authors proposed that the reduction of metabolic endotoxemia found in animals treated with procyanidin B2 was attributed to the ability of *Akkermansia* to retain the thickness of the intestinal mucus layer, thus reducing intestinal permeability and the leakage of LPS into the circulation [180].

Cuevas et al. [175] found that *in vitro* fermentation of grape-seed monomers and PACs in human feces resulted in a reduced abundance of *Clostridium histolyticum*. Inhibition of the growth of some infectious microorganisms, such as the mentioned *C. histolyticum* in the intestine and *Helicobacter pylori* in the stomach [181], may be related to the anti-adherence activity that PACs have demonstrated in *in vitro* studies [182], as adherence to the epithelium is a prerequisite for colonization and infection of the intestinal gastrointestinal mucosa.

Finally, phenolic acids and phenyl-γ-valerolactones resulting from the colonic fermentation of PACs also exhibit a significant bioactivity in cell models and experimental animals [183]. They therefore may partially account for the beneficial anti-inflammatory effects reported in intestinal and peripheral tissues *in vivo*. Further research is needed to clarify the importance of these microbial products in health promoting properties associated with the intake of PACs.

#### **10. Conclusions and Future Perspectives**

The health promoting properties of PACs in the intestine are attributed not only to the antioxidant activity inherent to phenolic compounds, but also to the capacity of these phytochemicals to interact with multiple biomolecules, including proteins, biomembrane lipids, and endotoxins. Bioactivity of PACs is highly structuredependent and enriched botanical extracts composed by a large variety of molecular structures exert a wide range of unrelated physiological effects. In this way, PAC-rich extracts can modulate kinase activity, several signal transduction pathways implicated in the inflammatory response, and the remodelling of TJs. Flavan-3-ol monomers and short PAC oligomers are absorbed by enterocytes and immune cells and exert a direct action on kinases and transcription factors. Bioactivity of larger oligomers and polymeric PACs do not require direct intestinal absorption and are able to bind protein receptors on the enterocyte and immune cell surfaces as well as luminal bacterial endotoxins, thus inhibiting proinflammatory signaling and improving barrier integrity. Due to the negligible absorption of large PAC molecules in the short intestine, phenyl- $\gamma$ -valerolactones and phenolic acids produced by the microbiota metabolism in the colon are thought to play an important role in these health-promoting effects, and thus need to be further researched.

The barrier-protective and anti-inflammatory properties of PACs are emerging as a potential adjunctive support to current therapies for managing obesity related intestinal dysfunction and IBD. However, there have been no large, well-designed clinical trials establishing the efficacy of these phytochemicals in chronic conditions. At preclinical stages, the use of animal models is the predominate approach for testing novel therapies for intestinal dysfunction, although several strategies for replacing animal experiments have been proposed. As there are still no studies on the impact of PACs on human intestinal health, *ex vivo* models of the human intestine could be a more physiologically reliable alternative to human cell lines and an alternative to animal experimentation in preclinical development.

**Author Contributions:** C.G-Q. and M.T.B. performed the bibliographic search, conceived, and drafted the manuscript. R.B.-T., E.R.-G., M.P., A.A., X.T. and M.T.B.

reviewed the manuscript. All authors read and approved the submitted version of the manuscript.

**Funding:** This work was funded by the Spanish Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad, grant AGL2017-83477-R.

**Acknowledgments:** C. González-Quilen has received financial support through a FI-AGAUR grant from the Generalitat de Catalunya. M. Pinent and X. Terra are Serra-Húnter fellows at the Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Tarragona, Spain.

**Conflicts of Interest:** The authors declare no conflict of interest.

#### **References:**

- 1. Chelakkot, C.; Ghim, J.; Ryu, S.H. Mechanisms regulating intestinal barrier integrity and its pathological implications. *Exp. Mol. Med.* **2018**, *50*, 103.
- 2. Fukui, H. Increased Intestinal Permeability and Decreased Barrier Function: Does It Really Influence the Risk of Inflammation? *Inflamm. Intest. Dis.* **2016**, *1*, 135–145.
- 3. Clemente-Postigo, M.; Oliva-Olivera, W.; Coin-Aragüez, L.; Ramos-Molina, B.; Giraldez-Perez, R.M.; Lhamyani, S.; Alcaide-Torres, J.; Perez-Martinez, P.; El Bekay, R.; Cardona, F.; et al. Metabolic endotoxemia promotes adipose dysfunction and inflammation in human obesity. *Am. J. Physiol. Metab.* **2019**, *316*, E319–E332.
- 4. Harvey, A. Strategies for discovering drugs from previously unexplored natural products. *Drug Discov. Today* **2000**, *5*, 294–300.
- 5. Costa, C.; Tsatsakis, A.; Mamoulakis, C.; Teodoro, M.; Briguglio, G.; Caruso, E.; Tsoukalas, D.; Margina, D.; Dardiotis, E.; Kouretas, D.; et al. Current evidence on the effect of dietary polyphenols intake on chronic diseases. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* **2017**, *110*, 286–299.
- 6. Smeriglio, A.; Barreca, D.; Bellocco, E.; Trombetta, D. Proanthocyanidins and hydrolysable tannins: occurrence, dietary intake and pharmacological effects. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **2017**, *174*, 1244–1262.
- 7. Bladé, C.; Aragonès, G.; Arola-Arnal, A.; Muguerza, B.; Bravo, F.I.; Salvadó, M.J.; Arola, L.; Suárez, M. Proanthocyanidins in health and disease. *BioFactors* **2016**, *42*, 5–12.
- 8. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Blay, M.; Terra, X. The coadministration of proanthocyanidins and an obesogenic diet prevents the increase in intestinal permeability and metabolic endotoxemia derived to the diet. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* **2018**, *62*, 35–42.
- 9. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Blay, M.; Terra, X. Effects of flavonoids on intestinal inflammation, barrier integrity and changes in gut microbiota during diet-induced obesity. *Nutr. Res. Rev.* **2016**, *29*, 234–248.
- 10. Wu, H.; Luo, T.; Li, Y.M.; Gao, Z.P.; Zhang, K.Q.; Song, J.Y.; Xiao, J.S.; Cao, Y.P. Granny Smith apple procyanidin extract upregulates tight junction protein expression and modulates oxidative stress and inflammation in lipopolysaccharide-induced Caco-2 cells. *Food Funct.* **2018**, *9*, 3321–3329.
- 11. Terra, X.; Valls, J.; Vitrac, X.; Mérrillon, J.M.; Arola, L.; Ardèvol, A.; Bladé, C.; Fernández-Larrea, J.; Pujadas, G.; Salvadó, J.; et al. Grape-seed procyanidins act as antiinflammatory agents in endotoxin-stimulated RAW 264.7 macrophages by inhibiting NFkB signaling pathway. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2007**, *55*, 4357–4365.
- 12. Martinez-Micaelo, N.; González-Abuín, N.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Blay, M. Procyanidin B2 inhibits inflammasome-mediated IL-1β production in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated macrophages. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2015**, *59*, 262– 269.
- 13. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Comitato, R.; Ginés, I.; Ardévol, A.; Pinent, M.; Virgili, F.; Terra, X.; Blay, M. Protective Effect of Proanthocyanidins in a Rat Model of Mild Intestinal Inflammation and Impaired Intestinal Permeability Induced by LPS. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2019**, *63*, 1800720.
- 14. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Arola, L.; Blay, M.; Terra, X. Chronic supplementation with dietary proanthocyanidins protects from diet-induced intestinal alterations in obese rats. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2017**, *61*, 1601039.
- 15. González-Quilen, C.; Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Beltrán-Debón, R.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Terra, X.; Blay, M.T. Grape-seed proanthocyanidins are able to reverse intestinal dysfunction and metabolic endotoxemia induced by a cafeteria diet in wistar rats. *Nutrients* **2019**, *11*.
- Allaire, J.M.; Crowley, S.M.; Law, H.T.; Chang, S.Y.; Ko, H.J.; Vallance, B.A. The Intestinal Epithelium: Central Coordinator of Mucosal Immunity. *Trends Immunol.* 2018, 39, 677–696.
- 17. Bischoff, S.C.; Barbara, G.; Buurman, W.; Ockhuizen, T.; Schulzke, J.D.; Serino, M.; Tilg, H.; Watson, A.; Wells, J.M. Intestinal permeability a new target for disease prevention and therapy. *BMC Gastroenterol.* **2014**, *14*, 189.
- 18. Birchenough, G.M.H.; Johansson, M.E. V; Gustafsson, J.K.; Bergström, J.H.; Hansson, G.C. New developments in goblet cell mucus secretion and function. *Mucosal Immunol.* **2015**, *8*, 712–9.
- 19. Nakamura, Y.; Kimura, S.; Hase, K. M cell-dependent antigen uptake on follicleassociated epithelium for mucosal immune surveillance. *Inflamm. Regen.* **2018**, *38*.
- 20. Fiocchi, C. What is "physiological" intestinal inflammation and how does it differ

from "pathological" inflammation? Inflamm. Bowel Dis. 2008, 14, S77–S78.

- 21. Belkaid, Y.; Harrison, O.J. Homeostatic Immunity and the Microbiota. *Immunity* **2017**, *46*, 562–576.
- 22. Ulluwishewa, D.; Anderson, R.C.; McNabb, W.C.; Moughan, P.J.; Wells, J.M.; Roy, N.C. Regulation of Tight Junction Permeability by Intestinal Bacteria and Dietary Components. *J. Nutr.* **2011**, *141*, 769–776.
- 23. Koboziev, I.; Karlsson, F.; Grisham, M.B. Gut-associated lymphoid tissue, T cell trafficking, and chronic intestinal inflammation. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* **2010**, *1207*, E86-93.
- 24. Jung, C.; Hugot, J.-P.; Barreau, F. Peyer's Patches: The Immune Sensors of the Intestine. *Int. J. Inflam.* **2010**, *2010*, 1–12.
- 25. Chistiakov, D.A.; Bobryshev, Y. V.; Kozarov, E.; Sobenin, I.A.; Orekhov, A.N. Intestinal mucosal tolerance and impact of gut microbiota to mucosal tolerance. *Front. Microbiol.* **2014**, *5*, 781.
- 26. Eming, S.A.; Wynn, T.A.; Martin, P. Inflammation and metabolism in tissue repair and regeneration. *Science (80-. ).* **2017**, *356*, 1026–1030.
- 27. Chen, L.; Deng, H.; Cui, H.; Fang, J.; Zuo, Z.; Deng, J.; Li, Y.; Wang, X.; Zhao, L. Inflammatory responses and inflammation-associated diseases in organs. *Oncotarget* **2018**, *9*, 7204–7218.
- 28. Fukata, M.; Arditi, M. The role of pattern recognition receptors in intestinal inflammation. *Mucosal Immunol.* **2013**, *6*, 451–463.
- 29. Midwood, K.S.; Piccinini, A.M. DAMPening inflammation by modulating TLR signalling. *Mediators Inflamm.* **2010**, *2010*, 1–21.
- 30. Gourbeyre, P.; Berri, M.; Lippi, Y.; Meurens, F.; Vincent-Naulleau, S.; Laffitte, J.; Rogel-Gaillard, C.; Pinton, P.; Oswald, I.P. Pattern recognition receptors in the gut: Analysis of their expression along the intestinal tract and the crypt/villus axis. *Physiol. Rep.* **2015**, *3*, e12225.
- Price, A.E.; Shamardani, K.; Lugo, K.A.; Deguine, J.; Roberts, A.W.; Lee, B.L.; Barton, G.M. A Map of Toll-like Receptor Expression in the Intestinal Epithelium Reveals Distinct Spatial, Cell Type-Specific, and Temporal Patterns. *Immunity* 2018, 49, 560-575.e6.
- 32. Hug, H.; Mohajeri, M.H.; La Fata, G. Toll-like receptors: Regulators of the immune response in the human gut. *Nutrients* **2018**, *10*, 203.
- 33. Liu, T.; Zhang, L.; Joo, D.; Sun, S.C. NF-κB signaling in inflammation. *Signal Transduct. Target. Ther.* **2017**, *2*, 17023.
- 34. Sun, S.C. Non-canonical NF-κB signaling pathway. *Cell Res.* **2011**, *21*, 71–85.

- 35. Hayden, M.S.; Ghosh, S. NF-κB in immunobiology. *Cell Res.* **2011**, *21*, 223–244.
- 36. Park, S.-H.; Cho, G.; Park, S.-G. NF-κB Activation in T Helper 17 Cell Differentiation. *Immune Netw.* **2014**, *14*, 14–20.
- Nakajima, A.; Vogelzang, A.; Maruya, M.; Miyajima, M.; Murata, M.; Son, A.; Kuwahara, T.; Tsuruyama, T.; Yamada, S.; Matsuura, M.; et al. IgA regulates the composition and metabolic function of gut microbiota by promoting symbiosis between bacteria. *J. Exp. Med.* 2018, *215*, 2019–2034.
- 38. Re, F.; Strominger, J.L. IL-10 Released by Concomitant TLR2 Stimulation Blocks the Induction of a Subset of Th1 Cytokines That Are Specifically Induced by TLR4 or TLR3 in Human Dendritic Cells. *J. Immunol.* **2004**, *173*, 7548–7555.
- 39. Cario, E.; Gerken, G.; Podolsky, D.K. Toll-like receptor 2 enhances ZO-1-associated intestinal epithelial barrier integrity via protein kinase C. *Gastroenterology* **2004**, *127*, 224–238.
- 40. Cunningham, K.E.; Turner, J.R. Myosin light chain kinase: Pulling the strings of epithelial tight junction function. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* **2012**, *1258*, 34–42.
- 41. Marchiando, A.M.; Shen, L.; Graham, W.V.; Edelblum, K.L.; Duckworth, C.A.; Guan, Y.; Montrose, M.H.; Turner, J.R.; Watson, A.J.M. The epithelial barrier is maintained by in vivo tight junction expansion during pathologic intestinal epithelial shedding. *Gastroenterology* **2011**, *140*, 1208-1218.e2.
- 42. Marchiando, A.M.; Shen, L.; Vallen Graham, W.; Weber, C.R.; Schwarz, B.T.; Austin, J.R.; Raleigh, D.R.; Guan, Y.; Watson, A.J.M.; Montrose, M.H.; et al. Caveolin-1-dependent occludin endocytosis is required for TNF-induced tight junction regulation in vivo. *J. Cell Biol.* **2010**, *189*, 111–126.
- 43. Yang, G.; Bibi, S.; Du, M.; Suzuki, T.; Zhu, M.J. Regulation of the intestinal tight junction by natural polyphenols: A mechanistic perspective. *Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr.* **2017**, *57*, 3830–3839.
- 44. Scharl, M.; Paul, G.; Barrett, K.E.; McCole, D.F. AMP-activated protein kinase mediates the interferon-gamma-induced decrease in intestinal epithelial barrier function. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2009**, *284*, 27952–63.
- 45. Al-Sadi, R.; Guo, S.; Ye, D.; Dokladny, K.; Alhmoud, T.; Ereifej, L.; Said, H.M.; Ma, T.Y. Mechanism of IL-1β Modulation of Intestinal Epithelial Barrier Involves p38 Kinase and Activating Transcription Factor-2 Activation. *J. Immunol.* **2013**, *190*, 6596– 6606.
- 46. Al-Sadi, R.; Guo, S.; Ye, D.; Ma, T.Y. TNF-α modulation of intestinal epithelial tight junction barrier is regulated by ERK1/2 activation of Elk-1. *Am. J. Pathol.* **2013**, *183*, 1871–1884.
- 47. Luettig, J.; Rosenthal, R.; Barmeyer, C.; Schulzke, J.D. Claudin-2 as a mediator of leaky gut barrier during intestinal inflammation. *Tissue Barriers* **2015**, *3*, e977176.

- 48. Ding, S.; Lund, P.K. Role of intestinal inflammation as an early event in obesity and insulin resistance. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* **2011**, *14*, 328–333.
- 49. Raybould, H.E. Gut microbiota, epithelial function and derangements in obesity. *J. Physiol.* **2012**, *590*, 441–6.
- 50. Boutagy, N.E.; McMillan, R.P.; Frisard, M.I.; Hulver, M.W. Metabolic endotoxemia with obesity: Is it real and is it relevant? *Biochimie* **2016**, *124*, 11–20.
- 51. Ding, S.; Chi, M.M.; Scull, B.P.; Rigby, R.; Schwerbrock, N.M.J.; Magness, S.; Jobin, C.; Lund, P.K. High-fat diet: Bacteria interactions promote intestinal inflammation which precedes and correlates with obesity and insulin resistance in mouse. *PLoS One* **2010**, *5*, e12191.
- 52. Winer, D.A.; Winer, S.; Dranse, H.J.; Lam, T.K.T. Immunologic impact of the intestine in metabolic disease. *J. Clin. Invest.* **2017**, *127*, 33–42.
- 53. Imam, T.; Park, S.; Kaplan, M.H.; Olson, M.R. Effector T helper cell subsets in inflammatory bowel diseases. *Front. Immunol.* **2018**, *9*, 1212.
- 54. Winer DA; Luck H; Tsai S; Winer S The Intestinal Immune System in Obesity and Insulin Resistance. *Cell Metab.* **2016**, *23*, 413–26.
- 55. Ananthakrishnan, A.N.; Bernstein, C.N.; Iliopoulos, D.; Macpherson, A.; Neurath, M.F.; Ali, R.A.R.; Vavricka, S.R.; Fiocchi, C. Environmental triggers in IBD: A review of progress and evidence. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* **2018**, *15*, 39–49.
- 56. Huang, S.; Rutkowsky, J.M.; Snodgrass, R.G.; Ono-Moore, K.D.; Schneider, D.A.; Newman, J.W.; Adams, S.H.; Hwang, D.H. Saturated fatty acids activate TLR-mediated proinflammatory signaling pathways. *J. Lipid Res.* **2012**, *53*, 2002–2013.
- 57. Wong, S.W.; Kwon, M.J.; Choi, A.M.K.; Kim, H.P.; Nakahira, K.; Hwang, D.H. Fatty acids modulate toll-like receptor 4 activation through regulation of receptor dimerization and recruitment into lipid rafts in a reactive oxygen species-dependent manner. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2009**, *284*, 27384–27392.
- 58. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Terra, X.; Blay, M. A cafeteria diet triggers intestinal inflammation and oxidative stress in obese rats. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2017**, *117*, 218–229.
- 59. Zmora, N.; Suez, J.; Elinav, E. You are what you eat: diet, health and the gut microbiota. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* **2019**, *16*, 35–56.
- 60. Guirro, M.; Costa, A.; Gual-Grau, A.; Herrero, P.; Torrell, H.; Canela, N.; Arola, L. Effects from diet-induced gut microbiota dysbiosis and obesity can be ameliorated by fecal microbiota transplantation: A multiomics approach. *PLoS One* **2019**, *14*, e0218143.
- 61. Wan, Y.; Wang, F.; Yuan, J.; Li, J.; Jiang, D.; Zhang, J.; Li, H.; Wang, R.; Tang, J.; Huang, T.; et al. Effects of dietary fat on gut microbiota and faecal metabolites, and their relationship with cardiometabolic risk factors: a 6-month randomised controlled-

feeding trial. Gut 2019, 68, 1417–1429.

- 62. Segata, N. Gut Microbiome: Westernization and the Disappearance of Intestinal Diversity. *Curr. Biol.* **2015**, *25*, R611–R613.
- 63. Buttó, L.F.; Haller, D. Dysbiosis in intestinal inflammation: Cause or consequence. *Int. J. Med. Microbiol.* **2016**, *306*, 302–309.
- 64. Ley, R.E.; Bäckhed, F.; Turnbaugh, P.; Lozupone, C.A.; Knight, R.D.; Gordon, J.I. Obesity alters gut microbial ecology. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2005**, *102*, 11070–11075.
- 65. Lee, S.M.; Kim, N.; Yoon, H.; Nam, R.H.; Lee, D.H. Microbial changes and host response in F344 rat colon depending on sex and age following a high-fat diet. *Front. Microbiol.* **2018**, *9*, 2236.
- 66. Ley, R.E.; Turnbaugh, P.J.; Klein, S.; Gordon, J.I. Microbial ecology: Human gut microbes associated with obesity. *Nature* **2006**, 444, 1022–1023.
- 67. Koliada, A.; Syzenko, G.; Moseiko, V.; Budovska, L.; Puchkov, K.; Perederiy, V.; Gavalko, Y.; Dorofeyev, A.; Romanenko, M.; Tkach, S.; et al. Association between body mass index and Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio in an adult Ukrainian population. *BMC Microbiol.* **2017**, *17*, 120.
- 68. Duncan, S.H.; Lobley, G.E.; Holtrop, G.; Ince, J.; Johnstone, A.M.; Louis, P.; Flint, H.J. Human colonic microbiota associated with diet, obesity and weight loss. *Int. J. Obes.* **2008**, *32*, 1720–1724.
- 69. Schwiertz, A.; Taras, D.; Schäfer, K.; Beijer, S.; Bos, N.A.; Donus, C.; Hardt, P.D. Microbiota and SCFA in lean and overweight healthy subjects. *Obesity* **2010**, *18*, 190–195.
- 70. Castaner, O.; Goday, A.; Park, Y.M.; Lee, S.H.; Magkos, F.; Shiow, S.A.T.E.; Schröder, H. The gut microbiome profile in obesity: A systematic review. *Int. J. Endocrinol.* **2018**, *2018*, 1–9.
- 71. Garrett, W.S.; Lord, G.M.; Punit, S.; Lugo-Villarino, G.; Mazmanian, S.K.K.; Ito, S.; Glickman, J.N.; Glimcher, L.H. Communicable Ulcerative Colitis Induced by T-bet Deficiency in the Innate Immune System. *Cell* **2007**, *131*, 33–45.
- 72. Karczewski, J.; Poniedziałek, B.; Adamski, Z.; Rzymski, P. The effects of the microbiota on the host immune system. *Autoimmunity* **2014**, *47*, 494–504.
- 73. Weber, C.K.; Liptay, S.; Wirth, T.; Adler, G.; Schmid, R.M. Suppression of NF-kappaB activity by sulfasalazine is mediated by direct inhibition of IkappaB kinases alpha and beta. *Gastroenterology* **2000**, *119*, 1209–18.
- 74. Nielsen, O.H.; Munck, L.K. Drug Insight: aminosalicylates for the treatment of IBD. *Nat. Clin. Pract. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* **2007**, *4*, 160–170.

- 75. Serrano, J.; Puupponen-Pimiä, R.; Dauer, A.; Aura, A.M.; Saura-Calixto, F. Tannins: Current knowledge of food sources, intake, bioavailability and biological effects. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2009**, *53*, 310–329.
- 76. Bittner, K.; Rzeppa, S.; Humpf, H.-U. Distribution and Quantification of Flavan-3-ols and Procyanidins with Low Degree of Polymerization in Nuts, Cereals, and Legumes. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2013**, *61*, 9148–9154.
- 77. Rue, E.A.; Rush, M.D.; van Breemen, R.B. Procyanidins: a comprehensive review encompassing structure elucidation via mass spectrometry. *Phytochem. Rev.* **2018**, *17*, 1–16.
- 78. Wang, Y.; Chung, S.-J.; Song, W.O.; Chun, O.K. Estimation of Daily Proanthocyanidin Intake and Major Food Sources in the U.S. Diet. *J. Nutr.* **2011**, *141*, 447–452.
- 79. Jun, S.; Shin, S.; Joung, H. Estimation of dietary flavonoid intake and major food sources of Korean adults. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2016**, *115*, 480–489.
- 80. Zamora-Ros, R.; Biessy, C.; Rothwell, J.A.; Monge, A.; Lajous, M.; Scalbert, A.; López-Ridaura, R.; Romieu, I. Dietary polyphenol intake and their major food sources in the Mexican Teachers' Cohort. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2018**, *120*, 353–360.
- 81. Vogiatzoglou, A.; Mulligan, A.A.; Luben, R.N.; Lentjes, M.A.H.; Heiss, C.; Kelm, M.; Merx, M.W.; Spencer, J.P.E.; Schroeter, H.; Kuhnle, G.G.C. Assessment of the dietary intake of total flavan-3-ols, monomeric flavan-3-ols, proanthocyanidins and theaflavins in the European Union. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2014**, *111*, 1463–1473.
- 82. Zamora-Ros, R.; Knaze, V.; Rothwell, J.A.; Hémon, B.; Moskal, A.; Overvad, K.; Tjønneland, A.; Kyrø, C.; Fagherazzi, G.; Boutron-Ruault, M.C.; et al. Dietary polyphenol intake in europe: The european prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition (EPIC) study. *Eur. J. Nutr.* **2016**, *55*, 1359–1375.
- 83. Knaze, V.; Zamora-Ros, R.; Luján-Barroso, L.; Romieu, I.; Scalbert, A.; Slimani, N.; Riboli, E.; van Rossum, C.T.M.; Bueno-de-Mesquita, H.B.; Trichopoulou, A.; et al. Intake estimation of total and individual flavan-3-ols, proanthocyanidins and theaflavins, their food sources and determinants in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2012**, *108*, 1095– 1108.
- 84. Rios, L.Y.; Bennett, R.N.; Lazarus, S.A.; Rémésy, C.; Scalbert, A.; Williamson, G. Cocoa procyanidins are stable during gastric transit in humans. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2002**, *76*, 1106–1110.
- 85. Donovan, J.L.; Crespy, V.; Manach, C.; Morand, C.; Besson, C.; Scalbert, A.; Rémésy, C. Catechin Is Metabolized by Both the Small Intestine and Liver of Rats. *J. Nutr.* **2001**, *131*, 1753–1757.
- 86. Stalmach, A.; Mullen, W.; Steiling, H.; Williamson, G.; Lean, M.E.J.; Crozier, A. Absorption, metabolism, and excretion of green tea flavan-3-ols in humans with an

ileostomy. Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 2010, 54, 323-334.

- 87. Thilakarathna, S.H.; Rupasinghe, H.P.V. Flavonoid bioavailability and attempts for bioavailability enhancement. *Nutrients* **2013**, *5*, 3367–87.
- 88. Rein, D.; Lotito, S.; Holt, R.R.; Keen, C.L.; Schmitz, H.H.; Fraga, C.G. Epicatechin in Human Plasma: In Vivo Determination and Effect of Chocolate Consumption on Plasma Oxidation Status. *J. Nutr.* **2000**, *130*, 2109S-2114S.
- 89. Ullmann, U.; Haller, J.; Decourt, J.P.; Girault, N.; Girault, J.; Richard-Caudron, A.S.; Pineau, B.; Weber, P. A single ascending dose study of epigallocatechin gallate in healthy volunteers. *J. Int. Med. Res.* **2003**, *31*, 88–101.
- 90. Wiese, S.; Esatbeyoglu, T.; Winterhalter, P.; Kruse, H.P.; Winkler, S.; Bub, A.; Kulling, S.E. Comparative biokinetics and metabolism of pure monomeric, dimeric, and polymeric flavan-3-ols: A randomized cross-over study in humans. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2015**, *59*, 610–621.
- 91. Deprez, S.; Mila, I.; Huneau, J.-F.; Tome, D.; Scalbert, A. Transport of Proanthocyanidin Dimer, Trimer, and Polymer Across Monolayers of Human Intestinal Epithelial Caco-2 Cells. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* **2001**, *3*, 957–967.
- 92. Zumdick, S.; Deters, A.; Hensel, A. In vitro intestinal transport of oligomeric procyanidins (DP 2 to 4) across monolayers of Caco-2 cells. *Fitoterapia* **2012**, *83*, 1210–1217.
- 93. Mendoza-Wilson, A.M.; Carmelo-Luna, F.J.; Astiazarán-García, H.; Mata-Haro, V.; Espinosa-Plascencia, A.; del Carmen Bermúdez-Almada, M.; Rascón-Durán, M.L. Absorption of dimers, trimers and tetramers of procyanidins present in apple skin by IEC-18 cell monolayers. *J. Funct. Foods* **2016**, *27*, 386–391.
- 94. Shoji, T.; Masumoto, S.; Moriichi, N.; Akiyama, H.; Kanda, T.; Ohtake, Y.; Goda, Y. Apple Procyanidin Oligomers Absorption in Rats after Oral Administration: Analysis of Procyanidins in Plasma Using the Porter Method and High-Performance Liquid Chromatography/Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2006**, *54*, 884–892.
- 95. Serra, A.; MacI, A.; Romero, M.P.; Valls, J.; Bladé, C.; Arola, L.; Motilva, M.J. Bioavailability of procyanidin dimers and trimers and matrix food effects in in vitro and in vivo models. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2010**, *103*, 944–952.
- 96. Sano, A.; Yamakoshi, J.; Tokutake, S.; Tobe, K.; Kubota, Y.; Kikuchi, M. Procyanidin B1 Is Detected in Human Serum after Intake of Proanthocyanidin-rich Grape Seed Extract. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* **2003**, *67*, 1140–1143.
- 97. Ottaviani, J.I.; Kwik-Uribe, C.; Keen, C.L.; Schroeter, H. Intake of dietary procyanidins does not contribute to the pool of circulating flavanols in humans. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2012**, *95*, 851–858.
- 98. Tsang, C.; Auger, C.; Mullen, W.; Bornet, A.; Rouanet, J.-M.; Crozier, A.; Teissedre, P.-

L. The absorption, metabolism and excretion of flavan-3-ols and procyanidins following the ingestion of a grape seed extract by rats. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2005**, *94*, 170–81.

- 99. Gu, L.; House, S.E.; Rooney, L.; Prior, R.L. Sorghum bran in the diet dose dependently increased the excretion of catechins and microbial-derived phenolic acids in female rats. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2007**, *55*, 5326–5334.
- 100. Appeldoorn, M.M.; Vincken, J.P.; Aura, A.M.; Hollman, P.C.H.; Gruppen, H. Procyanidin dimers are metabolized by human microbiota with 2-(3,4-dihydroxyphenyl)acetic acid and 5-(3,4-dihydroxyphenyl)-γ- valerolactone as the major metabolites. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2009**, *57*, 1084–1092.
- Castello, F.; Costabile, G.; Bresciani, L.; Tassotti, M.; Naviglio, D.; Luongo, D.; Ciciola, P.; Vitale, M.; Vetrani, C.; Galaverna, G.; et al. Bioavailability and pharmacokinetic profile of grape pomace phenolic compounds in humans. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 2018, 646, 1–9.
- 102. Trošt, K.; Ulaszewska, M.M.; Stanstrup, J.; Albanese, D.; De Filippo, C.; Tuohy, K.M.; Natella, F.; Scaccini, C.; Mattivi, F. Host: Microbiome co-metabolic processing of dietary polyphenols – An acute, single blinded, cross-over study with different doses of apple polyphenols in healthy subjects. *Food Res. Int.* **2018**, *112*, 108–128.
- 103. Margalef, M.; Pons, Z.; Bravo, F.I.; Muguerza, B.; Arola-Arnal, A. Tissue distribution of rat flavanol metabolites at different doses. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* **2015**, *26*, 987–995.
- 104. He, X.; Sun, L.M. Dietary intake of flavonoid subclasses and risk of colorectal cancer: Evidence from population studies. *Oncotarget* **2016**, *7*, 26617–26627.
- 105. Sambuy, Y.; De Angelis, I.; Ranaldi, G.; Scarino, M.L.; Stammati, A.; Zucco, F. The Caco-2 cell line as a model of the intestinal barrier: Influence of cell and culture-related factors on Caco-2 cell functional characteristics. *Cell Biol. Toxicol.* **2005**, *21*, 1–26.
- 106. Bianchi, M.G.; Chiu, M.; Taurino, G.; Brighenti, F.; Del Rio, D.; Mena, P.; Bussolati, O. Catechin and Procyanidin B2 Modulate the Expression of Tight Junction Proteins but Do Not Protect from Inflammation-Induced Changes in Permeability in Human Intestinal Cell Monolayers. *Nutrients* **2019**, *11*, 2271.
- 107. Kämpfer, A.A.M.; Urbán, P.; Gioria, S.; Kanase, N.; Stone, V.; Kinsner-Ovaskainen, A. Development of an in vitro co-culture model to mimic the human intestine in healthy and diseased state. *Toxicol. Vitr.* **2017**, *45*, 31–43.
- 108. Chassaing, B.; Rolhion, N.; De Vallée, A.; Salim, S.Y.; Prorok-Hamon, M.; Neut, C.; Campbell, B.J.; Söderholm, J.D.; Hugot, J.P.; Colombel, J.F.; et al. Crohn disease-associated adherent-invasive E. coli bacteria target mouse and human Peyer's patches via long polar fimbriae. *J. Clin. Invest.* **2011**, *121*, 966–975.
- 109. Goh, J.Y.; Weaver, R.J.; Dixon, L.; Platt, N.J.; Roberts, R.A. Development and use of in vitro alternatives to animal testing by the pharmaceutical industry 1980-2013. *Toxicol. Res. (Camb).* **2015**, *4*, 1297–1307.

- 110. Kang, T.H.; Kim, H.J. Farewell to animal testing: Innovations on human intestinal microphysiological systems. *Micromachines* **2016**, *7*, 107.
- 111. Randhawa, P.K.; Singh, K.; Singh, N.; Jaggi, A.S. A review on chemical-induced inflammatory bowel disease models in rodents. *Korean J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* **2014**, *18*, 279–88.
- 112. Yoshioka, Y.; Akiyama, H.; Nakano, M.; Shoji, T.; Kanda, T.; Ohtake, Y.; Takita, T.; Matsuda, R.; Maitani, T. Orally administered apple procyanidins protect against experimental inflammatory bowel disease in mice. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* **2008**, *8*, 1802–1807.
- 113. Bitzer, Z.T.; Glisan, S.L.; Dorenkott, M.R.; Goodrich, K.M.; Ye, L.; O'Keefe, S.F.; Lambert, J.D.; Neilson, A.P. Cocoa procyanidins with different degrees of polymerization possess distinct activities in models of colonic inflammation. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* **2015**, *26*, 827–831.
- 114. Gentile, C.; Perrone, A.; Attanzio, A.; Tesoriere, L.; Livrea, M.A. Sicilian pistachio (Pistacia vera L.) nut inhibits expression and release of inflammatory mediators and reverts the increase of paracellular permeability in IL-1β-exposed human intestinal epithelial cells. *Eur. J. Nutr.* **2015**, *54*, 811–821.
- 115. Denis, M.-C.; Desjardins, Y.; Furtos, A.; Marcil, V.; Dudonné, S.; Montoudis, A.; Garofalo, C.; Delvin, E.; Marette, A.; Levy, E. Prevention of oxidative stress, inflammation and mitochondrial dysfunction in the intestine by different cranberry phenolic fractions. *Clin. Sci.* **2015**, *128*, 197–212.
- 116. Erlejman, A.G.; Jaggers, G.; Fraga, C.G.; Oteiza, P.I. TNFα-induced NF-κB activation and cell oxidant production are modulated by hexameric procyanidins in Caco-2 cells. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **2008**, *476*, 186–195.
- 117. Hidalgo, I.J.; Raub, T.J.; Borchardt, R.T. Characterization of the Human Colon Carcinoma Cell Line (Caco-2) as a Model System for Intestinal Epithelial Permeability. *Gastroenterology* **1989**, *96*, 736–749.
- 118. Srinivasan, B.; Kolli, A.R.; Esch, M.B.; Abaci, H.E.; Shuler, M.L.; Hickman, J.J. TEER measurement techniques for in vitro barrier model systems. *J. Lab. Autom.* **2015**, *20*, 107–26.
- 119. Wong, X.; Carrasco-Pozo, C.; Escobar, E.; Navarrete, P.; Blachier, F.; Andriamihaja, M.; Lan, A.; Tomé, D.; Cires, M.J.; Pastene, E.; et al. Deleterious Effect of p-Cresol on Human Colonic Epithelial Cells Prevented by Proanthocyanidin-Containing Polyphenol Extracts from Fruits and Proanthocyanidin Bacterial Metabolites. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2016**, *64*, 3574–3583.
- 120. Xu, H.; Zhao, C.; Li, Y.; Liu, R.; Ao, M.; Li, F.; Yao, Y.; Tao, Z.; Yu, L. The ameliorative effect of the: Pyracantha fortuneana (Maxim.) H. L. Li extract on intestinal barrier dysfunction through modulating glycolipid digestion and gut microbiota in high fat diet-fed rats. *Food Funct.* **2019**, *10*, 6517–6532.

- 121. Wang, Y.-H.; Yang, X.-L.; Wang, L.; Cui, M.-X.; Cai, Y.-Q.; Li, X.-L.; Wu, Y.-J. Effects of proanthocyanidins from grape seed on treatment of recurrent ulcerative colitis in rats. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* **2010**, *88*, 888–98.
- 122. Wang, Y.-H.; Ge, B.; Yang, X.-L.; Zhai, J.; Yang, L.-N.; Wang, X.-X.; Liu, X.; Shi, J.-C.; Wu, Y.-J. Proanthocyanidins from grape seeds modulates the nuclear factor-kappa B signal transduction pathways in rats with TNBS-induced recurrent ulcerative colitis. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* **2011**, *11*, 1620–1627.
- 123. Li, X.; Yang, X.; Cai, Y.; Qin, H.; Wang, L.; Wang, Y.; Huang, Y.; Wang, X.; Yan, S.; Wang, L.; et al. Proanthocyanidins from Grape Seeds Modulate the NF-κB Signal Transduction Pathways in Rats with TNBS-Induced Ulcerative Colitis. *Molecules* **2011**, *16*, 6721–6731.
- 124. Chen, L.; You, Q.; Hu, L.; Gao, J.; Meng, Q.; Liu, W.; Wu, X.; Xu, Q. The Antioxidant Procyanidin reduces reactive oxygen species signaling in macrophages and ameliorates experimental colitis in mice. *Front. Immunol.* **2018**, *8*, 1910.
- 125. Wang, H.; Xue, Y.; Zhang, H.; Huang, Y.; Yang, G.; Du, M.; Zhu, M.-J. Dietary grape seed extract ameliorates symptoms of inflammatory bowel disease in IL10-deficient mice. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2013**, *57*, 2253–7.
- 126. Bibi, S.; Kang, Y.; Yang, G.; Zhu, M.-J. Grape seed extract improves small intestinal health through suppressing inflammation and regulating alkaline phosphatase in IL-10-deficient mice. *J. Funct. Foods* **2016**, *20*, 245–252.
- 127. Sampey, B.P.; Vanhoose, A.M.; Winfield, H.M.; Freemerman, A.J.; Muehlbauer, M.J.; Fueger, P.T.; Newgard, C.B.; Makowski, L. Cafeteria diet is a robust model of human metabolic syndrome with liver and adipose inflammation: comparison to high-fat diet. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. **2011**, *19*, 1109–17.
- 128. Ginés, I.; Gil-Cardoso, K.; Serrano, J.; Casanova-Martí, À.; Blay, Mt.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Terra, X. Effects of an Intermittent Grape-Seed Proanthocyanidin (GSPE) Treatment on a Cafeteria Diet Obesogenic Challenge in Rats. *Nutrients* **2018**, *10*, 315.
- 129. Baselga-Escudero, L.; Pascual-Serrano, A.; Ribas-Latre, A.; Casanova, E.; Salvadó, M.J.; Arola, L.; Arola-Arnal, A.; Bladé, C. Long-term supplementation with a low dose of proanthocyanidins normalized liver miR-33a and miR-122 levels in high-fat diet-induced obese rats. *Nutr. Res.* **2015**, *35*, 337–345.
- 130. Terra, X.; Pallarés, V.; Ardèvol, A.; Bladé, C.; Fernández-Larrea, J.; Pujadas, G.; Salvadó, J.; Arola, L.; Blay, M. Modulatory effect of grape-seed procyanidins on local and systemic inflammation in diet-induced obesity rats. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* **2011**, *22*, 380–387.
- 131. Margalef, M.; Pons, Z.; Iglesias-Carres, L.; Arola, L.; Muguerza, B.; Arola-Arnal, A. Gender-related similarities and differences in the body distribution of grape seed flavanols in rats. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2016**, *60*, 760–772.

- 132. Li, X.-L.; Cai, Y.-Q.; Qin, H.; Wu, Y.-J. Therapeutic effect and mechanism of proanthocyanidins from grape seeds in rats with TNBS-induced ulcerative colitis. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* **2008**, *86*, 841–849.
- 133. Hollman, P.C.H.; Cassidy, A.; Comte, B.; Heinonen, M.; Richelle, M.; Richling, E.; Serafini, M.; Scalbert, A.; Sies, H.; Vidry, S. The Biological Relevance of Direct Antioxidant Effects of Polyphenols for Cardiovascular Health in Humans Is Not Established. *J. Nutr.* **2011**, *141*, 989S-1009S.
- 134. Tsilingiri, K.; Sonzogni, A.; Caprioli, F.; Rescigno, M. A novel method for the culture and polarized stimulation of human intestinal mucosa explants. *J. Vis. Exp.* **2013**, e4368.
- 135. Vadstrup, K.; Galsgaard, E.D.; Gerwien, J.; Vester-Andersen, M.K.; Pedersen, J.S.; Rasmussen, J.; Neermark, S.; Kiszka-Kanowitz, M.; Jensen, T.; Bendtsen, F. Validation and optimization of an ex vivo assay of intestinal mucosal biopsies in Crohn's disease: Reflects inflammation and drug effects. *PLoS One* **2016**, *11*, e0155335.
- 136. Sjöberg, Å.; Lutz, M.; Tannergren, C.; Wingolf, C.; Borde, A.; Ungell, A.-L. Comprehensive study on regional human intestinal permeability and prediction of fraction absorbed of drugs using the Ussing chamber technique. *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.* 2013, 48, 166–180.
- 137. Geraedts, M.C.P.; Troost, F.J.; De Ridder, R.J.; Bodelier, A.G.L.; Masclee, A.A.M.; Saris, W.H.M. Validation of Ussing chamber technology to study satiety hormone release from human duodenal specimens. *Obesity* **2012**, *20*, 678–682.
- 138. Wood, M.W.; Breitschwerdt, E.B.; Nordone, S.K.; Linder, K.E.; Gookin, J.L. Uropathogenic E. coli Promote a Paracellular Urothelial Barrier Defect Characterized by Altered Tight Junction Integrity, Epithelial Cell Sloughing and Cytokine Release. *J. Comp. Pathol.* **2012**, *147*, 11–19.
- 139. Ray, S.; Bagchi, D.; Lim, P.M.; Bagchi, M.; Gross, S.M.; Kothari, S.C.; Preuss, H.G.; Stohs, S.J. Acute and long-term safety evaluation of a novel IH636 grape seed proanthocyanidin extract. *Res. Commun. Mol. Pathol. Pharmacol.* **2001**, *109*, 165–197.
- 140. Yamakoshi, J.; Saito, M.; Kataoka, S.; Kikuchi, M. Safety evaluation of proanthocyanidin-rich extract from grape seeds. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* **2002**, *40*, 599–607.
- 141. Lluís, L.; Muñoz, M.; Rosa Nogués, M.; Sánchez-Martos, V.; Romeu, M.; Giralt, M.; Valls, J.; Solà, R. Toxicology evaluation of a procyanidin-rich extract from grape skins and seeds. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* **2011**, *49*, 1450–1454.
- 142. Koláček, M.; Muchová, J.; Dvořáková, M.; Paduchová, Z.; Žitňanová, I.; Čierna, I.; Országhová, Z.; Székyová, D.; Jajcaiová-Zedníčková, N.; Kovács, L.; et al. Effect of natural polyphenols (Pycnogenol) on oxidative stress markers in children suffering from Crohn's disease-a pilot study. *Free Radic. Res.* **2013**, *47*, 624–634.

- 143. Wong, X.; Madrid, A.M.; Tralma, K.; Castillo, R.; Carrasco-Pozo, C.; Navarrete, P.; Beltrán, C.; Pastene, E.; Gotteland, M. Polyphenol extracts interfere with bacterial lipopolysaccharide in vitro and decrease postprandial endotoxemia in human volunteers. *J. Funct. Foods* **2016**, *26*, 406–417.
- 144. Cani, P.D.; Osto, M.; Geurts, L.; Everard, A. Involvement of gut microbiota in the development of low-grade inflammation and type 2 diabetes associated with obesity. *Gut Microbes* **2012**, *3*, 279–88.
- 145. Butler, L.G. Effects of Condensed Tannin on Animal Nutrition. In *Chemistry and Significance of Condensed Tannins*; Springer US, 1989; pp. 391–402.
- 146. Chung, K.T.; Wong, T.Y.; Wei, C.I.; Huang, Y.W.; Lin, Y. Tannins and human health: A review. *Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr.* **1998**, *38*, 421–464.
- 147. Brás, N.F.; Gonçalves, R.; Fernandes, P.A.; Mateus, N.; Ramos, M.J.; De Freitas, V. Understanding the binding of procyanidins to pancreatic elastase by experimental and computational methods. *Biochemistry* **2010**, *49*, 5097–5108.
- 148. De Freitas, V.; Mateus, N. Structural features of procyanidin interactions with salivary proteins. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2001**, *49*, 940–945.
- Zhu, W.; Xiong, L.; Peng, J.; Deng, X.; Gao, J.; Li, C.M. Molecular Insight into Affinities of Gallated and Nongallated Proanthocyanidins Dimers to Lipid Bilayers. *Sci. Rep.* 2016, *6*, 37680.
- 150. Verstraeten, S. V.; Jaggers, G.K.; Fraga, C.G.; Oteiza, P.I. Procyanidins can interact with Caco-2 cell membrane lipid rafts: Involvement of cholesterol. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Biomembr.* **2013**, *1828*, 2646–2653.
- 151. Rice-Evans, C.A.; Miller, N.J.; Paganga, G. Antioxidant properties of phenolic compounds. *Trends Plant Sci.* **1997**, *2*, 152–159.
- 152. Ohishi, T.; Goto, S.; Monira, P.; Isemura, M.; Nakamura, Y. Anti-inflammatory Action of Green Tea. *Antiinflamm. Antiallergy. Agents Med. Chem.* **2016**, *15*, 74–90.
- 153. Nabavi, S.; Sureda, A.; Daglia, M.; Rezaei, P.; Nabavi, S. Anti-Oxidative Polyphenolic Compounds of Cocoa. *Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol.* **2015**, *16*, 891–901.
- 154. Bagchi, D.; Garg, A.; Krohn, R.L.; Bagchi, M.; Tran, M.X.; Stohs, S.J. Oxygen free radical scavenging abilities of vitamins C and E, and a grape seed proanthocyanidin extract in vitro. *Res. Commun. Mol. Pathol. Pharmacol.* **1997**, *95*, 179–89.
- 155. Bagchi, D.; Garg, A.; Krohn, R.L.; Bagchi, M.; Bagchi, D.J.; Balmoori, J.; Stohs, S.J. Protective effects of grape seed proanthocyanidins and selected antioxidants against TPA-induced hepatic and brain lipid peroxidation and DNA fragmentation, and peritoneal macrophage activation in mice. *Gen. Pharmacol.* **1998**, *30*, 771–6.
- 156. Lin, Y.L.; Lin, J.K. (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate blocks the induction of nitric oxide synthase by down-regulating lipopolysaccharide-induced activity of transcription

factor nuclear factor-κB. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **1997**, *52*, 465–472.

- 157. Park, Y.C.; Rimbach, G.; Saliou, C.; Valacchi, G.; Packer, L. Activity of monomeric, dimeric, and trimeric flavonoids on NO production, TNF-α secretion, and NF-κBdependent gene expression in RAW 264.7 macrophages. *FEBS Lett.* **2000**, *465*, 93– 97.
- 158. Puiggròs, F.; Llópiz, N.; Ardévol, A.; Bladé, C.; Arola, L.; Salvadó, M.J. Grape Seed Procyanidins Prevent Oxidative Injury by Modulating the Expression of Antioxidant Enzyme Systems. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2005**, *53*, 6080–6086.
- 159. Rodríguez-Ramiro, I.; Ramos, S.; Bravo, L.; Goya, L.; Martín, M.Á. Procyanidin B2 induces Nrf2 translocation and glutathione S-transferase P1 expression via ERKs and p38-MAPK pathways and protect human colonic cells against oxidative stress. *Eur. J. Nutr.* **2012**, *51*, 881–892.
- 160. Mackenzie, G.G.; Carrasquedo, F.; Delfino, J.M.; Keen, C.L.; Fraga, C.G.; Oteiza, P.I. Epicatechin, catechin, and dimeric procyanidins inhibit PMA-induced NF-kappaB activation at multiple steps in Jurkat T cells. *FASEB J.* **2004**, *18*, 167–169.
- 161. Mackenzie, G.G.; Delfino, J.M.; Keen, C.L.; Fraga, C.G.; Oteiza, P.I. Dimeric procyanidins are inhibitors of NF-κB-DNA binding. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* **2009**, *78*, 1252–1262.
- 162. Kim, E.K.; Choi, E.J. Compromised MAPK signaling in human diseases: an update. *Arch. Toxicol.* **2015**, *89*, 867–882.
- 163. Olson, C.M.; Hedrick, M.N.; Izadi, H.; Bates, T.C.; Olivera, E.R.; Anguita, J. p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase controls NF-κB transcriptional activation and tumor necrosis factor alpha production through RelA phosphorylation mediated by mitogen- and stress-activated protein kinase 1 in response to Borrelia burgdorferi antigens. *Infect. Immun.* **2007**, *75*, 270–277.
- 164. Saha, R.N.; Jana, M.; Pahan, K. MAPK p38 Regulates Transcriptional Activity of NFκB in Primary Human Astrocytes via Acetylation of p65. *J. Immunol.* 2007, 179, 7101–7109.
- 165. Da Silva, M.; Jaggers, G.K.; Verstraeten, S. V.; Erlejman, A.G.; Fraga, C.G.; Oteiza, P.I. Large procyanidins prevent bile-acid-induced oxidant production and membraneinitiated ERK1/2, p38, and Akt activation in Caco-2 cells. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **2012**, *52*, 151–159.
- 166. Xing, J.; Li, R.; Li, N.; Zhang, J.; Li, Y.; Gong, P.; Gao, D.; Liu, H.; Zhang, Y. Antiinflammatory effect of procyanidin B1 on LPS-treated THP1 cells via interaction with the TLR4–MD-2 heterodimer and p38 MAPK and NF-κB signaling. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* **2015**, *407*, 89–95.
- 167. Loboda, A.; Damulewicz, M.; Pyza, E.; Jozkowicz, A.; Dulak, J. Role of Nrf2/HO-1 system in development, oxidative stress response and diseases: an evolutionarily conserved mechanism. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* **2016**, *73*, 3221–3247.

- 168. Bak, M.-J.; Jun, M.; Jeong, W.-S. Procyanidins from Wild Grape (Vitis amurensis) Seeds Regulate ARE-Mediated Enzyme Expression via Nrf2 Coupled with p38 and PI3K/Akt Pathway in HepG2 Cells. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2012**, *13*, 801–818.
- 169. Lu, J.; Jiang, H.; Liu, B.; Baiyun, R.; Li, S.; Lv, Y.; Li, D.; Qiao, S.; Tan, X.; Zhang, Z. Grape seed procyanidin extract protects against Pb-induced lung toxicity by activating the AMPK/Nrf2/p62 signaling axis. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* **2018**, *116*, 59–69.
- 170. Wang, B.H.; Lai Yeap, F.; Polya, G.M. Differential inhibition of eukaryote protein kinases by condensed tannins. *Phytochemistry* **1996**, *43*, 359–365.
- 171. Contreras, T.C.; Ricciardi, E.; Cremonini, E.; Oteiza, P.I. (-)-Epicatechin in the prevention of tumor necrosis alpha-induced loss of Caco-2 cell barrier integrity. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **2015**, *573*, 84–91.
- 172. Delehanty, J.B.; Johnson, B.J.; Hickey, T.E.; Pons, T.; Ligler, F.S. Binding and Neutralization of Lipopolysaccharides by Plant Proanthocyanidins. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2007**, *70*, 1718–1724.
- 173. Williams, A.R.; Klaver, E.J.; Laan, L.C.; Ramsay, A.; Fryganas, C.; Difborg, R.; Kringel, H.; Reed, J.D.; Mueller-Harvey, I.; Skov, S.; et al. Co-operative suppression of inflammatory responses in human dendritic cells by plant proanthocyanidins and products from the parasitic nematode Trichuris suis. *Immunology* **2017**, *150*, 312–328.
- 174. Cardona, F.; Andrés-Lacueva, C.; Tulipani, S.; Tinahones, F.J.; Queipo-Ortuño, M.I. Benefits of polyphenols on gut microbiota and implications in human health. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* **2013**, *24*, 1415–1422.
- 175. Cueva, C.; Sánchez-Patán, F.; Monagas, M.; Walton, G.E.; Gibson, G.R.; Martín-Álvarez, P.J.; Bartolomé, B.; Moreno-Arribas, M.V. In vitro fermentation of grape seed flavan-3-ol fractions by human faecal microbiota: Changes in microbial groups and phenolic metabolites. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 2013, *83*, 792–805.
- 176. Anhê, F.F.; Pilon, G.; Roy, D.; Desjardins, Y.; Levy, E.; Marette, A. Triggering Akkermansia with dietary polyphenols: A new weapon to combat the metabolic syndrome? *Gut Microbes* **2016**, *7*, 146–153.
- 177. Xing, Y.-W.; Lei, G.-T.; Wu, Q.-H.; Jiang, Y.; Huang, M.-X. Procyanidin B2 protects against diet-induced obesity and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease *via* the modulation of the gut microbiota in rabbits. *World J. Gastroenterol.* **2019**, *25*, 955–966.
- 178. Tao, W.; Zhang, Y.; Shen, X.; Cao, Y.; Shi, J.; Ye, X.; Chen, S. Rethinking the Mechanism of the Health Benefits of Proanthocyanidins: Absorption, Metabolism, and Interaction with Gut Microbiota. *Compr. Rev. Food Sci. Food Saf.* **2019**, 1541-4337.12444.
- 179. Casanova-Martí, À.; Serrano, J.; Portune, K.J.; Sanz, Y.; Blay, M.T.; Terra, X.; Ardévol, A.; Pinent, M. Grape seed proanthocyanidins influence gut microbiota and

enteroendocrine secretions in female rats. Food Funct. 2018, 9, 1672–1682.

- 180. Everard, A.; Belzer, C.; Geurts, L.; Ouwerkerk, J.P.; Druart, C.; Bindels, L.B.; Guiot, Y.; Derrien, M.; Muccioli, G.G.; Delzenne, N.M.; et al. Cross-talk between Akkermansia muciniphila and intestinal epithelium controls diet-induced obesity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2013**, *110*, 9066–9071.
- 181. Gotteland, M.; Andrews, M.; Toledo, M.; Muñoz, L.; Caceres, P.; Anziani, A.; Wittig, E.; Speisky, H.; Salazar, G. Modulation of Helicobacter pylori colonization with cranberry juice and Lactobacillus johnsonii La1 in children. *Nutrition* **2008**, *24*, 421–426.
- 182. Pastene, E.; Parada, V.; Avello, M.; Ruiz, A.; García, A. Catechin-based Procyanidins from peumus boldus mol. aqueous extract inhibit helicobacter pylori urease and adherence to adenocarcinoma gastric cells. *Phyther. Res.* **2014**, *28*, 1637–1645.
- 183. Mena, P.; Bresciani, L.; Brindani, N.; Ludwig, I.A.; Pereira-Caro, G.; Angelino, D.; Llorach, R.; Calani, L.; Brighenti, F.; Clifford, M.N.; et al. Phenyl-γ-valerolactones and phenylvaleric acids, the main colonic metabolites of flavan-3-ols: Synthesis, analysis, bioavailability, and bioactivity. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **2019**, *36*, 714–752.

# II. Hypothesis and Objectives

The integrity of the intestinal barrier has been recognized of relevance for health and disease, and is a topic garnering increasing attention [1]. PACs have been identified as powerful antioxidant and anti-inflammatory bioactive compounds that exert beneficial effects against intestinal inflammation and permeability provoked by nutritional factors [2,3] and colitis-inducing chemicals [4,5] in preclinical studies.

Our research group's development of a successful rat model of CAF diet-induced obesity with intestinal dysfunction [6] allowed us to test the efficacy of the oral administration of GSPE as a therapeutic approach in the context of a Western-style diet (CAF diet) [2,3]. Gil-Cardoso et al. [2] found that nutritional doses subchronically administered in these animals at the end of a long-term CAF diet ameliorated the oxidative stress and inflammation produced in the small intestine by this nutritional intervention. This study also suggested the amelioration of the barrier integrity in the ileum, although it was evaluated indirectly by the analysis of changes in the expression of protein genes involved in the maintenance of epithelial junctional complexes. In a further study [3], pharmacological doses of GSPE proved to be effective against intestinal dysfunction and metabolic endotoxemia in CAF-diet fed rats when co-administered or administered preventively. This detrimental effect of a CAF diet on the integrity of the intestinal epithelium has been described as a multifactorial process driven by dysbiosis [7] and by the exposure of intestinal tissues to several proinflammatory nutritional factors, including saturated fats [8]. In this regard, the consumption of large amounts of fructose, a major component of the CAF diet, has also been proposed as a potential inductor of intestinal barrier disruption [9] and chronic diseases in mammals [10], although its effects on human health are still a matter of controversy [11]. Therefore, the detrimental effects of a CAF diet on the intestine could be partially driven by fructose.

Research on PACs in the context of chronic disease is still at the preclinical stage, and most of the data available has been provided by studies with experimental animals and cell lines. Therefore, one of the most important findings to emerge from our literature review (**Manuscript 1** [12]) was the limited availability of data regarding the influence of PACs on intestinal health in humans. It has been reported that an oral dose of GSPE can prevent the acute increase in plasma endotoxin levels associated with a high-fat meal in obese adults [13] and this could indicate the reinforcement of the intestinal barrier.

Based on the above, we hypothesized that **the administration of pharmacological doses of GSPE as a counteractive or preventive treatment can improve the intestinal dysfunction and metabolic endotoxemia provoked by nutritional factors associated with the Western diet and can be beneficial to human intestinal health in the context of acute dysfunction.** 

To assess the validity of this hypothesis, as the overall objective of this thesis we proposed to evaluate the impact of GSPE on intestinal barrier function alterations, local inflammation and metabolic endotoxemia in preclinical models of intestinal dysfunction and to investigate its effectiveness in humans.

To meet this overarching objective, we established a set of specific objectives:

- 1. To test the efficacy of orally administered pharmacological doses of GSPE in reversing intestinal dysfunction and metabolic endotoxemia induced by a long-term CAF diet in obese rats and to perform a comprehensive analysis of changes in the intestinal barrier function and inflammatory response through the implementation of *in vivo* and *ex vivo* protocols.
- 2. To explore the impact of high concentrations of fructose on the barrier function and inflammatory response in a cell culture-based model of human

intestinal epithelium and to assess the influence of GSPE on its putative detrimental effects.

3. To gain insight into the influence of GSPE on human intestinal health, evaluating its effectiveness in the prevention of intestinal mucosa alterations using an *ex vivo* model of acute colonic dysfunction produced by a colitis-inducing chemical.

This research was supported by the MoBioFood Research Group of the Department of Biochemistry and Biotechnology of Universitat Rovira i Virgili. The experimental work was funded by the Spanish Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad, grants AGL2014-55347-R, AGL2017-83477-R, and grant 2014LINE-06 from the URV-Banco Santander. Carlos Alberto González Quilen received financial support through a FI-AGAUR grant from the Generalitat de Catalunya.

#### References

- 1. Bischoff, S.C.; Barbara, G.; Buurman, W.; Ockhuizen, T.; Schulzke, J.D.; Serino, M.; Tilg, H.; Watson, A.; Wells, J.M. Intestinal permeability a new target for disease prevention and therapy. *BMC Gastroenterol.* **2014**, *14*, 189.
- 2. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Arola, L.; Blay, M.; Terra, X. Chronic supplementation with dietary proanthocyanidins protects from diet-induced intestinal alterations in obese rats. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2017**, *61*, 1601039.
- 3. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Blay, M.; Terra, X. The coadministration of proanthocyanidins and an obesogenic diet prevents the increase in intestinal permeability and metabolic endotoxemia derived to the diet. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* **2018**, *62*, 35–42.
- 4. Wang, Y.-H.; Yang, X.-L.; Wang, L.; Cui, M.-X.; Cai, Y.-Q.; Li, X.-L.; Wu, Y.-J. Effects of proanthocyanidins from grape seed on treatment of recurrent ulcerative colitis in rats. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* **2010**, *88*, 888–98.
- Li, X.; Yang, X.; Cai, Y.; Qin, H.; Wang, L.; Wang, Y.; Huang, Y.; Wang, X.; Yan, S.; Wang, L.; et al. Proanthocyanidins from Grape Seeds Modulate the NF-κB Signal Transduction Pathways in Rats with TNBS-Induced Ulcerative Colitis. *Molecules* 2011, *16*, 6721–6731.
- 6. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Terra, X.; Blay, M. A cafeteria diet triggers intestinal inflammation and oxidative stress in obese rats. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2017**,

117, 218–229.

- 7. Murphy, E.A.; Velazquez, K.T.; Herbert, K.M. Influence of high-fat diet on gut microbiota: A driving force for chronic disease risk. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* **2015**, *18*, 515–520.
- 8. Huang, S.; Rutkowsky, J.M.; Snodgrass, R.G.; Ono-Moore, K.D.; Schneider, D.A.; Newman, J.W.; Adams, S.H.; Hwang, D.H. Saturated fatty acids activate TLR-mediated proinflammatory signaling pathways. *J. Lipid Res.* **2012**, *53*, 2002–2013.
- Johnson, R.J.; Rivard, C.; Lanaspa, M.A.; Otabachian-Smith, S.; Ishimoto, T.; Cicerchi, C.; Cheeke, P.R.; McIntosh, B.; Hess, T. Fructokinase, Fructans, Intestinal Permeability, and Metabolic Syndrome: An Equine Connection? *J. Equine Vet. Sci.* 2013, *33*, 120–126.
- 10. Kavanagh, K.; Wylie, A.T.; Tucker, K.L.; Hamp, T.J.; Gharaibeh, R.Z.; Fodor, A.A.; Cullen, J.M. Dietary fructose induces endotoxemia and hepatic injury in calorically controlled primates. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2013**, *98*, 349–357.
- 11. Stanhope, K.L. Sugar consumption, metabolic disease and obesity: The state of the controversy. *Crit. Rev. Clin. Lab. Sci.* **2016**, *53*, 52–67.
- 12. González-Quilen; Rodríguez-Gallego; Beltrán-Debón; Pinent; Ardévol; Blay; Terra Health-Promoting Properties of Proanthocyanidins for Intestinal Dysfunction. *Nutrients* **2020**, *12*, 130.
- 13. Wong, X.; Madrid, A.M.; Tralma, K.; Castillo, R.; Carrasco-Pozo, C.; Navarrete, P.; Beltrán, C.; Pastene, E.; Gotteland, M. Polyphenol extracts interfere with bacterial lipopolysaccharide in vitro and decrease postprandial endotoxemia in human volunteers. *J. Funct. Foods* **2016**, *26*, 406–417.

# **III. Results**

## 1. *In Vivo* and *in Vitro* Studies of Intestinal Dysfunction Induced by Nutritional Factors

In the first part of this Results section, we present two studies that tested the therapeutic properties of GSPE in the context of the intestinal dysfunction associated with the Western diet:

- In the study described in Manuscript 2, pharmacological doses of GSPE were co-administered to CAF-diet fed Wistar rats for 15 days at the end of a 17-week diet intervention. This study aimed to explore the impact of GSPE on intestinal permeability and inflammatory markers by means of both *in vivo* and *ex vivo* techniques and its effectiveness in reversing metabolic endotoxemia.
- In the study described in Manuscript 3, the effect of high concentrations of fructose accessible in the context of the CAF diet were evaluated in the barrier function and inflammatory response of human colon carcinoma Caco-2 cell monolayers. The influence of GSPE on fructose-induced detrimental effects was also assessed.



#### Published in Nutrients (MDPI)

April 2019; 11(5): 979. DOI: 10.3390/nu11050979

### Grape-Seed Proanthocyanidins are Able to Reverse Intestinal Dysfunction and Metabolic Endotoxemia Induced by a Cafeteria Diet in Wistar Rats

By Carlos González-Quilen, Katherine Gil-Cardoso, Iris Ginés, Raúl Beltrán-Debón, Montserrat Pinent, Anna Ardévol, Ximena Terra and M. Teresa Blay

MoBioFood Research Group, Departament de Bioquímica i Biotecnologia, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, 43007 Tarragona, Spain

Abstract: We evaluated the effectiveness of pharmacological doses of grape-seed proanthocyanidin extract (GSPE) in reversing intestinal barrier alterations and local inflammation in female Wistar rats fed a long-term obesogenic diet. Animals were fed a 17-week cafeteria diet (CAF diet), supplemented with daily GSPE doses (100 or 500 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> body weight) during the final two weeks. CAF diet enhanced the intestinal permeation of an orally administered marker (ovalbumin, OVA) and increased the plasma levels of tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and lipopolysaccharides (LPS) in 2–3-fold. *Ex vivo* Ussing chamber assays showed a 55– 70% reduction in transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) and increased the TNF- $\alpha$  secretions in both small and large intestinal sections with a 25-fold increment in the ileum. Ileal tissues also presented a 4-fold increase of myeloperoxidase (MPO) activity. Both GSPE-treatments were able to restitute TEER values in the ileum and colon and to reduce plasma LPS to basal levels without a dose-dependent effect. However, effects on the OVA permeation and TNF- $\alpha$  secretion were dose and section-specific. GSPE also reduced ileal MPO activity and upregulated claudin 1 gene expression. This study provides evidence of the efficacy of GSPE-supplementation ameliorating diet-induced intestinal

dysfunction and metabolic endotoxemia when administered at the end of a longterm obesogenic diet.

**Keywords**: flavan-3-ol; gut; inflammation; obesity; tight junction; Ussing chamber; transepithelial electrical resistance

#### 1. Introduction

It has been reported that there is a causal relationship between pathophysiological changes in the intestinal epithelium and obesity in animal models and humans [1–3]. Studies aiming to identify natural compounds that modulate intestinal alterations in obesity are therefore promising future therapeutic strategies [2,4].

The rising prevalence of obesity in Western societies and developing countries is a serious public health concern that, in part, results from the consumption of unbalanced hypercaloric diets [5,6]. High-saturated fat/high refined-carbohydrate diets, that are low in fiber and plant flavonoids, induce not only weight gain in humans and laboratory animals, but also alterations in gut microbiota (dysbiosis) [7–9] and intestinal dysfunction (increased permeability and local inflammation) [10].

Increased intestinal permeability leads to a higher flow of intestinal endotoxins, e.g., lipopolysaccharides (LPS) deriving from luminal gram-negative bacteria, to the inner intestinal layers [11–13]. This causes a local inflammatory response in the intestine that aggravates barrier function deficiency in a vicious cycle. When LPS reaches the general circulation due to the inability of the intestinal immune response to neutralize it, it can spread systemically causing metabolic endotoxemia and obesity-related complications such as adipose tissue dysfunction as well as systemic low-grade inflammation [14].

Intestinal permeability and inflammatory response are site-specific processes, i.e., the small and large intestines behave in different ways in terms of permeability increase and susceptibility to inflammation [15,16]. The duration of the dietary feeding period has a strong influence on the initiation of intestinal dysfunction and obesity in animals consuming a high-fat/high-sugar diet. Rats fed an obesogenic diet show evidence of intestinal dysfunction at 8–12 weeks [3,8,17,18]. By this time, an increment of permeability (most commonly measured as plasma concentration of an orally administered marker), proinflammatory cytokine production (TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, etc.) and myeloperoxidase (MPO) activity are evidenced in the intestinal mucosa. The downregulation of tight-junction (TJ)-related genes and proteins (zonula occludens 1, occludin and claudin 1) also occurs.

Anti-obesity treatments have proven to be of limited effectiveness. Complementary dietary strategies such as bioactive compounds with anti-obesity effects could, therefore, be an adjunctive support to current therapies and reinforce obesity treatments. Indeed, the supplementation of hypercaloric diets with flavonoid sources could become a reliable strategy for correcting the intestinal dysfunction associated with the obesogenic process [18,19]. Notably, in European countries, the average habitual intake of flavonoids is considerably below the amounts used in most dietary intervention studies [20].

Multiple studies demonstrate the beneficial effects of a grape-seed proanthocyanidin extract (GSPE) on obesity-related outcomes, including the amelioration of intestinal dysfunction [19,21–23]. Proanthocyanidins are oligomeric and polymeric flavan-3-ols, mainly constituted of catechin and epicatechin subunits. They are an important component of plant-based diets and are abundant in green tea, certain fruits and beverages and in spices such as cinnamon [24].

We have described a combination of GSPE doses and frequencies of administration that can effectively prevent some of the metabolic and intestinal alterations associated with diet-induced obesity in rats [18,23]. In a previous study, we also tested the effect of nutritional doses of the GSPE (5-50 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) after 15 weeks of cafeteria (CAF) diet administration. We evidenced a reduction of oxidative stress (reactive oxygen species and iNOS mRNA expression) and inflammatory markers (MPO activity and IL-1 $\beta$  mRNA expression) in ileal tissues, as well as the upregulation of zonula occludens 1 gene expression. Nevertheless, we found no differences in plasma LPS levels between experimental groups at these doses. Our hypothesis is that, in rats fed a CAF diet for a period of 17 weeks leading to obesity, supplementation with the GSPE at pharmacological doses during the final two weeks can reverse the diet-associated intestinal dysfunction and metabolic endotoxemia.

In this study, we determined the effectiveness of two pharmacological doses of GSPE (100 and 500 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> body weight), administered daily for two weeks at the end of a 17-week obesogenic diet. The doses and conditions of administration of the GSPE were evaluated by *in vivo* and *ex vivo* measurements in both small (duodenum and ileum) and large (colon) intestines. We focused on intestinal permeability, local inflammatory status, metabolic endotoxemia and systemic inflammation. Here, we corroborate the relationship between CAF diet consumption, metabolic endotoxemia and the associated intestinal dysfunction. Additionally, we provide evidence of the counteractive effect of GSPE on the alterations induced by a long-term CAF diet (obese animals) at the intestinal and systemic levels.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1. Grape-Seed Proanthocyanidin Extract

The grape-seed proanthocyanidin extract (GSPE) was provided by Les Dérivés Résiniques et Terpéniques (Dax, France). The GSPE administered in this study (batch number 124029) has the following composition: monomers of flavan-3-ols (21.3%), dimers (17.4%), trimers (16.3%), tetramers (13.3%) and oligomers (5–13 units; 31.7%) of proanthocyanidins. A detailed analysis of the monomeric, dimeric, and trimeric structures can be found in the work by Margalef et al. [25].

#### 2.2. Experimental Animals

Forty-seven-week-old female Wistar rats (240–270 g) purchased from Charles River Laboratories (Barcelona, Spain) were individually caged in animal quarters at 22 °C with a 12-h light/12-h dark cycle and fed a standard chow diet (STD diet; Panlab 04, Barcelona, Spain) and tap water *ad libitum*. After an acclimation period, animals were randomly distributed into four experimental groups (n=10). The control group (STD group) received only the STD diet. The other groups were fed a CAF diet as a model of high saturated-fat/high refined-carbohydrate diet until the end of the animal experiment. The CAF diet was offered ad libitum and replenished every day with a quantity that was enough for 17 weeks. CAF-fed animals also had free access to standard chow. The composition of the diets supplied is shown in **Table 1**. During the final two weeks of the CAF intervention, two CAF-diet groups received daily GSPE doses of 100 and 500 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> bw as a corrective treatment (groups CORR100 and CORR500, respectively). The GSPE was dissolved in water and orally gavaged every day to each animal at 18:00 h in a final volume of 0.5 mL. Non-supplemented animals received water as a vehicle. The experimental design is shown in **Figure 1**. All procedures involving the care and use of animals in this work were reviewed and approved by The Animals Ethics Committee of the Universitat Rovira i Virgili (code: 0152S/4655/2015).

	STD	CAF
Content (g 100 g <sup>-1</sup> dry matter)		
Available carbohydrate	48.0	62.6
Sugar	~0.0	46.0
Protein	14.3	15.1
Fat	4.0	17.2
Saturated	0.6	8.1
Fiber	4.1	1.7
Energy contribution		
kJ g <sup>-1</sup> dry matter	12.1	20.7
Carbohydrate (%)	67.2	52.0
Protein (%)	20.2	14.1
Fat (%)	12.6	33.9

**Table 1.** The composition and energy content of diets administered.

STD diet, standard chow diet; CAF diet, cafeteria diet. The CAF diet consisted of bacon, sausages, biscuits with paté, carrots, muffins, and sugared milk, which induces voluntary hyperphagia. ~, approximately.

#### 2.3. Blood and Tissue Collection

At the end of the study, the animals were fasted for 14 h, anesthetized with sodic pentobarbital (70 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> bw; Fagron Iberica, Barcelona, Spain) and exsanguinated from the abdominal aorta. The total blood was collected using heparin (Deltalab, Barcelona, Spain) as an anticoagulant. Plasma was obtained by centrifugation (1500 × g for 15 min at 4 °C) and stored at -80 °C until analysis. White adipose tissue depots were rapidly removed and weighed. The small intestine, defined as the portion of the gastrointestinal tract between the pylorus and the ileocecal valve, was dissected. Colon tissues were also removed. Five-centimeter segments of the

duodenum, ileum and colon were taken for Ussing chamber assays. Leftover segments of small and large intestines were stored at –80 °C until analysis.



**Figure 1.** The schematic diagram of the experimental design. STD group, rats fed standard chow diet; CAF group, rats fed cafeteria (CAF) diet; CORR100 group, CAF-fed rats supplemented with 100 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> body weight of grape-seed proanthocyanidin extract (GSPE); CORR500 group, CAF-fed rats supplemented with 500 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> bw of GSPE. GSPE doses were administered daily by oral gavage during the final two weeks of the animal experiment. The number of animals included in this study was n = 10 for each group.

#### 2.4. Morphometric and Biochemical Parameters

Body weight was monitored weekly until the end of the experiment. Body weight gain was calculated by subtracting the initial body weight from the final body weight. Adiposity was expressed as an adiposity index, which was based on total fat pad measurements. This was computed for each rat as previously described [26]. These variables were evaluated as physiological indicators of the degree of obesity in the experimental animals. Enzymatic colorimetric kits were used to measure the plasma levels of glucose (QCA, Amposta, Spain) and triacylglycerols (TAG) (QCA, Amposta, Spain).

#### 2.5. LPS and TNF- $\alpha$ Plasma Determinations

Plasma LPS levels were determined using a Pyrochrome lysate mix diluted in Glucashield buffer (Associates of Cape Cod, E. Falmouth, MA, USA), which inhibits cross-reactivity with  $(1 \rightarrow 3)$ - $\beta$ -d-glucans. Plasma concentrations of tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) were measured by ELISA (Merck Millipore, Madrid, Spain) with a sensitivity of 4.2 pg mL<sup>-1</sup>.

#### 2.6. Oral Intestinal Permeability Test

*In vivo* intestinal permeability was assessed using the ovalbumin (OVA) test at 17 weeks, for which the animals were previously fasted for four hours. OVA (Sigma-Aldrich, Madrid, Spain) was administered by oral gavage at 250 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> bw in a final volume of 0.5 mL of phosphate buffer solution. One hour later, blood was collected from the saphenous vein, then heparinized and centrifuged (12,000 × g for 10 min at 4 °C). Plasma OVA levels were determined by ELISA (MyBioSource, Madrid, Spain) with a detection range of 16–10,000 pg mL<sup>-1</sup>.

# 2.7. Ex Vivo Assessment of Intestinal Dysfunction: Intestinal Barrier Integrity and Local Inflammation

*Ex vivo* intestinal permeability and local inflammation were evaluated in an Ussing chamber system (Dipl.-Ing. Mußler Scientific Instruments, Aachen, Germany) by measuring transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) and TNF- $\alpha$  secretions in the basolateral medium. At the end of the experiment, fresh intestinal tissues (duodenum, ileum and colon) were immediately placed in a cold oxygenated Krebs-Ringer bicarbonate buffer (KRB buffer), dissected to remove serosal and muscular layers, and placed on 0.237 cm<sup>2</sup> aperture Ussing chambers. Mucosal preparations were mounted within 10 min following euthanasia and apically and basolaterally

bathed with 1.5 mL of the KRB buffer. The basolateral bathing solution, which contained 10 mM of glucose (Panreac, Barcelona, Spain), was osmotically balanced on the apical compartment with 10 mM of mannitol (Sigma, Madrid, Spain). Bathing solutions were oxygenated and circulated in water-jacketed reservoirs maintained at 37 °C. The transepithelial potential difference (PD) was short-circuited through Ag-AgCl electrodes with a voltage clamp that corrected for fluid resistance. TEER (ohm.cm<sup>2</sup>) was calculated from the transepithelial PD and short-circuit current in accordance with Ohm's law.

After a 20-min equilibration period, the KRB buffer in the apical and basolateral compartments was replaced by a fresh KRB buffer containing 10 mM of glucose and protease inhibitors (10  $\mu$ M amastatin (Enzo Life Sciences, Madrid, Spain), 500 KIU aprotinin (Sigma, Madrid, Spain) and 0.1 % bovine serum albumin (BSA) fatty acid free). Mucosal preparations were incubated for an additional 30 min, after which basolateral media were collected for determining TNF- $\alpha$  secretions by ELISA (Merck Millipore, Madrid, Spain).

#### 2.8. Quantification of MPO Activity in the Ileum

MPO activity was used as an indicator of neutrophil accumulation in the rat ileum. Tissue samples were homogenized with a TissueLyser LT system (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) in 50 mM of potassium phosphate buffer (Panreac, Barcelona, Spain). The homogenate was centrifuged at 15,000 × g for 15 min at 4 °C, and the resulting supernatant was discarded. The pellet was then homogenized with hexadecyltrimethylammonium bromide (HTBA) (Sigma-Aldrich, Madrid, Spain) and 50 mM of potassium phosphate buffer. The homogenate was sonicated (20 s), subjected to three freeze-thaw cycles, and centrifuged at 15,000 × g for 10 min at 4 °C. To determine MPO activity we used an adaptation of the Lenoir method [27]. The supernatant was mixed into a solution of a phosphate buffer, 0.22% guaiacol (Sigma-Aldrich, Madrid, Spain) and 0.3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (Sigma-Aldrich, Madrid, Spain), and
the absorbance was read at 470 nm. MPO activity was expressed as U per mg of protein in the final fraction.

#### 2.9. Tissue RNA Extraction and Gene Expression Analysis by RT-qPCR

The total RNA was extracted from 50 mg of ileum using TRIzol reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. Complementary DNA (cDNA) was obtained from 1 µg of mRNA using the High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription kit (Applied Biosystems, Madrid, Spain) following the manufacturer's instructions. Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) amplification and detection were performed in a qPCR system (Applied Biosystems, Madrid, Spain) using the TaqMan Universal PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Madrid, Spain) and the respective specific TaqMan probes (Applied Biosystems, Madrid, Spain): Rn02116071\_s1 for zonula occludens 1 (*Tip*1), Rn00587389\_m1 for junctional adhesion molecule 1 (F11r). Rn00581740\_m1 for claudin 1 (*Cldn1*), Rn02063575\_s1 for claudin 2 (*Cldn2*). The results were normalized with respect to the cyclophilin A gene (Ppia) (Rn00690933 m1). Reactions were performed using the following thermal profile: 2 min at 50 °C, 2 min at 95 °C, and 40 cycles of 15 s at 95 °C and 2 min at 60 °C. The relative mRNA expression levels were calculated following the  $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$  method [28], where  $\Delta Ct = Ct$  gene of interest – Ct cyclophilin and  $\Delta \Delta Ct =$  $\Delta Ct$  treated samples – the mean of  $\Delta Ct$  control samples.

# 2.10. Statistical Analysis

Results are expressed as the mean value ± the standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical comparisons between groups were assessed by a two-sided Student's *t*test or ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD test when the variances were equal and Dunnett's T3 test when they were not. *P*-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. Analyses were performed with IBM SPSS statistics 22 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

# 3. Results

# 3.1. Morphometric and Biochemical Parameters

Here, we tested the GSPE supplementation (100 and 500 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> bw per day) in Wistar rats during the final two weeks of a 17-week CAF diet. Morphometric and biochemical parameters are presented in **Table 2**. To assess the influence of the GSPE treatment on the CAF-diet detrimental effects, we first tested its effectiveness in controlling body weight and adiposity. GSPE-supplementation did not bring about any change in the final body weight or adiposity index compared to the CAF group, even though the body weight gain of the CORR500 group showed a statistically significant reduction.

**Table 2.** The morphometric and biochemical parameters in experimental groups at 17weeks.

	STD	CAF	CORR100	CORR500
Morphometric parameters				
Initial body weight (g)	220.7 ± 4.5	216.6 ± 3.5	221.4 ± 5.3	219.6 ± 3.3
Final body weight (g)	273.7 ± 7.8 <sup>a</sup>	346.2 ± 12.0 <sup>b</sup>	358.7 ± 13.3 <sup>b</sup>	332.7 ± 14.0 <sup>b</sup>
Body weight gain (g)	48.4 ± 3.4 ª	131.3 ± 12.2 <sup>c</sup>	106.7 ± 12.4 <sup>b,c</sup>	89.6 ± 6.7 <sup>a,b</sup>
Adiposity (%)	5.6 ± 0.5 ª	11.8 ± 0.8 <sup>b</sup>	$12.0 \pm 1.0$ <sup>b</sup>	11.3 ± 4.9 <sup>b</sup>
<b>Biochemical parameters</b>				
Glucose (mM)	$8.9 \pm 0.7$	$10.2 \pm 0.1$	11.5 ± 1.0	$10.4 \pm 0.4$
Triacylglycerols (mM)	$0.41 \pm 0.1$	$0.57 \pm 0.1$	$0.45 \pm 0.1$	$0.46 \pm 0.1$

STD group, rats fed standard chow diet; CAF group, rats fed cafeteria (CAF) diet; CORR100 group, CAF-fed rats supplemented with a 100 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> body weight of grape-seed proanthocyanidin extract (GSPE); CORR500 group, CAF-fed rats supplemented with a 500 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> bw of GSPE. The number of animals included in this study was n = 10 for each group. Values indicate mean ± standard error (SEM). Different letters indicate statistically

significant differences between groups (p < 0.05); ANOVA test followed by Tukey's HSD test.

Regarding biochemical parameters, GSPE-supplementation did not produce any significant changes in the glucose or triacylglycerol levels. Non-statistically significant differences were found between the CORR100 and CORR500 groups for the parameters already mentioned.

# 3.2. In Vivo Intestinal Permeability

The effects of the CAF diet and GSPE on intestinal permeability were determined *in vivo* by the measurement of OVA concentrations in plasma, 1 h after oral administration. After 17 weeks, the CAF group showed a 3-fold increase of plasma OVA levels compared to the STD group (24.2 ± 2.2 and 8.2 ± 1.7 ng mL<sup>-1</sup> respectively; **Figure 2A**). Interestingly, GSPE supplementation decreased the OVA permeation by 30–60% with respect to the CAF group, but only the CORR100 group showed a significant reduction in this parameter (9.8 ± 2.3 ng mL<sup>-1</sup>).

# 3.3. Metabolic Endotoxemia and Systemic Inflammation

The expected increased influx of the endotoxin through the intestinal epithelium of obese animals and the potential ameliorative effect of GSPE on metabolic endotoxemia were assessed by determining plasma LPS levels. The CAF group showed significantly higher LPS levels in plasma with respect to the STD group (136.9 ± 17.1 and 56.2 ± 7.7 EU mL<sup>-1</sup> respectively; **Figure 2B**). Plasma LPS levels estimated in GSPE-treated groups were comparable to the STD group (64.7 ± 10.8 and 64.1 ± 14.8 EU mL<sup>-1</sup> for CORR100 and CORR500 respectively), which represents a significant reduction with respect to the CAF group without a dose-dependent effect.



**Figure 2.** The effect of the grape-seed proanthocyanidin extract (GSPE) treatment on intestinal permeability, metabolic endotoxemia and systemic inflammation in diet-induced obese rats. Values represent mean  $\pm$  SEM; *n*=8–10. Different letters indicate the statistically significant differences between groups (*p*<0.05); ANOVA test followed by Tukey's HSD test when variances were equal and Dunnett's T3 test when they were not.

TNF- $\alpha$  was measured in plasma as a systemic inflammation marker. The CAF group showed a 3-fold increase in plasma TNF- $\alpha$  with respect to the STD group (30.9 ± 7.7 and 10 ± 2.8 pg mL<sup>-1</sup>). A non-statistically significant reduction in this marker was found in the CORR100 and CORR500 groups compared to the CAF group (17.9 ± 4.4 and 17.6 ± 4.9 pg mL<sup>-1</sup> respectively; **Figure 2C**).

# 3.4. Ex Vivo Intestinal Barrier Integrity

Barrier integrity in small and large intestine sections was evaluated in an Ussing chamber system by TEER measurements of mucosal preparations from all experimental groups. Similar TEER values were found throughout the intestine of the STD group (24.9  $\pm$  1.8, 25.0  $\pm$  1.3 and 29.4  $\pm$  2.3 ohm.cm<sup>2</sup> for duodenum, ileum and colon respectively; **Figure 3**). TEER values in all the intestinal sections from animals fed the CAF diet were significantly lower than those from the STD group (55-70% TEER reduction).



**Figure 3.** The effect of the GSPE treatment on the intestinal barrier integrity of small and large intestines in diet-induced obese rats. TEER (transepithelial electric resistance) values were estimated from fresh duodenal, ileal and colonic mucosal preparations mounted in an Ussing chamber system. Values represent mean  $\pm$  SEM; *n*=8–10. Different letters indicate statistically significant differences between groups (*p*<0.05); ANOVA test followed by Tukey's HSD test when variances were equal and Dunnett's T3 test when they were not.

Notably, TEER values from the GSPE-treated groups showed a tendency to increase in the duodenum (approx. 54%; **Figure 3A**) but exhibited statistically significant increases in the ileum (approx. 107%; **Figure 3B**) and colon (approx. 180%; **Figure 3C**). Non-statistically significant differences in TEER values were found between the CORR100 and CORR500 groups.

# 3.5. The Expression of Tight Juntion Protein Genes

To evaluate the influence of GSPE-supplementation on intestinal tight-junction integrity, we analyzed the expression of the genes encoding tight junction-associated proteins in the ileum. The CORR100 and CORR500 groups showed a two-fold increase in the expression of the claudin 1 gene in comparison to the CAF group, without a dose-dependent effect (**Figure 4C**). The expression of the zonula occludens 1 (**Figure 4A**), junctional adhesion molecule 1 (**Figure 4B**) and claudin 2 (**Figure 4D**) genes did not differ significantly between experimental groups.



**Figure 4.** The effect of the GSPE treatment on tight juntion-related gene expression in the ileum of diet-induced obese rats. The expression of target genes was normalized to cyclophilin A gene expression (*Ppia*). Values represent mean  $\pm$  SEM; *n*=8–10. Different letters indicate statistically significant differences between groups (*p*<0.05); ANOVA test followed by Tukey's HSD test.

#### 3.6. Ex Vivo Intestinal Inflammation

To evaluate intestinal local inflammation, we determined the level of TNF- $\alpha$  secreted by the intestinal mucosal preparations subjected to Ussing chamber assays in the basolateral media. TNF- $\alpha$  secreted from intestinal tissues in STD diet-fed animals varied between 0.2–13.4 pg mL<sup>-1</sup>, with the highest levels released by the colon (**Figure 5**). The CAF diet promotes a significant increase in TNF- $\alpha$  secretion from all intestinal tissues in comparison to the STD group (5–20.2 pg mL<sup>-1</sup>), with the ileum being the intestinal section most susceptible to CAF intervention with a 25-fold increase in this marker (**Figure 5B**). The GSPE-treated group presented lower TNF- $\alpha$  secretions from the duodenum and colon compared

to the CAF group. Only the CORR500 treatment was able to reduce the TNF- $\alpha$  secretion to basal levels in the colon (**Figure 5C**), although both treatments were equally effective in the duodenum (**Figure 5A**). No GSPE-treatment was effective in reducing the TNF- $\alpha$  secretion from the ileum.



**Figure 5.** The effect of the GSPE treatment on the local inflammation of small and large intestines in diet-induced obese rats. TNF- $\alpha$  levels were determined from the basolateral media from the Ussing chamber after 30 min of incubation. Values represent mean ± SEM; *n*=8–10. Different letters indicate statistically significant differences between groups (*p*<0.05); ANOVA test followed by Tukey's HSD test when variances were equal and Dunnett's T3 test when they were not. \*Significant statistical differences with respect to the STD group; two-sided Student's *t*-test.

#### 3.7. Ileal MPO Activity

MPO activity was determined on ileum tissues as a marker of neutrophil accumulation. The CAF diet induced a 4-fold increase in MPO activity (7.52 and 2.0 U mg<sup>-1</sup> for the CAF and STD groups respectively). Furthermore, the GSPE treatment reduced MPO activity to levels comparable to the control STD (3.04 and 3.35 U mg<sup>-1</sup> for the CORR100 and CORR500 groups respectively) without a dose-dependent effect.

#### 3.8. Association between Metabolic Endotoxemia and Intestinal Barrier Integrity

To check the association between endotoxemia and integrity of the intestinal barrier we performed Pearson correlation tests between plasma LPS and TEER values determined *ex vivo* for each intestinal section (**Figure 6**). We found negative and statistically significant associations for these variables in all the intestinal sections studied. As shown in Figure 6, the strength of the linear relationship increased in the distal intestine.



**Figure 6.** The linear relationship between endotoxemia and TEER values in small and large intestines of rats from the STD, CAF, CORR100 and CORR500 experimental groups. The inset shows the Pearson's *r* correlation and the corresponding *p*-value; n=23. p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### 4. Discussion

The intestinal barrier plays a major role in protecting the organism against foreign agents. Its function can be compromised by chronic exposure to diet-related components such as saturated fats and refined carbohydrates [10]. These alterations promote the influx of bacterial endotoxins (i.e., LPS) and exacerbate the immune response. The subsequent systemic inflammation has been associated with obesity-related pathologies [11,13].

#### Manuscript 2

Phytochemicals such as flavonoids have been shown to reduce intestinal alterations induced by high saturated-fat/high refined-carbohydrate diets. In this regard, we have found that proanthocyanidins are able to attenuate or even prevent diet-induced alterations to the intestinal barrier and local inflammation [18]. We hypothesized that pharmacological doses of GSPE (100 and 500 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> bw) may reverse some of the detrimental effects of a long-term obesogenic diet, ameliorating intestinal dysfunction.

We designed an experiment in which diet-induced obese rats received pharmacological doses of GSPE daily for two weeks. Initially, the animals were fed a typical CAF diet, a highly palatable and hypercaloric diet that resembles the Western human diet [29]. The CAF diet is considered a robust inductor of obesity because it is rich in refined carbohydrates as well as saturated fats. In this study, the CAF diet-induced voluntary hyperphagia, resulting in the rapid weight gain and an increased adiposity index compared to animals fed the control STD diet. Similar results have previously been reported in this animal model [3,18,19].

To assess the intestinal barrier permeability and local inflammation we analyzed multiple markers at the end of the experiment. Our results showed lower TEER values in both the small and large intestines and higher levels of plasma OVA in CAF-fed rats after 17 weeks, suggesting a decrease in intestinal epithelial integrity and enhanced paracellular transport. Interestingly, GSPE supplemented animals evidenced the restitution of the intestinal epithelium's integrity, particularly in the ileum and colon. We also found a significant reduction of the paracellular transportation as a result of CORR100 administration and a tendency toward the reduction in response to CORR500. Thus, GSPE-treatments exerted a clear beneficial effect in the permeability of distal sections of the intestine. Accordingly, a favorable effect of GSPE on the intestinal barrier function was found in a study performed with IL-10-deficient mice that develop spontaneous colitis [30]. In this study, the supplementation with GSPE 0.1% (w v<sup>-1</sup>) in drinking water for 10 weeks

reduced significantly *in vivo* permeation of fluorescently-labeled dextran to the blood after an oral load.

Ex vivo assays also showed that intestinal tissues from animals fed the CAF diet released higher levels of TNF- $\alpha$ . This proinflammatory cytokine is a key mediator of intestinal inflammation that induces TJ opening via myosin light-chain kinase phosphorylation to enhance paracellular flux [31]. Clinical and experimental studies have demonstrated that defects in the intestinal TJs and increased permeability are present in various intestinal and systemic diseases [32]. In the present work, both GSPE-treatments exerted an anti-inflammatory effect on duodenal tissues, reducing TNF- $\alpha$  secretions to basal levels. Nevertheless, only in colon tissues, CORR500 was able to reverse proinflammatory cytokine production. Previous studies have revealed the critical role of the ileum in the pathogenesis of chronic intestinal diseases associated with intestinal permeability alterations and local inflammation [33]. GSPE supplementation did not significantly alter TNF- $\alpha$ secretion from the ileum, but it did promote a decrease in CAF diet-induced neutrophil infiltration as indicated by the reduction in MPO activity. MPO is a key component of oxygen-dependent microbial activity by neutrophils, but it has also been linked to tissue damage in acute or chronic inflammation [34]. In agreement with these findings, a study performed on a rat model of spontaneous inflammatory bowel disease (HLA-B27) found that diet supplementation with 7.6% (w w<sup>-1</sup>) of lyophilized apples rich in flavan-3-ol monomers and proanthocyanidins (2.8 and 26.1 mg g<sup>-1</sup> respectively), reduced MPO activity along with cyclooxygenase-2 and inducible nitric oxide synthase gene expression in intestinal tissues [35].

Regarding inflammatory parameters, plasma LPS were markedly elevated in the CAF-group at the end of the experiment. Under normal conditions, the presence of LPS in the intestinal lumen does not cause adverse health effects. Nevertheless, the loss of intestinal barrier integrity associated with the consumption of saturated fat/high-sugar diets may favor LPS penetration through the intestinal epithelium

to the blood [11]. Two- to three-fold increases in levels of LPS in plasma trigger metabolic endotoxemia, and this process is closely linked to systemic inflammation [12,13]. In the present study, a clear linear relationship between CAF diet-induced TEER loss and LPS levels in plasma was found. This association was stronger in the ileum and colon, suggesting a higher contribution of the distal intestine to metabolic endotoxemia. This observation can be explained by the abundant bacterial population present in distal sections of the intestinal tract [36]. Once it has entered the circulation, LPS activates a series of proinflammatory receptors, i.e., toll-like receptors 2 and 4 and the CD14 receptor, leading to cytokine release [13,37]. Accordingly, in this study, the CAF-diet-fed rats also showed higher levels of TNF-α in plasma, indicating a state of systemic inflammation in this group of animals. Remarkably, both GSPE doses were also effective in decreasing plasma LPS to basal levels and tended to reduce the TNF-α release to circulation. These findings are consistent with the observations discussed above regarding GSPE effects on intestinal permeability.

The mechanisms underlying the anti-inflammatory and barrier-protective effects of flavonoids on the intestine were reviewed by Gil-Cardoso et al. [2]. Flavonoids, including proanthocyanidins, reduce intestinal inflammatory processes driven by NF- $\kappa$ B activation, a key factor in proinflammatory gene expression. *In vitro* studies have demonstrated that procyanidin-rich red wine extract down-regulates I $\kappa$ B kinase complex signal transduction, inhibiting the I $\kappa$ B degradation and NF- $\kappa$ B translocation to the nucleus [38]. Another interesting point to consider is the modulation of TJ protein genes by flavonoids. In a recent study, it was observed that Granny Smith apple procyanidin extract increases the expression of TJ protein genes, including occludin and zonula occludens 1 in LPS-treated Caco-2 cells [39]. We demonstrated that CAF diet-induced obese rats supplemented with GSPE (5–500 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>), show an increased expression of zonula occludens 1 [19] and claudin 1 [18] genes in the ileum. A significant increase of claudin 1 protein content has also been estimated in ileal tissues of IL-10 deficient mice supplemented with

GSPE 1% (w w<sup>-1</sup>) for 16 weeks [40]. Claudin proteins are considered key components and the structural backbone of TJs [41], with claudin 1 being involved in TJ tightening. Thus, the upregulation of claudin 1 gene expression found in the present work might partially explain the restitution of TEER and intestinal permeability at the ileum level in GSPE-supplemented animals.

Most studies in rodents describing a beneficial effect of polyphenol-rich extracts on diet-induced intestinal dysfunction and metabolic endotoxemia involve preventive or long-term treatment approaches [18,42–44]. To our knowledge, there is no other study in the literature describing an ameliorative effect of a polyphenol-rich extract in these alterations as a result of short-term chronic treatment. Data show that pharmacological doses of grape-seed proanthocyanins can normalize intestinal permeability and local inflammation markers altered by a long-term obesogenic diet, as well as the associated metabolic endotoxemia. The effects of both pharmacological doses of GSPE on CAF-diet-induced intestinal dysfunction were similar and, therefore, we found no dose-response relationship. Both doses proved to ameliorate intestinal alterations, but the 100 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> bw dose seems to be the most effective in correcting intestinal permeability, whereas the 500 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> bw dose corrected local inflammation more effectively.

GSPE doses used in this study are high but feasible in a translational perspective. We applied a rat-to-human correction factor that relates the body weight and body surface to estimate the theoretical human equivalent doses (HEB) [45]. Considering the 100 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> bw dose of GSPE, the estimated HED is approximately 0.97 g d<sup>-1</sup> for a 60 kg person. A clinical study was carried out with 31 volunteers with different body mass index to determine the effect of GSPE administration in postprandial concentrations of plasma LPS after a high-fat breakfast (63 g of fat and 990 kcal) [46]. These authors found that 1 g of GSPE effectively prevented the postprandial increase of plasma LPS after 4 h compared with the placebo. This effect was statistically significant in the obese group. Another recent clinical study assessed the safety and tolerability of GSPE intake in a small number of healthy adults [47]. This study tested the oral administration of the extract up to 2.5 g d<sup>-1</sup> for a 4-week period, finding a good tolerability without adverse effects on hematological and biochemical parameters.

### **5.** Conclusions

In summary, the consumption of a CAF diet leads to an increase in intestinal permeability and metabolic endotoxemia, which together contribute to the systemic inflammation state present in obese animals. We found that the administration of grape-seed proanthocyanidins not only improves the intestinal health in diet-induced obese rats, effectively ameliorating permeability alterations and local inflammation at the end of a long-term obesogenic diet, but also reduces metabolic endotoxemia. Thus, supplementation with proanthocyanidin-rich natural extracts is outlined as a promising nutritional and therapeutic treatment to ameliorate the diet-induced intestinal dysfunction associated with obesity.

**Author Contributions**: Conceptualization, X.T. and M.T.B.; Data curation, C.G.-Q. and K.G.-C.; Formal analysis, C.G.-Q. and K.G.-C.; Funding acquisition, M.P., A.A., X.T. and M.T.B.; Investigation, C.G.-Q., K.G.-C., I.G., R.B.-D., M.P., A.A., X.T. and M.T.B.; Methodology, R.B.-D., M.P., A.A., X.T. and M.T.B.; Project administration, A.A. and M.T.B.; Resources, M.P. and A.A.; Supervision, X.T. and M.T.B.; Validation, X.T. and M.T.B.; Visualization, C.G.-Q.; Writing – original draft, C.G.-Q.; Writing – review & editing, X.T. and M.T.B.

**Funding:** This research and the APC were funded by the Spanish Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad, grants AGL2014-55347-R and AGL2017-83477-R.

**Acknowledgments:** C. González-Quilen has received financial support through a FI-AGAUR grant from the Generalitat de Catalunya, K. Gil-Cardoso and I. Ginés are student fellows from the Martí i Franquès program of the Universitat Rovira i

Virgili, Tarragona, Spain. M. Pinent and X. Terra are Serra-Húnter fellows at the Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Tarragona, Spain.

**Conflicts of Interest:** The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

# References

- 1. Lam, Y.Y.; Mitchell, A.J.; Holmes, A.J.; Denyer, G.S.; Gummesson, A.; Caterson, I.D.; Hunt, N.H.; Storlien, L.H. Role of the Gut in Visceral Fat Inflammation and Metabolic Disorders. *Obesity* **2011**, *19*, 2113–2120.
- 2. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Blay, M.; Terra, X. Effects of flavonoids on intestinal inflammation, barrier integrity and changes in gut microbiota during diet-induced obesity. *Nutr. Res. Rev.* **2016**, *29*, 234–248.
- 3. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Terra, X.; Blay, M. A cafeteria diet triggers intestinal inflammation and oxidative stress in obese rats. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2017**, *117*, 218–229.
- 4. Carrera-Quintanar, L.; López Roa, R.I.; Quintero-Fabián, S.; Sánchez-Sánchez, M.A.; Vizmanos, B.; Ortuño-Sahagún, D. Phytochemicals That Influence Gut Microbiota as Prophylactics and for the Treatment of Obesity and Inflammatory Diseases. *Mediat. Inflamm.* **2018**, *2018*, 9734845.
- 5. Hruby, A.; Hu, F.B. The Epidemiology of Obesity: A Big Picture. *Pharmacoeconomics* **2015**, *33*, 673–689.
- 6. Blundell, J.E.; Baker, J.L.; Boyland, E.; Blaak, E.; Charzewska, J.; de Henauw, S.; Frühbeck, G.; Gonzalez-Gross, M.; Hebebrand, J.; Holm, L.; et al. Variations in the Prevalence of Obesity Among European Countries, and a Consideration of Possible Causes. *Obes. Facts* **2017**, *10*, 25–37.
- 7. Gentile, C.L.; Weir, T.L. The gut microbiota at the intersection of diet and human health. *Science* **2018**, *362*, 776–780.
- 8. de La Serre, C.B.; Ellis, C.L.; Lee, J.; Hartman, A.L.; Rutledge, J.C.; Raybould, H.E. Propensity to high-fat diet-induced obesity in rats is associated with changes in the gut microbiota and gut inflammation. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* **2010**, *299*, G440–G448.
- 9. Murphy, E.A.; Velazquez, K.T.; Herbert, K.M. Influence of high-fat diet on gut microbiota: A driving force for chronic disease risk. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* **2015**, *18*, 515–520.

- 10. Myles, I.A. Fast food fever: Reviewing the impacts of the Western diet on immunity. *Nutr. J.* **2014**, *13*, 61.
- 11. Moreira, A.P.B.; Texeira, T.F.S.; Ferreira, A.B.; do Carmo Gouveia Peluzio, M.; de Cássia Gonçalves Alfenas, R. Influence of a high-fat diet on gut microbiota, intestinal permeability and metabolic endotoxaemia. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2012**, *108*, 801–809.
- 12. Cani, P.D.; Amar, J.; Iglesias, M.A.; Poggi, M.; Knauf, C.; Bastelica, D.; Neyrinck, A.M.; Fava, F.; Tuohy, K.M.; Chabo, C.; et al. Metabolic Endotoxemia Initiates Obesity and Insulin Resistance. *Diabetes* **2007**, *56*, 1761–1772.
- 13. Boutagy, N.E.; McMillan, R.P.; Frisard, M.I.; Hulver, M.W. Metabolic endotoxemia with obesity: Is it real and is it relevant? *Biochimie* **2016**, *124*, 11–20.
- 14. Clemente-Postigo, M.; Oliva-Olivera, W.; Coin-Aragüez, L.; Ramos-Molina, B.; Giraldez-Perez, R.M.; Lhamyani, S.; Alcaide-Torres, J.; Perez-Martinez, P.; El Bekay, R.; Cardona, F.; et al. Metabolic endotoxemia promotes adipose dysfunction and inflammation in human obesity. *Am. J. Physiol. Metab.* **2019**, *316*, E319–E332.
- 15. Hamilton, M.K.; Boudry, G.; Lemay, D.G.; Raybould, H.E. Changes in intestinal barrier function and gut microbiota in high-fat diet-fed rats are dynamic and region dependent. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* **2015**, *308*, G840–G851.
- 16. Yue, C.; Ma, B.; Zhao, Y.; Li, Q.; Li, J. Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Bacterial Translocation Is Intestine Site-Specific and Associates with Intestinal Mucosal Inflammation. *Inflammation* **2012**, *35*, 1880–1888.
- 17. Jiang, T.; Gao, X.; Wu, C.; Tian, F.; Lei, Q.; Bi, J.; Xie, B.; Wang, H.Y.; Chen, S.; Wang, X. Apple-Derived Pectin Modulates Gut Microbiota, Improves Gut Barrier Function, and Attenuates Metabolic Endotoxemia in Rats with Diet-Induced Obesity. *Nutrients* **2016**, *8*, 126.
- 18. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Blay, M.; Terra, X. The coadministration of proanthocyanidins and an obesogenic diet prevents the increase in intestinal permeability and metabolic endotoxemia derived to the diet. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* **2018**, *62*, 35–42.
- 19. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Arola, L.; Blay, M.; Terra, X. Chronic supplementation with dietary proanthocyanidins protects from diet-induced intestinal alterations in obese rats. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2017**, *61*, 1601039.
- 20. Vogiatzoglou, A.; Mulligan, A.A.; Luben, R.N.; Lentjes, M.A.H.; Heiss, C.; Kelm, M.; Merx, M.W.; Spencer, J.P.E.; Schroeter, H.; Kuhnle, G.G.C. Assessment of the dietary intake of total flavan-3-ols, monomeric flavan-3-ols, proanthocyanidins and theaflavins in the European Union. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2014**, *111*, 1463–1473.
- 21. Serrano, J.; Casanova-Martí, À.; Gual, A.; Pérez-Vendrell, A.M.; Blay, M.T.; Terra, X.; Ardévol, A.; Pinent, M. A specific dose of grape seed-derived proanthocyanidins to

inhibit body weight gain limits food intake and increases energy expenditure in rats. *Eur. J. Nutr.* **2017**, *56*, 1629–1636.

- 22. Pascual-Serrano, A.; Arola-Arnal, A.; Suárez-García, S.; Bravo, F.I.; Suárez, M.; Arola, L.; Bladé, C. Grape seed proanthocyanidin supplementation reduces adipocyte size and increases adipocyte number in obese rats. *Int. J. Obes.* **2017**, *41*, 1246–1255.
- 23. Ginés, I.; Gil-Cardoso, K.; Serrano, J.; Casanova-Martí, À.; Blay, Mt.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Terra, X. Effects of an Intermittent Grape-Seed Proanthocyanidin (GSPE) Treatment on a Cafeteria Diet Obesogenic Challenge in Rats. *Nutrients* **2018**, *10*, 315.
- 24. Williamson, G. The role of polyphenols in modern nutrition. *Nutr. Bull.* **2017**, *42*, 226–235.
- 25. Margalef, M.; Pons, Z.; Iglesias-Carres, L.; Arola, L.; Muguerza, B.; Arola-Arnal, A. Gender-related similarities and differences in the body distribution of grape seed flavanols in rats. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2016**, *60*, 760–772.
- 26. Baselga-Escudero, L.; Pascual-Serrano, A.; Ribas-Latre, A.; Casanova, E.; Salvadó, M.J.; Arola, L.; Arola-Arnal, A.; Bladé, C. Long-term supplementation with a low dose of proanthocyanidins normalized liver miR-33a and miR-122 levels in high-fat diet-induced obese rats. *Nutr. Res.* **2015**, *35*, 337–345.
- 27. Hümmer, W.; Schreier, P. Analysis of proanthocyanidins. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2008**, *52*, 1381–1398.
- 28. Livak, K.J.; Schmittgen, T.D. Analysis of Relative Gene Expression Data Using Real-Time Quantitative PCR and the  $2-\Delta\Delta$ CT Method. *Methods* **2001**, *25*, 402–408.
- 29. Sampey, B.P.; Vanhoose, A.M.; Winfield, H.M.; Freemerman, A.J.; Muehlbauer, M.J.; Fueger, P.T.; Newgard, C.B.; Makowski, L. Cafeteria diet is a robust model of human metabolic syndrome with liver and adipose inflammation: Comparison to high-fat diet. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* **2011**, *19*, 1109–1117.
- 30. Yang, G.; Xue, Y.; Zhang, H.; Du, M.; Zhu, M.-J. Favourable effects of grape seed extract on intestinal epithelial differentiation and barrier function in IL10-deficient mice. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2015**, *114*, 15–23.
- Al-Sadi, R.; Guo, S.; Ye, D.; Rawat, M.; Ma, T.Y. TNF-α Modulation of Intestinal Tight Junction Permeability Is Mediated by NIK/IKK-α Axis Activation of the Canonical NFκB Pathway. *Am. J. Pathol.* 2016, *186*, 1151–1165.
- 32. König, J.; Wells, J.; Cani, P.D.; García-Ródenas, C.L.; MacDonald, T.; Mercenier, A.; Whyte, J.; Troost, F.; Brummer, R.-J. Human Intestinal Barrier Function in Health and Disease. *Clin. Transl. Gastroenterol.* **2016**, *7*, e196.
- 33. Jung, C.; Hugot, J.-P.; Barreau, F. Peyer's Patches: The Immune Sensors of the Intestine. *Int. J. Inflam.* **2010**, *2010*, 1–12.

- 34. van der Veen, B.S.; de Winther, M.P.J.; Heeringa, P. Myeloperoxidase: Molecular Mechanisms of Action and Their Relevance to Human Health and Disease. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* **2009**, *11*, 2899–2937.
- 35. Castagnini, C.; Luceri, C.; Toti, S.; Bigagli, E.; Caderni, G.; Femia, A.P.; Giovannelli, L.; Lodovici, M.; Pitozzi, V.; Salvadori, M.; et al. Reduction of colonic inflammation in HLA-B27 transgenic rats by feeding Marie Ménard apples, rich in polyphenols. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2009**, *102*, 1620.
- 36. Tomas, J.; Langella, P.; Cherbuy, C. The intestinal microbiota in the rat model: Major breakthroughs from new technologies. *Anim. Heal. Res. Rev.* **2012**, *13*, 54–63.
- 37. Chassaing, B.; Etienne-Mesmin, L.; Gewirtz, A.T. Microbiota-liver axis in hepatic disease. *Hepatology* **2014**, *59*, 328–339.
- 38. Nunes, C.; Ferreira, E.; Freitas, V.; Almeida, L.; Barbosa, R.M.; Laranjinha, J. Intestinal anti-inflammatory activity of red wine extract: Unveiling the mechanisms in colonic epithelial cells. *Food Funct.* **2013**, *4*, 373–383.
- 39. Wu, H.; Luo, T.; Li, Y.M.; Gao, Z.P.; Zhang, K.Q.; Song, J.Y.; Xiao, J.S.; Cao, Y.P. Granny Smith apple procyanidin extract upregulates tight junction protein expression and modulates oxidative stress and inflammation in lipopolysaccharide-induced Caco-2 cells. *Food Funct.* **2018**, *9*, 3321–3329.
- 40. Yang, G.; Wang, H.; Kang, Y.; Zhu, M.-J. Grape seed extract improves epithelial structure and suppresses inflammation in ileum of IL-10-deficient mice. *Food Funct.* **2014**, *5*, 2558–2563.
- 41. Günzel, D.; Yu, A.S.L. Claudins and the Modulation of Tight Junction Permeability. *Physiol. Rev.* **2013**, *93*, 525–569.
- 42. Gao, X.; Xie, Q.; Kong, P.; Liu, L.; Sun, S.; Xiong, B.; Huang, B.; Yan, L.; Sheng, J.; Xiang, H. Polyphenol- and Caffeine-Rich Postfermented Pu-erh Tea Improves Diet-Induced Metabolic Syndrome by Remodeling Intestinal Homeostasis in Mice. *Infect. Immun.* **2018**, *86*, e00601–17.
- 43. Anhê, F.F.; Varin, T.V.; Le Barz, M.; Pilon, G.; Dudonné, S.; Trottier, J.; St-Pierre, P.; Harris, C.S.; Lucas, M.; Lemire, M.; et al. Arctic berry extracts target the gut–liver axis to alleviate metabolic endotoxaemia, insulin resistance and hepatic steatosis in diet-induced obese mice. *Diabetologia* **2018**, *61*, 919–931.
- 44. Collins, B.; Hoffman, J.; Martinez, K.; Grace, M.; Lila, M.A.; Cockrell, C.; Nadimpalli, A.; Chang, E.; Chuang, C.-C.; Zhong, W.; et al. A polyphenol-rich fraction obtained from table grapes decreases adiposity, insulin resistance and markers of inflammation and impacts gut microbiota in high-fat-fed mice. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* **2016**, *31*, 150–165.
- 45. Nair, A.B.; Jacob, S. A simple practice guide for dose conversion between animals and human. *J. Basic Clin. Pharm.* **2016**, *7*, 27–31.

- 46. Wong, X.; Madrid, A.M.; Tralma, K.; Castillo, R.; Carrasco-Pozo, C.; Navarrete, P.; Beltrán, C.; Pastene, E.; Gotteland, M. Polyphenol extracts interfere with bacterial lipopolysaccharide in vitro and decrease postprandial endotoxemia in human volunteers. *J. Funct. Foods* **2016**, *26*, 406–417.
- 47. Sano, A. Safety assessment of 4-week oral intake of proanthocyanidin-rich grape seed extract in healthy subjects. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* **2017**, *108*, 519–523.

Detrimental Effects of High Fructose Concentrations in Monolayers of Human Colon Carcinoma Caco-2 Cells: The Role of Proanthocyanidins in Permeability Alterations and Proinflammatory Changes

Carlos González-Quilen, Raúl Beltrán-Debón, Montserrat Pinent, Anna Ardévol, Ximena Terra, Maria Teresa Blay

MoBioFood Research Group, Departament de Bioquímica i Biotecnologia, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, 43007 Tarragona, Spain.

To be submitted

In preparation

# Detrimental Effects of High Fructose Concentrations in Monolayers of Human Colon Carcinoma Caco-2 Cells: The Role of Proanthocyanidins in Permeability Alterations and Proinflammatory Changes

Carlos González-Quilen, Raúl Beltrán-Debón, Montserrat Pinent, Anna Ardévol, Ximena Terra, Maria Teresa Blay

MoBioFood Research Group, Departament de Bioquímica i Biotecnologia, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, 43007 Tarragona, Spain.

#### Abstract:

*Scope:* Fructose is a ubiquitous component of the Western diet that has been associated with metabolic disorders when consumed in large quantities. However, its contribution to the toll of chronic illness is highly controversial. It has been hypothesized that a high fructose intake affects the intestinal barrier function, thus favoring the influx of bacterial endotoxins and inducing systemic inflammation and alterations in the metabolism. Proanthocyanidins are naturally occurring flavonoids that have been shown to ameliorate diet-induced intestinal dysfunction in rodents. Here, we investigated the effect of fructose at high concentrations (50, 150 and 300 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>) achievable in the small intestine on the functionality of human Caco-2 monolayers and the effectiveness of a grape-seed proanthocyanidin extract (GSPE) (25, 50 and 100  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>) in preventing fructose concentrations (>150 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>) drastically reduced transepithelial electrical resistance (38–69%) and promoted the permeation of fluorescent markers across cellular monolayers.

into the culture medium (two-fold) and the levels of IL-8 secreted basolaterally (up to 106-fold). A 20-h incubation period with GSPE prior to the high-fructose treatment was incapable of preventing detrimental changes. *Conclusions:* High fructose concentrations achievable in the human small intestine provoked cytotoxic and proinflammatory responses in Caco-2 monolayers, leading to barrier integrity loss and permeability alterations that were not prevented by GSPE in this *in vitro* model.

**Keywords:** intestine, permeability; inflammation; Western diet, sugar; transepithelial electrical resistance

#### 1. Introduction

The Western diet is characterized by the high consumption of energy-dense ultraprocessed foods, rich in saturated fats and simple carbohydrates. In this dietary pattern, more than 14% of the calorie intake comes from sugars, with sweet products and sweetened beverages the main contributors to sugar consumption [1,2]. As a result, concerns have been raised regarding the impact of these food products on the global epidemic of obesity [3]. The World Health Organization recommends limiting added sugars to one-tenth of the daily calorie intake, namely 25 g per day for a 2500-calorie diet [4]. Nevertheless, a typical 330-mL can of a regular soft drink contains up to 40 g of free sugars (>600 mmol  $L^{-1}$ ). In addition, a large portion of sugar is hidden in foods marketed as healthy choices (e.g. breakfast cereals, yogurt and other sugar-sweetened dairy products) and daily intake per capita in some developed countries can reach up to 145 g [1]. Nearly half of the sugar content in the Western diet is fructose derived from sucrose and corn syrup [5]. Epidemiological studies associate the consumption of fructose with metabolic syndrome [6]. However, the claim that fructose and other sugars directly contribute to the toll of chronic illness independently of body weight and fat gain

remains controversial, although some plausible mechanisms have been proposed [3,7,8].

Studies in mammals have reported that high fructose intake increases intestinal permeability and the translocation of bacterial endotoxins [9–11], which may be a major driver of metabolic diseases [12]. Rats fed a Western-style cafeteria diet (rich in fructose and saturated fats) not only gain body weight but also manifest mild intestinal inflammation and enhanced permeability (intestinal dysfunction) [13,14]. Intestinal permeability might be the result of increased paracellular transport, which in turn is regulated by tight junction (TJ) proteins located between adjacent epithelial cells. The overactivation of proinflammatory signaling pathways alters the integrity of TJs [15]. As the intestinal epithelial barrier prevents proinflammatory agents such as bacterial endotoxins from entering the systemic circulation, loss of barrier integrity may trigger a vicious circle of inflammation and permeability [16].

Proanthocyanidins are a group of flavonoids present in a variety of botanical sources such as cocoa, nuts, fruit and spices, which have demonstrated antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory effects *in vivo* [17,18], and could offer a safe adjunctive support to current therapies in the treatment of various chronic diseases, including obesity [19–21]. Oral administration of grape-seed proanthocyanidins extract (GSPE) in rats has demonstrated beneficial effects against the increased intestinal permeability and inflammation (intestinal dysfunction) developed as a consequence of a long-term cafeteria diet [14,22] or colitis-inducing chemicals [23].

The amount of sugars in ultra-processed foods and sweetened beverages should result in high postprandial concentrations of free sugars in the lumen of the upper small intestine (up to 100 mmol L<sup>-1</sup> in rodents [24]). Higher concentrations of free sugars would be expected near the brush borders following the hydrolysis of sucrose and other disaccharides by disaccharidases [25]. In this study, we aimed to

investigate whether high concentrations of fructose achievable in the human small intestine in the context of the typical Western diet promotes alterations in the functionality of human colon adenocarcinoma Caco-2 cell monolayers. We also tested the efficacy of GSPE in preventing these fructose-induced changes.

# 2. Materials and Methods

# 2.1. Chemicals

DMEM (with 4.5 g L<sup>-1</sup> glucose), L-glutamine solution (200 mmol L<sup>-1</sup> in 0.85% NaCl), penicillin-streptomycin mixture (10,000 U mL<sup>-1</sup>) and trypsin–EDTA solution (500 mg L<sup>-1</sup> trypsin and 200 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EDTA in Hank's Balanced Salt Solution) were purchased from Lonza Verviers SPRL (Verviers, Belgium). Fetal bovine serum (FBS), EGTA ( $\geq$ 97%), and D-(–)-fructose ( $\geq$ 99%) were provided by Sigma–Aldrich Chemie (Steinheim, Germany). Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS with calcium and magnesium) and HEPES buffer solution (1 mol L<sup>-1</sup>) were from GIBCO (Grand Island, NY, USA). Lucifer yellow (LY) potassium salt (522 g mol<sup>-1</sup>) was purchased from Biotium (Hayward, CA, USA). Fluorescein isothiocyanate-dextran 4 kDa (FD4) came from TdB Consultancy AB (Uppsala, Sweden).

# 2.2. Proanthocyanidin extract

The grape-seed proanthocyanidin extract (GSPE) was provided by Les Dérivés Résiniques et Terpéniques (batch number 124029; Dax, France). According to the manufacturer, the composition of the GSPE is as follows: monomers of flavan-3-ols (21.3%), dimers (17.4%), trimers (16.3%), tetramers (13.3%) and oligomers (5–13 units; 31.7%) of proanthocyanidins. A detailed analysis of the monomeric, dimeric, and trimeric structures of the GSPE can be found in the work by Margalef et al. [26]. The GSPE was dissolved in ethanol absolute to prepare a stock solution of 50 mg mL<sup>-1</sup>.

### 2.3. Cell culture

Caco-2 cells (HTB-37) were obtained from the ATCC (American Tissue Culture Collection) and used in experiments between passages 18 and 30. The cells were maintained in 75-cm<sup>2</sup> culture flasks (Greiner Bio-One, Frickenhausen, Germany) at 37 °C in an atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub> with the medium being changed every 2–3 days. The growth medium consisted of DMEM supplemented with 10% (v v<sup>-1</sup>) heat-inactivated FBS, 2 mmol L<sup>-1</sup> L-glutamine, 1 mol L<sup>-1</sup> HEPES and 100 U mL<sup>-1</sup> penicillin-streptomycin mixture. When confluence reached ~80%, the cells were harvested by treatment with trypsin–EDTA solution for 10 min, and then split and sub-cultured in fresh growth medium.

#### 2.4. Measurement of transepithelial electrical resistance

Permeable transwell inserts with a 1.1-cm<sup>2</sup> surface area and 1-µm pore size were placed in 12-well plates (Merck Millipore, Darmstadt, Germany) and 0.4 mL of cell suspension  $(1.5 \times 10^4 \text{ cells mL}^{-1})$  was added. Wells were added with 1 mL of growth medium and both apical and basolateral media were changed every other day. After 21 days of cell differentiation, transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) was measured (ohm cm<sup>2</sup>) using a Millicell-ERS 2 voltohmmeter (EDM Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA) in triplicate per insert and corrected by subtracting the mean value from a cell-free insert. D-Fructose was dissolved in experimental medium consisting of supplemented DMEM with 1% (v v-1) heat-inactivated FBS for preparation of the high-fructose treatments: Fruc50 (50 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>), Fruc150 (150 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>) and Fruc300 (300 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>). EGTA, which is known to disrupt epithelial TJs, was dissolved in experimental medium (2 mmol L-1) and was included as a positive control of permeability. All media were sterilized by filtration prior to the experiments using a 0.22-µm syringe-driven filter (Jet Bio-Filtration Co., Guangzhou, China). Both the inserts and wells were rinsed with a sterile, prewarmed PBS solution and the treatments were added apically, except for EGTA, which was also added basolaterally. The plates were then incubated for 5 h at 37 °C.

To evaluate the effectiveness of GSPE in preventing fructose-induced changes in TEER, the GSPE solutions (10, 25 and 50  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>) were prepared in experimental medium, added apically and incubated for 20 h at 37 °C prior to the high-fructose treatments. The concentration of ethanol was kept at  $\leq 0.1\%$  (v v<sup>-1</sup>) in the apical medium. All experiments were performed at least three times with biological duplicates or triplicates per condition. Changes in TEER were calculated for every experimental group as the percentage of the initial value recorded before treatments were added.

#### 2.5. Assessment of molecular permeability using fluorescent markers

Stock solutions of LY (100 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>) and FD4 (50 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>) were prepared in HBSS. Inserts and wells were rinsed twice with sterile, prewarmed PBS and fluorescent markers were then added apically (0.4 mL) at a final concentration of 100 µmol L<sup>-1</sup>. HBSS (1.2 mL) was added basolaterally and the plates were incubated at 37 °C for 60 min. The amount of fluorescent marker that crossed to the well was measured with a PerkinElmer LS-30 fluorimeter (Beaconsfield, U.K.) at  $\lambda_{exc}$ =430 nm and  $\lambda_{em}$ =540 nm and compared with a standard curve. The transepithelial transport of LY and FD4 was calculated as apparent permeabilities (*Papp*) using the following equation:

$$Papp (mL/cm^2 \times s) = (V/A \times t) \times (C_{ba}/C_{ap}),$$

where *V* is the basolateral volume, A is the exposed surface area, *t* is the incubation time and  $C_{ba}$  and  $C_{ap}$  are the concentrations of the fluorescent marker in the basolateral (well) and apical (transwell insert) media, respectively.

# 2.6. Quantification of secreted IL-8

Human IL-8 was determined using a commercially available ELISA kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Sigma–Aldrich Chemie, Steinheim, Germany). IL-8 levels corresponded to the total amount secreted into the basolateral media at the

end of the 5-hour treatment. Absorbances were measured with a BioTek Eon microplate spectrophotometer (BioTek Instruments Inc., Winooski, VT, USA) at 450 nm. IL-8 levels were expressed as picograms per milliliter with an analytical sensitivity of 1 pg mL<sup>-1</sup>.

# 2.7. Quantification of LDH activity

The damage induced by fructose on Caco-2 cells was assessed by means of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity assays. In brief, Caco-2 cells  $(1.5 \times 10^4 \text{ cells mL}^{-1})$  were seeded in 24-well culture plates (0.5 mL per well) (Merck Millipore, Darmstadt, Germany) in growth medium. The cells were incubated for 21 days until full differentiation, and the experiments were performed as described above. LDH activity was measured from plate media using the SFBC method with a commercially available kit (QCA S.A., Amposta, Spain) and normalized to the protein content quantified from the whole-cell lysates by means of a Pierce BCA assay (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, IL). Enzymatic activity was expressed as mU mg<sup>-1</sup> protein.

# 2.8. RNA extraction and gene expression analysis by RT-qPCR

The total RNA was isolated from the cells using the Qiagen RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Barcelona, Spain) following the manufacturer's instructions, and it was quantified with a Nanodrop 1000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany). cDNA was obtained using the High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems, Madrid, Spain). cDNA (2.5 ng mL<sup>-1</sup>) was subjected to qPCR amplification using iTaq Universal SYBR Green Supermix (Bio-Rad, Barcelona, Spain). Genes encoding the zonula occludens 1 and claudin 1 (*TJP1* and *CLDN1*, respectively) were analyzed because they are key components of TJs. Myosin light chain kinase (encoded by *MYLK*) is involved in TJ opening and enhancement of paracellular permeability. The forward (Fw) and reverse (Rv) primer sequences of the target genes are shown in **Table 1**. Amplifications were performed using a Bio-Rad CFX96 Touch Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad, Barcelona, Spain) with thermal profile settings as follows: 95 °C for 30 seconds and then 40 cycles of 95 °C for 5 seconds and 60 °C for 30 seconds. The relative mRNA expression levels were calculated following the  $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$  method [27] and the results were normalized in relation to the human peptidylprolyl isomerase A gene (*PPIA*) as follows:

 $\Delta Ct = Ct$  gene of interest – Ct peptidylprolyl isomerase A, and  $\Delta \Delta Ct = \Delta Ct$  treated samples – the mean of  $\Delta Ct$  control samples.

Gene name	Symbol	Accession number	Sequences	Product size (bp)	
Tight junction protein 1	TJP1	NM_003257.5	F: 5'-ccagcctgctaaacctactaa-3'	126	
			R: 5'-ccatctcttgctgccaaact-3'		
Claudin 1	CLDN1	NM_021101.5	F: 5'-agtcttctgccaggaatccc-3'	137	
			R: 5'-gtggtgagtagaagtcccgt-3'		
Myosin light chain kinase	MYLK	NM_053025.4	F: 5'-agatgacgtgggagtgtaca-3'	142	
			R: 5'-cctgacatctgaattggtggc-3'		
Peptidylprolyl isomerase A	PPIA	NM_001300981.2	F: 5'-tgctggacccaacacaaatg-3'	118	
			R: 5'-ggcctccacaatattcatgcc-3'		

**Table 1**. Primer sequences for target genes.

F, forward. R, reverse

# 2.9. Statistical Analysis

Results were expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM. Statistical comparisons between groups were assessed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD test when the variances were equal or the Games-Howell test when they were not. P-values <0.05 were considered statistically significant. Analyses were performed with the XLSTAT 2019.1.3 software (Addinsoft, NY, USA).

# 3. Results

3.1. High fructose concentrations induced loss of Caco-2 monolayer integrity and enhanced permeability

We first evaluated the influence of high fructose concentrations on the integrity of Caco-2 monolayers by means of a TEER measurement. The initial TEER of the cell monolayers ranged from 231.0 to 291.9 ohm cm<sup>2</sup> with an average value of 260.9 ± 3.5 ohm cm<sup>2</sup> (n=26). TEER was markedly modulated by fructose ( $\geq$ 150 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>) with a pronounced dose-dependent increment during the first 60 min of incubation (106–135% compared to baseline), followed by a sustained reduction in the subsequent hours (**Figure 1A**).



**Figure 1**. Effect of high fructose concentrations on the integrity and permeability of Caco-2 monolayers. (A) Transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) time course. (B) Apparent permeabilities (*Papp*) of Lucifer yellow (LY) and fluorescein isothiocyanate-dextran 4 kDa

(FD4). Fructose concentrations of 50, 150 and 300 mmol L-1 were tested. EGTA (2 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>) was used as positive control of permeability. Values presented are mean  $\pm$  SEM of four to six independent experiments. The different letters indicate statistically significant differences, *p*<0.05.

Changes associated with Fruc150 and Fruc300 were statistically significant during the time-course experiment when compared to Ctrl (p<0.05). The TEER drop at 5 h was moderate in Fruc150 and severe in Fruc300 (loss of 38 and 69% in relation to the baseline, respectively) with the latter comparable to that produced by the positive control (2 mM EGTA).

The permeation profiles were similar for both molecular weight markers (**Figure 1B**). In Ctrl, FD4 was not detected in the basolateral medium, while very low quantities of LY permeated across monolayers ( $0.26 \pm 0.07 \times 10^{-6}$  mL cm<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>). This is consistent with FD4 being a high-weight molecule and therefore a marker of paracellular transport, while LY could also be transported transcellularly. The reduction of monolayer integrity at 5 h was associated with an increase in the transepithelial transport of molecular markers in a dose-dependent manner. Changes in Fruc150 were not statistically significant and agreed with a mild loss of monolayer integrity (p>0.05). In Fruc300, permeations of FD4 (0.63 ± 0.14 × 10<sup>-6</sup> mL cm<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) and LY (2.1 ± 0.2 × 10<sup>-6</sup> mL cm<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) were significantly higher (p<0.05 vs. Ctrl) and in accordance with a more severe alteration, suggesting the opening of paracellular pathway and/or an enhanced molecular flux due to cell detachment.

In order to determine whether the effects described above were associated with the paracellular pathway opening driven by the disruption of TJs, we quantified the mRNA levels of the key genes involved in the integrity and regulation of TJs (**Table 2**). No statistically significant differences were found between the experimental conditions for the expression of TJ protein genes (*TJP1* and *CLDN1*) or myosin light chain kinase genes (*MYLK*) (*p*>0.05), suggesting that the integrity of TJs was not compromised at the transcriptional level. To determine whether the

effects described above were associated with the partial detachment of cell monolayers, we measured the protein content of the cells still attached to the culture plates after the 5-hour incubation period (**Figure 2A**). Slight but significant reductions in the cell protein content were quantified in Fruc150 and Fruc300 (loss of 6.3% and 9.0%, respectively) when compared to Ctrl (p<0.05), indicating a mild loss of cell mass.

**Table 2.** Fold change in TJ-related gene expression of Caco-2 cells incubated with high fructose concentrations.

Gene	Ctrl	Fruc50	Fruc150	Fruc300
TJP1	$100.0 \pm 4.6$	101.6 ± 14.1	100.6 ± 8.9	$102.0 \pm 14.4$
CLDN1	100.0 ± 15.0	97.8 ± 5.4	98.1 ± 7.9	98.2 ± 8.9
MYLK	100.0 ± 21.9	97.4 ± 13.9	96.2 ± 8.9	99.7 ± 19.6

Data represent the normalized target mRNA levels quantified by RT-qPCR using *PPIA* as reference gen. Values are relative to Ctrl which is considered 100% and are presented as mean ± SEM of three independent experiments.

# 3.2. High fructose concentrations induced cell damage and proinflammatory changes

As the detachment of Caco-2 monolayers could be caused by cytotoxicity, we measured the activity of LDH released into the medium as a marker of cell injury and death. A dose-dependent increase in LDH activity was found in the media of treated cells (**Figure 3B**), with statistically significant changes in Fruc150 (1.6-fold) and Fruc300 (2.2-fold) compared to Ctrl (p<0.05).



**Figure 2**. Cell injury and IL-8 secretion induced by high fructose concentrations in Caco-2. (A) Protein content, (B) lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) specific activity and (C) basolateral IL-8 secretion were measured after 5 h of incubation with high fructose concentrations (50, 150 and 300 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>). Values presented are mean  $\pm$  SEM of three independent experiments. The different letters indicate statistically significant differences, *p*<0.05.

Cell injury in the fructose-treated cells did not seem to be linked to oxidative damage, as we did not find a significant increase in the production of reactive oxygen species in the culture media (results not shown). However, Fruc150 did promote a striking 106-fold increase in IL-8 secreted basolaterally (p<0.05, **Figure 3C**), suggesting a proinflammatory state. The effect on IL-8 was not statistically significant in Fruc300 when compared to Ctrl (p<0.05), possibly due the reduction in IL-8 synthesis capacity resulting from cell death.

#### 3.3. GSPE was not able to prevent fructose-induced detrimental effects

GSPE has demonstrated barrier-protective and anti-inflammatory properties in the intestinal mucosa of animal models of diet-induced obesity [28]. Here, we exposed Caco-2 monolayers to GSPE for 20 h (10, 25 and 50  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>) prior to a high fructose treatment in order to test its effectiveness in preventing the alterations described above (**Figure 3**). For these experiments, we chose Fruc150 as it was the lowest fructose concentration tested that promoted significant changes in Caco-2

monolayers. TEER did not vary significantly at the end of GSPE incubation at the concentrations tested (p>0.05; results not shown).

We next evaluated whether GSPE was able to exert preventive effects against the monolayer integrity loss and proinflammatory state promoted by Fruc150. GSPE did not prevent a fructose-induced TEER drop at 10 or 25 µg mL<sup>-1</sup>, but a tendency (p<0.1) was found at 50 µg mL<sup>-1</sup> (**Figure 3A**). However, this slight effect was not associated with changes in the permeation of FD4 (**Figure 3B**) or in the expression of TJ-related genes (results not shown). Finally, the increase in IL-8 secretion promoted by Fruc150 was not effectively attenuated at any concentration of GSPE (p>0.05; **Figure 3C**).



**Figure 3**. Influence of preventive GSPE treatment on permeability and proinflammatory changes induced by high fructose concentrations in Caco-2 monolayers. (A) Transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER), (B) apparent permeability (*Papp*) of fluorescein isothiocyanate-dextran 4 kDa (FD4) and (C) basolateral IL-8 secretion were measured after cell monolayers were exposed to GSPE (10, 25 and 50  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>) for 20 h followed by a 5-h incubation period with fructose at high concentration (150 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>). Values presented are mean ± SEM of three independent experiments. The different letters indicate statistically significant differences, *p*<0.05.

# 4. Discussion

The intake of fructose in the diet has been on the rise over the past few decades, and the consumption of large quantities seems to be related to metabolic alterations and illness [6], although the link is not fully understood and remains controversial [8]. Our findings are in agreement with several lines of evidence suggesting that high fructose intake causes intestinal permeability [11,29], which in turn seems to play a pivotal role in metabolic disorders [30].

The oral administration of high doses of fructose to experimental animals was reported to induce metabolic endotoxemia and systemic inflammation, which is consistent with an enhanced influx of luminal content across the intestinal epithelium [9,31,32]. In the current study, high concentrations of fructose (≥150 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>) promoted drastic but transient increases in TEER of Caco-2 monolayers. This most likely indicated the collapse of lateral intercellular spaces due to a sudden increase in apical medium osmolarity and not an actual integrity reinforcement [33,34]. After the first hour of incubation, the increase in TEER was followed by a gradual drop accompanied by enhanced permeation of molecular markers. Increases in permeability were also recently reported in the monolayers of human HT-29 [29] and T84 [32] colon cells exposed to lower concentrations of fructose than those tested in this study  $(0.1-10 \text{ mmol } L^{-1})$ , but incubated for longer periods of time (up to 24 h). In both studies, the enhanced permeability was associated with the disruption of TJ due to the downregulation of TJ proteins such as zonula occludens 1, occludin, claudin 1 and claudin 4. Although we did not find any changes in the expressions of the TJ protein genes examined or the myosin light chain kinase gene at the fructose concentrations and incubation times tested, we cannot rule out the occurrence of changes in protein synthesis affecting the integrity of junctional complexes. This is a possibility that should be further explored.

In accordance with other in vitro studies performed with cell lines [29,35,36], fructose promoted injury and a proinflammatory state in Caco-2 cells. Increases in proinflammatory cytokine production, including IL-8, have also been reported under apical hyperosmolarity in Caco-2 [34,37], although in these studies the hyperosmotic media had no effect on cell viability (LDH release) up to 24 h. This suggests that the cell injury found in this study is directly linked to the presence of fructose itself and not to osmotic stress [38]. Fructose is a unique monosaccharide that bypasses the regulatory phosphofructokinase step of glycolysis, entering directly into the glycolytic pathway as fructose-1-phosphate after phosphorylation by fructokinase (KHK), predominantly by KHK C. Unlike phosphofructokinase, KHK C is not regulated by negative feedback, and high intracellular levels of fructose can result in a transient phosphate and ATP depletion process that might arrest protein synthesis and produce a proinflammatory environment [35,39,40]. This process has been associated with hepatotoxicity in experimental animals [41] and it might also occur in the proximal segment of the small intestine where KHK C is highly expressed [38,42].

As mentioned earlier, subchronic oral administration of GSPE effectively prevented/ameliorated intestinal dysfunction and metabolic endotoxemia in Wistar rats fed a cafeteria diet [14,22]. Recently, a loquat extract enriched with polyphenols was also reported to attenuate the intestinal permeability and increased hepatic endotoxin levels induced by a high-fructose diet in mice when co-administered orally [43]. In the present study, a 20-h incubation period with GSPE was not able to prevent the proinflammatory changes and permeability alterations promoted by high fructose concentrations in Caco-2 monolayers. We speculate that the adverse metabolic effects of fructose at the concentrations/incubation time tested were too severe for the associated detrimental changes in inflammation and permeability to be effectively counteracted by GSPE under these experimental conditions. In addition, it is possible that a substantial part of the health-promoting properties attributed to GSPE *in vivo* are related to the microbial degradation of
parental compounds during intestinal transit [44,45]. Thus, the use of a GSPEdigested phenolic extract could be an interesting approach to test this assumption.

In summary, high concentrations of fructose achievably in the small intestine in the context of the typical Western diet promoted inflammation, injury and death of cultivated Caco-2 cells within a short period of time, thus negatively affecting the integrity of cell monolayers and enhancing molecular permeability. The detrimental changes induced by fructose could not be prevented by GSPE under the experimental conditions established in this study.

**Author contributions:** C.G.-Q, X.T. and M.T.B. conceived the ideas and the experimental design. C.G.-Q. performed the experiments and data collection, C.G.-Q. and M.T.B performed the statistical analysis and drafted the manuscript. R.B.-D., M.P., A.A. and X.T. contributed to the revision. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

**Acknowledgments:** This research was funded by the Spanish Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad, Grant AGL2017-83477-R. C. González-Quilen received financial support through a FI-AGAUR grant from the Generalitat de Catalunya. M. Pinent and X. Terra are Serra-Húnter fellows at the Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Tarragona, Spain.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest regarding the publication of this paper.

#### References

- 1. Azaïs-Braesco, V.; Sluik, D.; Maillot, M.; Kok, F.; Moreno, L.A. A review of total & added sugar intakes and dietary sources in Europe. *Nutr. J.* **2017**, *16*, 6.
- 2. Marriott, B.P.; Hunt, K.J.; Malek, A.M.; Newman, J.C. Trends in intake of energy and total sugar from sugar-sweetened beverages in the United States among children and adults, NHANES 2003-2016. *Nutrients* **2019**, *11*, 2004.
- 3. Bray, G.A.; Popkin, B.M. Dietary sugar and body weight: Have we reached a crisis in

the epidemic of obesity and diabetes?: Health be damned! Pour on the sugar. *Diabetes Care* **2014**, *37*, 950–956.

- 4. World Health Organization WHO Guideline: Sugars intake for adults and children. *WHO Libr. Cat. Data* **2015**, *26*, 34–36.
- 5. Vos, M.B.; Kimmons, J.E.; Gillespie, C.; Welsh, J.; Blank, H.M. Dietary fructose consumption among US children and adults: The Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey CME. *MedGenMed Medscape Gen. Med.* **2008**, *10*, 160.
- 6. Malik, V.S.; Popkin, B.M.; Bray, G.A.; Després, J.P.; Willett, W.C.; Hu, F.B. Sugarsweetened beverages and risk of metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes: A metaanalysis. *Diabetes Care* **2010**, *33*, 2477–2483.
- 7. Kahn, R.; Sievenpiper, J.L. Dietary sugar and body weight: Have we reached a crisis in the epidemic of obesity and diabetes? We have but the pox on sugar is overwrought and overworked. *Diabetes Care* **2014**, *37*, 957–962.
- 8. Stanhope, K.L. Sugar consumption, metabolic disease and obesity: The state of the controversy. *Crit. Rev. Clin. Lab. Sci.* **2016**, *53*, 52–67.
- 9. Bergheim, I.; Weber, S.; Vos, M.; Krämer, S.; Volynets, V.; Kaserouni, S.; McClain, C.J.; Bischoff, S.C. Antibiotics protect against fructose-induced hepatic lipid accumulation in mice: Role of endotoxin. *J. Hepatol.* **2008**, *48*, 983–992.
- 10. Kavanagh, K.; Wylie, A.T.; Tucker, K.L.; Hamp, T.J.; Gharaibeh, R.Z.; Fodor, A.A.; Cullen, J.M. Dietary fructose induces endotoxemia and hepatic injury in calorically controlled primates. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2013**, *98*, 349–357.
- 11. Do, M.H.; Lee, E.; Oh, M.J.; Kim, Y.; Park, H.Y. High-glucose or-fructose diet cause changes of the gut microbiota and metabolic disorders in mice without body weight change. *Nutrients* **2018**, *10*, E761.
- 12. Cani, P.D.; Osto, M.; Geurts, L.; Everard, A. Involvement of gut microbiota in the development of low-grade inflammation and type 2 diabetes associated with obesity. *Gut Microbes* **2012**, *3*, 279–88.
- 13. Casanova-Martí, À.; Serrano, J.; Portune, K.J.; Sanz, Y.; Blay, M.T.; Terra, X.; Ardévol, A.; Pinent, M. Grape seed proanthocyanidins influence gut microbiota and enteroendocrine secretions in female rats. *Food Funct.* **2018**, *9*, 1672–1682.
- 14. González-Quilen, C.; Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Beltrán-Debón, R.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Terra, X.; Blay, M.T. Grape-seed proanthocyanidins are able to reverse intestinal dysfunction and metabolic endotoxemia induced by a cafeteria diet in wistar rats. *Nutrients* **2019**, *11*.
- 15. Chelakkot, C.; Ghim, J.; Ryu, S.H. Mechanisms regulating intestinal barrier integrity and its pathological implications. *Exp. Mol. Med.* **2018**, *50*, 103.
- 16. Groschwitz, K.R.; Hogan, S.P. Intestinal barrier function: molecular regulation and

disease pathogenesis. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2009, 124, 3–20; quiz 21–2.

- 17. Li, S.; Xu, M.; Niu, Q.; Xu, S.; Ding, Y.; Yan, Y.; Guo, S.; Li, F. Efficacy of procyanidins against in vivo cellular oxidative damage: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One* **2015**, *10*, e0139455.
- 18. Rodríguez-Pérez, C.; García-Villanova, B.; Guerra-Hernández, E.; Verardo, V. Grape seeds proanthocyanidins: An overview of in vivo bioactivity in animal models. *Nutrients* **2019**, *11*.
- 19. Greenberg, J.A.; O'donnell, R.; Shurpin, M.; Kordunova, D. Epicatechin, procyanidins, cocoa, and appetite: A randomized controlled trial. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2016**, *104*, 613–619.
- 20. Valls, R.M.; Llauradó, E.; Fernández-Castillejo, S.; Puiggrós, F.; Solà, R.; Arola, L.; Pedret, A. Effects of low molecular weight procyanidin rich extract from french maritime pine bark on cardiovascular disease risk factors in stage-1 hypertensive subjects: Randomized, double-blind, crossover, placebo-controlled intervention trial. *Phytomedicine* **2016**, *23*, 1451–1461.
- 21. Shoji, T.; Yamada, M.; Miura, T.; Nagashima, K.; Ogura, K.; Inagaki, N.; Maeda-Yamamoto, M. Chronic administration of apple polyphenols ameliorates hyperglycaemia in high-normal and borderline subjects: A randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* **2017**, *129*, 43–51.
- 22. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Blay, M.; Terra, X. The coadministration of proanthocyanidins and an obesogenic diet prevents the increase in intestinal permeability and metabolic endotoxemia derived to the diet. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* **2018**, *62*, 35–42.
- 23. Boussenna, A.; Cholet, J.; Goncalves-Mendes, N.; Joubert-Zakeyh, J.; Fraisse, D.; Vasson, M.P.; Texier, O.; Felgines, C. Polyphenol-rich grape pomace extracts protect against dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis in rats. *J. Sci. Food Agric.* **2016**, *96*, 1260–1268.
- 24. Douard, V.; Ferraris, R.P. The role of fructose transporters in diseases linked to excessive fructose intake. *J. Physiol.* **2013**, *591*, 401–414.
- 25. Kellett, G.L. The facilitated component of intestinal glucose absorption. *J. Physiol.* **2001**, *531*, 585–595.
- 26. Margalef, M.; Pons, Z.; Iglesias-Carres, L.; Arola, L.; Muguerza, B.; Arola-Arnal, A. Gender-related similarities and differences in the body distribution of grape seed flavanols in rats. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2016**, *60*, 760–772.
- 27. Livak, K.J.; Schmittgen, T.D. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the  $2-\Delta\Delta$ CT method. *Methods* **2001**, *25*, 402–408.
- 28. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Arola, L.; Blay, M.; Terra, X. Chronic supplementation with dietary proanthocyanidins protects from diet-induced

intestinal alterations in obese rats. Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 2017, 61, 1601039.

- 29. Kawabata, K.; Kanmura, S.; Morinaga, Y.; Tanaka, A.; Makino, T.; Fujita, T.; Arima, S.; Sasaki, F.; Nasu, Y.; Tanoue, S.; et al. A high-fructose diet induces epithelial barrier dysfunction and exacerbates the severity of dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* **2019**, *43*, 1487–1496.
- 30. Fukui, H. Increased Intestinal Permeability and Decreased Barrier Function: Does It Really Influence the Risk of Inflammation? *Inflamm. Intest. Dis.* **2016**, *1*, 135–145.
- 31. Sellmann, C.; Priebs, J.; Landmann, M.; Degen, C.; Engstler, A.J.; Jin, C.J.; Gärttner, S.; Spruss, A.; Huber, O.; Bergheim, I. Diets rich in fructose, fat or fructose and fat alter intestinal barrier function and lead to the development of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease over time. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* **2015**, *26*, 1183–1192.
- 32. Cho, Y.E.; Kim, D.K.; Seo, W.; Gao, B.; Yoo, S.H.; Song, B.J. Fructose Promotes Leaky Gut, Endotoxemia, and Liver Fibrosis Through Ethanol-Inducible Cytochrome P450-2E1–Mediated Oxidative and Nitrative Stress. *Hepatology* **2019**.
- 33. Clarke, L.L. A guide to Ussing chamber studies of mouse intestine. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* **2009**, *296*.
- 34. Grauso, M.; Lan, A.; Andriamihaja, M.; Bouillaud, F.; Blachier, F. Hyperosmolar environment and intestinal epithelial cells: impact on mitochondrial oxygen consumption, proliferation, and barrier function in vitro. *Sci. Rep.* **2019**, *9*, 1–14.
- Cirillo, R.; Gersch, M.S.; Mu, W.; Scherer, P.M.; Kim, K.M.; Gesualdo, L.; Henderson, G.N.; Johnson, R.J.; Sautin, Y.Y. Ketohexokinase-dependent metabolism of fructose Induces proinflammatory mediators in proximal tubular cells. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 2009, 20, 545–553.
- 36. Jaiswal, N.; Agrawal, S.; Agrawal, A. High fructose-induced metabolic changes enhance inflammation in human dendritic cells. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **2019**, *197*, 237–249.
- Inokuchi, H.; Takei, T.; Aikawa, K.; Shimizu, M. The effect of hyperosmosis on paracellular permeability in caco-2 cell monolayers. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 2009, *73*, 328–334.
- Johnson, R.J.; Rivard, C.; Lanaspa, M.A.; Otabachian-Smith, S.; Ishimoto, T.; Cicerchi, C.; Cheeke, P.R.; McIntosh, B.; Hess, T. Fructokinase, Fructans, Intestinal Permeability, and Metabolic Syndrome: An Equine Connection? *J. Equine Vet. Sci.* 2013, *33*, 120–126.
- 39. Mäenpää, P.H.; Raivio, K.O.; Kekomäki, M.P. Liver adenine nucleotides: Fructoseinduced depletion and its effect on protein synthesis. *Science (80-. ).* **1968**, *161*, 1253–1254.
- 40. Abdelmalek, M.F.; Lazo, M.; Horska, A.; Bonekamp, S.; Lipkin, E.W.; Balasubramanyam, A.; Bantle, J.P.; Johnson, R.J.; Diehl, A.M.; Clark, J.M. Higher

dietary fructose is associated with impaired hepatic adenosine triphosphate homeostasis in obese individuals with type 2 diabetes. *Hepatology* **2012**, *56*, 952–960.

- 41. Jensen, T.; Abdelmalek, M.F.; Sullivan, S.; Nadeau, K.J.; Green, M.; Roncal, C.; Nakagawa, T.; Kuwabara, M.; Sato, Y.; Kang, D.H.; et al. Fructose and sugar: A major mediator of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *J. Hepatol.* **2018**, *68*, 1063–1075.
- 42. Tharabenjasin, P.; Douard, V.; Patel, C.; Krishnamra, N.; Johnson, R.J.; Zuo, J.; Ferraris, R.P. Acute interactions between intestinal sugar and calcium transport in vitro. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* **2014**, *306*, G1-12.
- 43. Li, W.; Yang, H.; Zhao, Q.; Wang, X.; Zhang, J.; Zhao, X. Polyphenol-rich loquat fruit extract prevents fructose-induced nonalcoholic fatty liver disease by modulating glycometabolism, lipometabolism, oxidative stress, inflammation, intestinal barrier, and gut microbiota in mice. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2019**, *67*, 7726–7737.
- 44. Monagas, M.; Urpi-Sarda, M.; Sánchez-Patán, F.; Llorach, R.; Garrido, I.; Gómez-Cordovés, C.; Andres-Lacueva, C.; Bartolomé, B. Insights into the metabolism and microbial biotransformation of dietary flavan-3-ols and the bioactivity of their metabolites. *Food Funct.* **2010**, *1*, 233–253.
- 45. Mena, P.; Bresciani, L.; Brindani, N.; Ludwig, I.A.; Pereira-Caro, G.; Angelino, D.; Llorach, R.; Calani, L.; Brighenti, F.; Clifford, M.N.; et al. Phenyl-γ-valerolactones and phenylvaleric acids, the main colonic metabolites of flavan-3-ols: Synthesis, analysis, bioavailability, and bioactivity. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **2019**, *36*, 714–752.

## 2. Human *ex Vivo* Study of Intestinal Dysfunction Induced by a Chemical Agent

The limitations inherent to cell culture-based models of intestinal dysfunction gave rise to the need for adopting an experimental model closer to the *in vivo* situation in humans that also share the physiological complexity of *in vivo* models.

In **Manuscript 4**, we describe a standardized human *ex vivo* model of acute colonic dysfunction induced by a colitis-inducing chemical in order to test the efficacy of GSPE administered as a preventive treatment.

Human colon samples were collected from adult oncological patients who underwent surgery at University Hospital Joan XXIII, Tarragona, Spain, and who provided prior informed consent as donor patients.

#### 2.1. Manuscript No. 4

European Journal of Nutrition https://doi.org/10.1007/s00394-020-02222-3

**ORIGINAL CONTRIBUTION** 

#### Protective properties of grape-seed proanthocyanidins in human ex vivo acute colonic dysfunction induced by dextran sodium sulfate

Carlos González-Quilen<sup>1</sup> · Carme Grau-Bové<sup>1</sup> · Rosa Jorba-Martín<sup>2</sup> · Aleidis Caro-Tarragó<sup>2</sup> · Montserrat Pinent<sup>1</sup> · Anna Ardévol<sup>1</sup> · Raúl Beltrán-Debón<sup>1</sup> · Ximena Terra<sup>1</sup> · M. Teresa Blay<sup>1</sup>

Received: 12 October 2019 / Accepted: 4 March 2020 © Springer-Verlag GmbH Germany, part of Springer Nature 2020

wo	vork.				
	Raúl Beltrán-Debón raul.beltran@urv.cat				
1	Departament de Bioquímica i Biotecnologia, MoBioFood Research Group, Universitat Rovira I Virgili, 43007 Tarragona, Spain				
2	Servei de Cirurgia General i de l'Aparell Digestiu, Hospital Universitari Joan XXIII, Tarragona, Spain				

#### Published in European Journal of Nutrition (Springer Nature)

March 2020 [Online First]. DOI: 10.1007/s00394-020-02222-3

### Protective properties of grape-seed proanthocyanidins in human *ex vivo* acute colonic dysfunction induced by dextran sodium sulphate.

By Carlos González-Quilen<sup>1</sup>, Carme Grau-Bové<sup>1</sup>, Rosa Jorba-Martín<sup>2</sup>, Aleidis Caro-Tarragó<sup>2</sup>, Montserrat Pinent<sup>1</sup>, Anna Ardévol<sup>1</sup>, Raúl Beltrán-Debón<sup>1</sup>, Ximena Terra<sup>1</sup> and M Teresa Blay<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Departament de Bioquímica i Biotecnologia, MoBioFood Research Group, 43007 Tarragona, Spain

<sup>2</sup> Servei de Cirurgia General i de l'Aparell Digestiu, Hospital Universitari Joan XXIII, Tarragona, Spain

#### Abstract

*Purpose*: Anti-inflammatory and barrier protective properties have been attributed to proanthocyanidins in the context of intestinal dysfunction, however little information is available about the impact of these phytochemicals on intestinal barrier integrity and immune response in the human. Here we assessed the putative protective properties of a grape-seed proanthocyanidin extract (GSPE) against dextran sodium sulphate (DSS)-induced acute dysfunction of the human colon in an Ussing chamber system. *Methods*: Human proximal and distal colon tissues from colectomized patients were submitted *ex vivo* to a 30-minute preventive GSPE treatment (50 or 200 µg mL<sup>-1</sup>) followed by 1-hour incubation with DSS (12% w v<sup>-1</sup>). Transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER), permeation of a fluorescently-labelled dextran (FD4) and proinflammatory cytokine release (tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$  and interleukin (IL)-1 $\beta$ ) of colonic tissues were determined. *Results*: DSS reduced TEER (45-52%) in both the proximal and distal

colon; however, significant increments in FD4 permeation (4-fold) and TNF- $\alpha$  release (61%) were observed only in the proximal colon. The preventive GSPE treatment decreased DSS-induced TEER loss (20-32%), FD4 permeation (66-73%) and TNF- $\alpha$  release (22-33%) of the proximal colon dose-dependently. The distal colon was not responsive to the preventive treatment but showed a reduction in IL-1 $\beta$  release below basal levels with the highest GSPE concentration. *Conclusions*: Our results demonstrate potential preventive effects of GSPE on human colon dysfunction. Further studies are required to test whether administering GSPE could be a complementary therapeutic approach in colonic dysfunction associated with metabolic disorders and inflammatory bowel disease.

**Keywords**: Human colon; Ussing chamber; inflammation; permeability; flavonoid; procyanidin

#### 1. Introduction

Intestinal dysfunction, characterized by an increase in epithelial permeability and mucosal inflammation, is a manifestation commonly observed in obesity and inflammatory bowel disease (ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease; IBD) [1]. Intestinal barrier integrity is a key feature in human health as it is essential for maintaining normal intestinal permeability. When the barrier function is compromised by detrimental agents (e.g. diet components and chemicals) the permeability is altered, which can lead to the translocation and dissemination of luminal content into the underlying tissue, including bacterial lipopolysaccharides (LPS) [1,2]. Chronic exposition to these elements triggers the ubiquitous expression of inflammatory transcription factors, such as nuclear factor kappalight-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- $\kappa$ B), which leads to the production of proinflammatory cytokines like tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ , interleukin (IL)-1 $\beta$  and IL-6, with a concomitant decrease in the anti-inflammatory cytokines and

proteins [3,4]. This disruption of the intestinal epithelial-cell barrier is closely associated with the onset of metabolic disorders [1,5,6].

The link between alterations of the intestinal barrier function and inflammation has been studied in animals exposed to various chemicals [7]. In recent years, many *in vivo* experiments have employed dextran sodium sulphate (DSS) as a chemical inductor of colonic dysfunction because of its simplicity and reproducible effect that closely resembles human ulcerative colitis [8]. DSS is a water-soluble sulphated polysaccharide of negative charge and highly variable molecular weight. The administration in murines of 40-50 kDa DSS added to drinking water (up to 10% w v<sup>-1</sup>) results in the erosion of the colon epithelium, which compromises barrier integrity and increases colonic epithelial permeability [8]. The DSS-induced damage is almost completely restricted to the colon mucosa, although the reason for this is not known. It has been suggested that DSS forms nano-lipocomplexes with medium-chain-length fatty acids in the colon, which disrupts the epithelial barrier [9].

Interventions for improving intestinal barrier integrity have shown promising results in the context of inflammatory bowel disease and metabolic disorders [1]. Multiple studies using experimental animals demonstrate the beneficial effects of proanthocyanidin, which can ameliorate intestinal dysfunction derived from the diet [10,11], spontaneously-induced or produced by chemical agents [12]. Proanthocyanidins are oligomeric and polymeric flavan-3-ols, mainly composed of (+)-catechin and (-)-epicatechin monomers. They are present in a wide variety of plant derived foods and beverages and constitute one of the most abundant groups of phenolic compounds in the human diet [13]. Proanthocyanidins from grape seeds have been shown to improve colonic permeability alterations and local inflammation induced by DSS and other chemicals in experimental rats, often exerting an effect comparable to sulfasalazine, an anti-inflammatory drug [14–16]. The metabolic effects of grape-seed proanthocyanidins on intestinal mucosa

described in these *in vivo* studies include increasing antioxidant enzyme activity and reducing proinflammatory mediators, such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ , as well as the associated immune cell infiltration. It has been proposed that the reduction in mucosal inflammation is mediated by the inhibition of the NF- $\kappa$ B signal transduction pathway [17,18].

Although there is much evidence supporting the gut-protective properties of grapeseed proanthocyanidins, there are few studies that analyze the efficacy of these phytochemicals in humans and thus efforts should focus on this. The Ussing chamber technique is a valuable tool for studying human intestinal function [19,20]. The set-up consists of two half chambers separating the apical and basolateral domains of the mucosal preparation, thus mimicking the *in vivo* situation of the epithelium and permitting an accurate prediction of intestinal function. In this set-up, tissue integrity can be monitored by electrophysiological parameters such as the transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER), that reflects the ionic conductance of the paracellular pathway. Furthermore, preserving the tissue architecture maintains the interplay between the different cell types, which not only makes it possible to study site-specific transport of molecules across the epithelium but also the metabolic effects of bioactives administered in a donor compartment that simulates the intestinal lumen [19].

In the present study, healthy/normal colon tissues from donor oncology patients who underwent colectomy were used to perform Ussing chamber-based experiments. In these *ex vivo* assays, human proximal and distal colon tissues were exposed to DSS as an inductor of acute dysfunction to evaluate the putative barrier-protective and anti-inflammatory properties of a grape-seed proanthocyanidin extract (GSPE).

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Proanthocyanidin extract

The grape-seed proanthocyanidin extract (GSPE) was provided by Les Dérivés Résiniques et Terpéniques (batch number 124029; Dax, France). According to the manufacturer the GSPE has the following composition: monomers of flavan-3-ols (21.3%), dimers (17.4%), trimers (16.3%), tetramers (13.3%) and oligomers (5–13 units; 31.7%) of proanthocyanidins. A detailed analysis of the monomeric, dimeric, and trimeric structures of the GSPE can be found in the work by Margalef et al. [21]. The GSPE was dissolved in DMSO 50% to prepare a stock solution of 100 mg mL<sup>-1</sup>.

#### 2.2. Collection of human tissues

Human colon tissues were collected from 62 consecutive donor patients with pathologically confirmed colorectal carcinoma and a median age of 65 years (range: 28–82 years), who underwent colon surgery between 2016 and 2019 in the University Hospital Joan XXIII (Tarragona, Spain). Exclusion criteria included the consumption of anti-inflammatory drugs, alcohol abuse and the presence of IBD or celiac disease as these would alter intestinal functioning. All donor patients gave informed consent and the study was approved by the ethics committee of the University Hospital Joan XXIII (ref. CEIm 101/2017). The characteristics of patients included in this study are summarized in **Table 1**.

Non-diseased tissues that were not strictly needed for diagnosis purposes were excised from the proximal colon (cecum, ascending, hepatic flexure, and transverse colon; n=27) and distal colon (splenic flexure, descending and sigmoid colon; n=34). After resection, these colon tissues were transferred from the hospital within 30 min in ice-cold Krebs-Ringer bicarbonate (KRB) buffer (pH 7.4) saturated with 95% oxygen and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. After rinsing, tissues were mounted in a plastic tube to facilitate the removal of the serosal and outer muscular layers with a scalpel

(stripping). The stripped preparations were placed apical side up on Parafilm M (Heathrow Scientific, Vernon Hills, IL, USA) and segments of approximately  $1.5 \times 1.0$  cm were cut for the Ussing chamber experiments.

	All $(n-61)$	Proximal colon	Distal colon
	AII ( <i>n</i> =01)	donors ( <i>n</i> =27)	donors ( <i>n</i> =34)
Age (years)			
<50	14 (22.5%)	5 (18.5%)	9 (25.7%)
50-60	30 (48.4%)	12 (44.5%)	18 (51.4%)
>60	18 (29.0%)	10 (37.0%)	8 (22.9%)
Gender			
Male	34 (54.8%)	13 (48.1%)	21 (60.0%)
Female	28 (45.2%)	14 (51.9%)	14 (40.0%)
Tobacco consumption			
Never	50 (80.6%)	20 (74.0%)	30 (85.7%)
<20 cigarettes per day	9 (14.5%)	4 (14.8%)	5 (14.3%)
>20 cigarettes per day	3 (4.9%)	3 (11.2%)	0 (0.0%)
Alcohol consumption			
Never	35 (56.4%)	14 (52.4%)	20 (58.1%)
Mild-Moderate	27 (43.6%)	13 (47.6%)	15 (41.9%)
BMI (kg m <sup>-2</sup> )	27.6 ± 0.7	28.1 ± 1.1	27.3 ± 0.8
Glucose (mM)	$5.8 \pm 0.2$	$5.7 \pm 0.4$	$5.9 \pm 0.3$
Cholesterol (mg dL <sup>-1</sup> )			
Total	187.4 ± 5.6	183.0 ± 9.6	190.0 ± 6.9
HDL	55.4 ± 3.7	53.0 ± 6.5	57.0 ± 4.3
LDL	$108.1 \pm 7.8$	$100.8 \pm 10.3$	114.1 ± 11.4
Triglycerides (mg dL-1)	114.2 ± 7.7	105.3 ± 10.2	$120.0 \pm 10.1$

**Table 1**. Descriptive statistic and biochemical parameters of the donor patients.

Data is presented as number of patients (percentage) or mean ± SEM.

#### 2.3. Ussing chamber experiments

Depending on tissue availability, up to four stripped proximal or distal colon segments of one patient were placed in 0.237 cm<sup>2</sup> aperture Ussing chambers (Dipl.-Ing. Mussler Scientific Instruments, Aachen, Germany) for each experiment. Ussing chambers were bathed apically and basolaterally with 1.5 mL of fresh KRB buffer (pH 7.4). The basolateral bathing solutions contained 10 mM of glucose (Panreac, Barcelona, Spain) and were osmotically balanced in the apical compartments with 10 mM of mannitol (Sigma, Madrid, Spain). Bathing solutions were continuously bubbled with a  $O_2/CO_2$  (95%/5%) gas mixture and circulated in water-jacketed reservoirs kept at 37 °C.

After a 20-30-min equilibration period, the colon segments were randomly assigned to one of four experimental conditions (**Figure 1**). The bathing solution of the apical compartments was replaced by KRB buffer containing GSPE at 50  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup> (GSPE50-DSS condition) or 200  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup> (GSPE200-DSS condition) or plain KRB buffer (DSS condition). The DMSO concentration was kept at  $\leq 0.1\%$  in the apical media. A KRB buffer with protease inhibitors (10  $\mu$ M amastatin (Enzo Life Sciences, Madrid, Spain), 500 KIU aprotinin (Sigma, Madrid, Spain) and 0.1% bovine serum albumin fatty acid free) was added to the basolateral compartments. Tissues were incubated for 30 min, after which the apical media were replaced by KRB buffer containing 12% w v<sup>-1</sup> of dextran sodium sulphate (DSS, MW: 36,000–50,000; MP Biomedicals, Solon, OH, USA). After one additional hour, the basolateral media were stored at -80 °C for further analysis. A control (Ctrl condition) with plain KRB buffer was also included to assess the effect of the DSS.

#### 2.4. Histology

Stripped and non-stripped colon segments were haematoxilin-eosin stained to evaluate the tissue structure after stripping. Tissues were fixed in 4% diluted formaldehyde. After 24 h of fixation, the tissues were successively dehydrated (alcohol/ethanol 70%, 96% and 100%; plus xylol/dimethylbenzene) and paraffin infiltration-immersed at 52 °C. Then, sections 2  $\mu$ m thick (Microm HM 355S, Thermo Scientific) were obtained, deposited on slides (JP Selecta Paraffin Bath), and subjected to automated hematoxylin-eosin staining (Shandon Varistain Gemini, Thermo Scientific).



**Figure 1**. Schematic diagram of the experimental protocol. For each experiment carried out, four stripped proximal or distal colon segments of one patient were randomly assigned to one of four experimental conditions. Ctrl (control), only Krebs-Ringer bicarbonate (KRB) buffer; DSS, acute colonic dysfunction induced by 12% of dextran sodium sulphate in KRB buffer; GSPE-DSS, incubation with the grape-seed proanthocyanidin extract (GSPE) followed by DSS-induced acute colonic dysfunction. Specified media were added apically. KRB-glucose buffer with protease inhibitors was used in the basolateral compartment (see text for details).

#### 2.5. Electrophysiological parameters

A four-electrode system coupled to an external 6-channel voltage/current clamp electronic unit (Dipl.-Ing. Mussler Scientific Instruments, Aachen, Germany) was used for monitoring the electrophysiological parameters in each Ussing chamber. One pair of Ag/Cl electrodes was used for measuring the potential difference (PD) and another pair for the current passage. The spontaneous transepithelial PD was measured under open-circuit conditions after appropriate correction for fluid resistance. TEER (ohm cm<sup>2</sup>) was calculated every 30 minutes from the transepithelial PD and the short-circuit current in accordance with Ohm's law.

#### 2.6. Paracellular transport of fluorescently labeled dextran

A stock solution of 110 mg mL<sup>-1</sup> of 4-kDa fluorescein isothiocyanate-dextran (FD4; TdB Consultancy AB, Uppsala, Sweden) was prepared in phosphate-buffered saline. FD4 was added apically in each Ussing chamber at a final concentration of 5.6 mg mL<sup>-1</sup> and incubated for 1 h during the induction of acute colonic dysfunction by DSS. The amount of FD4 that crossed to the basolateral compartment was measured in a PerkinElmer LS-30 fluorimeter (Beaconsfield, U.K.) at  $\lambda_{exc}$ =430 nm and  $\lambda_{em}$ =540 nm and compared with a FD4 standard curve. FD4 transport across the colon mucosa was calculated as apparent permeability (*Papp*) using the following equation:

$$Papp (mL/cm^2 \times s) = (V/A \times t) \times (C_{ba}/C_{ap}),$$

where *V* is the basolateral volume, A is the exposed surface area, *t* is the incubation time and  $C_{ba}$  and  $C_{ap}$  are the concentrations of FD4 in the basolateral and apical media, respectively. To compare the permeation of FD4 between the DSS and GSPE-DSS experimental conditions, values were taken relative to the Ctrl levels.

#### 2.7. Proinflammatory cytokine release

Human TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  levels were determined using commercially available ELISA kits according to the manufacturer's instructions (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Cytokine levels corresponded to the total amount released from colon tissues to the basolateral media of each Ussing chamber at the end of the experiments. The absorbances were measured with a BioTek Eon microplate spectrophotometer (BioTek Instruments Inc., Winooski, VT, USA) at 450 nm and cytokine levels were expressed as picograms per milliliter. The analytical sensitivities of the assays were 0.13 and 0.3 pg mL<sup>-1</sup>, respectively.

#### 2.8. Statistical analysis

Unless otherwise indicated, results are expressed as the mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM). The mean represents the average value of determinations performed in n patients. The sample size (*n*) for each variable measured is indicated in the corresponding figure caption. Descriptive statistics and comparisons between groups were assessed with unpaired one-sided Student's *t*-tests, and *p*-values <0.05 were considered statistically significant. Analyses were performed with the XLSTAT 2019.1.3 software (Addinsoft, NY, USA). Linear regressions were fitted in Microsoft Excel 2016 software (Microsoft Corporation, Redmond, WA, USA).

#### 3. Results

# 3.1. Structural evaluation of colonic tissues after removal of the external muscular layer

We evaluated the protective properties of the GSPE in the human colon in DSSinduced dysfunctional mucosa. For this purpose, we mounted stripped preparations from human proximal and distal colon tissues in an Ussing chamber system. The stripped preparations were structurally conserved and consisted of the epithelial cell layer, the lamina propria, the muscularis mucosae and the submucosal layer (**Figure. 2b**).

#### 3.2. Electrophysiological parameters of colonic tissues

The basal electrophysiological parameters of all colon segments were measured. The spontaneous transepithelial PD and initial TEER values were  $-0.66 \pm 0.13$  mV and  $41.6 \pm 1.7$  ohm cm<sup>2</sup> for the proximal colon (*n*=27) and  $-0.42 \pm 0.13$  mV and  $31.8 \pm 1.4$  ohm cm<sup>2</sup> (*n*=34) for the distal colon. TEER differences between the proximal and distal colon were statistically significant (*p*<0.01). Barrier integrity is malleable and depends on multiple factors. Therefore, potential differences in the

initial TEER due to gender were evaluated in the proximal colon (males (n=17): 39.6 ± 2.0 ohm cm<sup>2</sup> vs. females (n=10): 45.0 ± 3.1 ohm cm<sup>2</sup>; p>0.05) and distal colon (males (n=21): 32.5±1.7 ohm cm<sup>2</sup> vs. females (n=13): 30.7 ± 2.2 ohm cm<sup>2</sup>; p>0.05).



**Figure 2**. Haematoxilin-eosin staining of transversal sections from the human colon before (a) and after (b) the serosal and outer muscular layers were removed. The muscularis externa is completely absent after stripping.

We also performed correlations between BMI, age and initial TEER values in order to discard a potential influence of the patient's body weight and/or age on differences in the inter-variability of tissue integrity (**Figure 3**). There were no statistically significant correlations between these variables in any colon region. TEER values of the control conditions did not show significant changes during the 90-minute experiments in either kind of tissue (**Figure 4a**).

#### 3.3. Basal macromolecular permeability of the proximal and distal colon

We found detectable FD4 permeations in the control conditions of the proximal  $(6.3 \pm 1.4 \times 10^{-6} \text{ mL cm}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1}, n=15)$  and distal colon  $(2.5 \pm 0.5 \times 10^{-6} \text{ mL cm}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1}, n=15)$  at the end of the experiments. Differences were statistically significant (p<0.05) and in agreement with those found in TEER.



**Figure 3.** Linear relationships between age, BMI and TEER values in the proximal (a) and distal (b) colon. The inset shows the Pearson's r correlation and the corresponding *p*-value

## 3.4. A preventive GSPE treatment attenuates DSS-induced permeability in the proximal colon.

The presence of DSS had a detrimental effect on tissue integrity. This effect was more severe in the proximal colon with a 44% reduction in TEER at 90 min compared to the control (p<0.01; **Figure 4a**). In the distal colon a reduction of 37% at 90 min was estimated (p<0.01). The loss of tissue integrity induced by DSS came with a 2–4-fold increase in FD4 permeation to the basolateral media. However, the effect of DSS on FD4 permeation was only statistically significant in the proximal colon (DSS:  $8.8 \pm 2.5 \times 10^{-6}$  mL cm<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>, n=15 vs. Ctrl:  $2.5 \pm 0.5 \times 10^{-6}$  mL cm<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>, n=16; p<0.05). Even though the presence of the GSPE in the apical medium did not significantly change the TEER of the proximal or distal colon during the initial 30-minute incubation at any concentration (p>0.05; **Figure 4a**), interestingly GSPE

attenuated the DSS-induced decreased integrity in the proximal colon at 60 and 90 min (p<0.05). This effect was dose dependent and therefore more pronounced in the GSPE200-DSS condition, with a 32% reduction in TEER loss at 90 min (p<0.01; **Figure 4a**). FD4 permeation was also reduced in the GSPE-DSS conditions by 66-73% (p<0.05; **Figure 4b**). We did not find any significant effect of the preventive GSPE treatments on TEER or FD4 permeation in the distal colon.



**Figure 4**. Effect of the preventive GSPE treatment on TEER (a) and FD4 relative permeation (b) in DSS-induced dysfunctional human colon. GSPE (50 and 200  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>) was incubated apically during the first 30 min at 37 °C. After a washout, DSS at 12% was added apically (black arrows) and maintained until the end of the experiment. Ctrl (control), only Krebs-

Ringer bicarbonate buffer. FD4 was added apically at 30 min and determined from the basolateral media at 90 min. The dashed lines indicate the basal FD4 permeation (Ctrl condition). Values are presented as mean ± SEM. The sample size for each variable was: TEER (proximal, distal colon), Ctrl *n*=26, *n*=21; DSS *n*=27, *n*=23; GSPE50-DSS *n*=23, *n*=19; GSPE200-DSS *n*=22, *n*=17. FD4 permeation (proximal, distal colon), Ctrl *n*=15, *n*=14; DSS *n*=15, *n*=13; GSPE50-DSS *n*=13, n=7; GSPE200-DSS *n*=10, n=10. \**p*<0.05 versus control; #*p*<0.05 versus DSS.

#### 3.5. Basal release of pro-inflammatory cytokines

We found detectable concentrations of the proinflammatory cytokines TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  in the basolateral media of the Ussing chamber at 90 min of incubation. While similar basal levels of TNF- $\alpha$  were found in the proximal and distal colon (*p*>0.05; **Figure 5a**), the basal release of IL-1 $\beta$  was approximately 3-fold higher in the latter (*p*<0.05; **Figure 5b**).

# 3.6. A preventive GSPE treatment reduces DSS-induced TNF- $\alpha$ release in the proximal colon and modulates IL-1 $\beta$ release in the distal colon.

DSS increased (61%) TNF- $\alpha$  release in the proximal colon at 90 min (p<0.01; **Figure 5a**); however, we did not observe significant changes in the distal colon (**Figure 5b**). In addition, DSS did not change IL-1 $\beta$  release significantly in the proximal or distal colon. Lastly, the preventive GSPE treatment reduced the DSS-induced TNF- $\alpha$  release of the proximal colon by 22–33% (**Figure 5a**), although only GSPE200-DSS exerted a significant effect (p<0.05). We did not find any significant effect of GSPE on the TNF- $\alpha$  release of the distal colon; however, GSPE200-DSS modulated IL-1 $\beta$  secretion in this tissue with a 56% reduction with respect to the control (p<0.05; **Figure 5b**).



**Figure 5**. Effect of the preventive GSPE treatment on the secretion levels of TNF- $\alpha$  (a) and IL-1 $\beta$  (b) in DSS-induced dysfunctional human colon. Ctrl (control), only Krebs-Ringer bicarbonate (KRB) buffer; DSS, acute dysfunction induced by 12% of dextran sodium sulphate in KRB buffer; GSPE-DSS, incubation with the GSPE followed by DSS-induced acute dysfunction. Values are presented as mean ± SEM. The sample size for each variable was: TNF- $\alpha$  (proximal, distal colon), Ctrl *n*=20, *n*=19; DSS *n*=20, *n*=19; GSPE50-DSS *n*=17, *n*=15; GSPE200-DSS *n*=16, *n*=14. IL-1 $\beta$  (proximal, distal colon), Ctrl *n*=14, n=19; DSS *n*=14, *n*=19; GSPE50-DSS *n*=12, *n*=14; GSPE200-DSS *n*=12, *n*=14. \**p*<0.05 versus control; #*p*<0.05 versus DSS.

#### 4. Discussion

We developed a feasible *ex vivo* Ussing chamber-based model to analyze the therapeutic potential of GSPE in human colon tissues exposed to a detrimental chemical agent (DSS), thus avoiding some of the challenges and limitations of *in vivo* studies in humans [22].

In our model, TEER of the control conditions of both proximal and distal colon tissues was very stable during the Ussing chamber experiments. In previous studies, TEER values of 29-39 ohm cm<sup>2</sup> have been found in distal colon tissues taken from endoscopy biopsies [23] and approximately 109-120 ohm cm<sup>2</sup> in tissues from different colonic locations obtained from surgical procedures [20,24]. Basal electrophysiological parameters usually vary greatly even within segments of the same tissue. This variability has been described in other *ex vivo* studies performed with the human intestine [25]; however, regional variations in colonic integrity have not been studied extensively. It is noteworthy that we observed a higher TEER and lower macromolecular permeation in the proximal colon compared to the distal colon, which suggests a decline in tissue integrity along the large intestine. These findings replicate regional variations of colonic integrity observed in rats [26,27] and are in agreement with results obtained in a recent study performed with colon biopsies of healthy donors [27].

The effect of DSS on TEER was particularly severe in the proximal colon and consistent with the enhanced macromolecular permeability also found in this tissue. Our results are in agreement with *in vitro* studies performed in human epithelial colorectal adenocarcinoma Caco-2 cells, where DSS added apically rapidly decreased monolayer TEER [28,29] and led to an enhanced FD4 permeation to the basolateral medium [29,30]. These similarities validate our *ex vivo* model with the added value of preserving the tissue architecture and cell diversity, features not achieved with *in vitro* models.

We also examined the immune system response to DSS to get a more in-depth characterization of the *ex vivo* model. The activation of the intestinal immune system due to the epithelial barrier alterations leads to the production of inflammatory mediators [31,32]. Our results show that the detrimental stimuli of DSS produces slight but significant increases in TNF- $\alpha$  release in the proximal colon after a short period of time. TNF- $\alpha$  is a key immunoregulatory cytokine mainly secreted by the monocytic lineage that amplifies the inflammatory response to recruit other immune cells [33]. Histochemical analyses of uptake and tissue distribution of DSS in mice indicate that DSS rapidly penetrates the colon mucosa and small amounts are found in resident macrophages as early as the day after administration [34]. Since most of the resident macrophages of the lamina propria are hypo-responsive to proinflammatory elements as an adaptation to the antigenrich microenvironment [35], the DSS-induced release of TNF- $\alpha$  seen here probably reflects the small number of CD14<sup>+</sup> macrophages of normal mucosa that are involved in sensing bacterial LPS [36]. It cannot be ruled out that other cell types contribute to this because intestinal epithelial cells may also secrete TNF- $\alpha$  in an injury context [37].

Once a robust human *ex vivo* model of intestinal dysfunction had been defined, we assessed the potential gut-protective effects of grape-seed proanthocyanidins. Incubation with the GSPE prior to the DSS treatment attenuated the integrity loss and the concomitant increase in macromolecular permeation induced by DSS in the proximal colon. Indeed, both dietary and pharmacological doses of GSPE administered subchronically in rats prevented intestinal permeation after intraperitoneal injection of LPS [38]. In addition, we have previously reported the upregulation of genes involved in the reinforcement of tight-junction (TJ) in the intestine of diet-induced obese rats by dietary and pharmacological GSPE doses with different frequencies of oral administration [11,39,40]. The effect of proanthocyanidins on the TJ protein gene expression was recently described in LPS-induced Caco-2 cells co-treated with a procyanidin-rich apple extract [41].

157

The GSPE (200 µg mL<sup>-1</sup>) also attenuated the increase in TNF- $\alpha$  release induced by DSS in the proximal colon. This effect is in line with (1) the reduction of macromolecular permeation across the mucosa and (2) the anti-inflammatory action of the GSPE suppressing the NF- $\kappa$ B inflammatory signal pathway described elsewhere [17,18,42]. Remarkably, the barrier protective and anti-inflammatory effects of GSPE in the proximal colon were long-lasting because they were still exhibited after the media were washed out completely. Thus, beneficial long-lasting effects of a subchronic oral GSPE treatment on cafeteria diet-induced alterations (including intestinal inflammation) have been described in rats, but the associated mechanisms need to be studied further [11,43]. The reduction of IL-1 $\beta$  release estimated in the distal colon is also notable as this cytokine appears to be key in the onset of diarrhea, the main symptom of severe intestinal inflammation [44].

Finally, some considerations should be taken into account. First, the colorectal tumor is not an isolated entity but rather may alter both the macromolecular permeability [26] and the gene expression of non-tumor adjacent mucosa [45]. Thus, although colon segments used in this work were anatomopathologically tested, it cannot be ruled out that the integrity and metabolism of healthy tissues could be influenced by their proximity to cancerous lesions. Second, proanthocyanidins are partially degraded in vivo in low molecular weight phenolics by the intestinal microbiota, thus altering the bioavailability and bioactivity of the parent compounds [46,47]. Some microbial products of proanthocyanidin degradation exhibit anti-inflammatory properties and likely account for part of the beneficial effects associated with proanthocyanidin consumption in the intestinal mucosa and a large proportion of their effects at systemic level [48]. Here we exposed human colon tissues to the parent compounds of the GSPE for a short time window, which is feasible in vivo in the proximal colon [49,50]. However, the presence of these compounds is less likely in distal regions. In this scenario, it is also important to take into consideration the presence of intestinal microbiota in our samples, which can metabolize the GSPE. In this study the preparation of the biological samples did not undergo a thorough cleansing to avoid undesirable changes in the integrity of tissues. Then, in our *ex vivo* model, the presence of remnants of microbiota was likely and some degree of microbial degradation of the parent compounds would be expected. Third, it is very difficult to translate the concentrations tested here  $(50-200 \ \mu g \ mL^{-1})$  into oral doses intended for therapy; however, the gut-protective effects of GSPE found in this work would probably only be achieved in humans with pharmacological doses. A recent study conducted in healthy humans found that the daily ingestion of oral pharmacological doses of GSPE (1000–2500 mg) in healthy adults is safe and doses are well tolerated during a 4-week period [51]. Therefore, effective GSPE doses in humans need to be established by further clinical trials.

Taken together, our results indicate that the detrimental effect of DSS on tissue integrity, extent of paracellular pathway opening and local inflammatory response were more prominent in the proximal colon. We found that GSPE administered as a treatment prior to damage induction dose-dependently attenuated the epithelial barrier disruption and the local inflammatory response of the proximal colon. Furthermore, these effects were long-lasting and endured even though proanthocyanidins were not present. The distal colon was not responsive to the preventive treatment; however, basal IL-1 $\beta$  release decreased with high concentrations of GSPE. Therefore, our results demonstrate the potential preventive effects of GSPE on the acute dysfunction of the human colon. Controlled trials are necessary to test the administration of GSPE as a complementary therapeutic approach for the colonic dysfunction associated with metabolic disorders and IBD.

**Acknowledgments:** This research was funded by the Spanish Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad, grants AGL2014-55347-R, AGL2017-83477-R, and 2014LINE-06 grant from the URV-Banco Santander. C. González-Quilen received financial support through a FI-AGAUR grant from the Generalitat de Catalunya, C.

Grau-Bové is student fellow in the Martí i Franquès program of the Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Tarragona, Spain. M. Pinent and X. Terra are Serra-Húnter fellows at the Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Tarragona, Spain.

**Conflict of interest**: The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

#### References

- 1. Chelakkot, C.; Ghim, J.; Ryu, S.H. Mechanisms regulating intestinal barrier integrity and its pathological implications. *Exp. Mol. Med.* **2018**, *50*, 103.
- 2. Hamilton, M.K.; Boudry, G.; Lemay, D.G.; Raybould, H.E. Changes in intestinal barrier function and gut microbiota in high-fat diet-fed rats are dynamic and region dependent. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* **2015**, *308*, G840–G851.
- 3. Neurath, M.F. Cytokines in inflammatory bowel disease. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **2014**, *14*, 329–342.
- 4. Duan, Y.; Zeng, L.; Zheng, C.; Song, B.; Li, F.; Kong, X.; Xu, K. Inflammatory links between high fat diets and diseases. *Front. Immunol.* **2018**, *9*, 2649.
- 5. Boutagy, N.E.; McMillan, R.P.; Frisard, M.I.; Hulver, M.W. Metabolic endotoxemia with obesity: Is it real and is it relevant? *Biochimie* **2016**, *124*, 11–20.
- 6. Fukui, H. Increased Intestinal Permeability and Decreased Barrier Function: Does It Really Influence the Risk of Inflammation? *Inflamm. Intest. Dis.* **2016**, *1*, 135–145.
- 7. Randhawa, P.K.; Singh, K.; Singh, N.; Jaggi, A.S. A review on chemical-induced inflammatory bowel disease models in rodents. *Korean J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* **2014**, *18*, 279–88.
- 8. Eichele, D.D.; Kharbanda, K.K. Dextran sodium sulfate colitis murine model: An indispensable tool for advancing our understanding of inflammatory bowel diseases pathogenesis. *World J. Gastroenterol.* **2017**, *23*, 6016–6029.
- 9. Laroui, H.; Ingersoll, S.A.; Liu, H.C.; Baker, M.T.; Ayyadurai, S.; Charania, M.A.; Laroui, F.; Yan, Y.; Sitaraman, S. V.; Merlin, D. Dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) induces colitis in mice by forming nano-lipocomplexes with medium-chain-length fatty acids in the colon. *PLoS One* **2012**, *7*, e32084.
- 10. Masumoto, S.; Terao, A.; Yamamoto, Y.; Mukai, T.; Miura, T.; Shoji, T. Non-absorbable apple procyanidins prevent obesity associated with gut microbial and metabolomic changes. *Sci. Rep.* **2016**, *6*, 31208.
- 11. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Blay, M.; Terra, X. The coadministration of proanthocyanidins and an obesogenic diet prevents the increase in intestinal permeability and metabolic endotoxemia derived to the diet. *J. Nutr.*

*Biochem.* **2018**, *62*, 35–42.

- 12. Martin, D.A.; Bolling, B.W. A review of the efficacy of dietary polyphenols in experimental models of inflammatory bowel diseases. *Food Funct.* **2015**, *6*, 1773–86.
- 13. Smeriglio, A.; Barreca, D.; Bellocco, E.; Trombetta, D. Proanthocyanidins and hydrolysable tannins: occurrence, dietary intake and pharmacological effects. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **2017**, *174*, 1244–1262.
- 14. Li, X.-L.; Cai, Y.-Q.; Qin, H.; Wu, Y.-J. Therapeutic effect and mechanism of proanthocyanidins from grape seeds in rats with TNBS-induced ulcerative colitis. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* **2008**, *86*, 841–849.
- 15. Wang, Y.-H.; Yang, X.-L.; Wang, L.; Cui, M.-X.; Cai, Y.-Q.; Li, X.-L.; Wu, Y.-J. Effects of proanthocyanidins from grape seed on treatment of recurrent ulcerative colitis in rats. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* **2010**, *88*, 888–898.
- Cheah, K.Y.; Bastian, S.E.P.; Acott, T.M. V.; Abimosleh, S.M.; Lymn, K.A.; Howarth, G.S. Grape Seed Extract Reduces the Severity of Selected Disease Markers in the Proximal Colon of Dextran Sulphate Sodium-Induced Colitis in Rats. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 2013, 58, 970–977.
- 17. Terra, X.; Valls, J.; Vitrac, X.; Mérrillon, J.M.; Arola, L.; Ardèvol, A.; Bladé, C.; Fernández-Larrea, J.; Pujadas, G.; Salvadó, J.; et al. Grape-seed procyanidins act as antiinflammatory agents in endotoxin-stimulated RAW 264.7 macrophages by inhibiting NFkB signaling pathway. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2007**, *55*, 4357–4365.
- 18. Wang, Y.-H.; Ge, B.; Yang, X.-L.; Zhai, J.; Yang, L.-N.; Wang, X.-X.; Liu, X.; Shi, J.-C.; Wu, Y.-J. Proanthocyanidins from grape seeds modulates the nuclear factor-kappa B signal transduction pathways in rats with TNBS-induced recurrent ulcerative colitis. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 2011, *11*, 1620–1627.
- 19. Geraedts, M.C.P.; Troost, F.J.; Tinnemans, R.; Söderholm, J.D.; Brummer, R.J.; Saris, W.H.M. Release of satiety hormones in response to specific dietary proteins is different between human and murine small intestinal mucosa. *Ann. Nutr. Metab.* **2010**, *56*, 308–313.
- Sjöberg, Å.; Lutz, M.; Tannergren, C.; Wingolf, C.; Borde, A.; Ungell, A.-L. Comprehensive study on regional human intestinal permeability and prediction of fraction absorbed of drugs using the Ussing chamber technique. *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.* 2013, 48, 166–180.
- 21. Margalef, M.; Pons, Z.; Iglesias-Carres, L.; Arola, L.; Muguerza, B.; Arola-Arnal, A. Gender-related similarities and differences in the body distribution of grape seed flavanols in rats. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2016**, *60*, 760–772.
- 22. Pizarro, T.T.; Stappenbeck, T.S.; Rieder, F.; Rosen, M.J.; Colombel, J.-F.; Donowitz, M.; Towne, J.; Mazmanian, S.K.; Faith, J.J.; Hodin, R.A.; et al. Challenges in IBD Research:

Preclinical Human IBD Mechanisms. Inflamm. Bowel Dis. 2019, 25, S5–S12.

- 23. Wallon, C.; Braaf, Y.; Wolving, M.; Olaison, G.; Söderholm, J.D. Endoscopic biopsies in Ussing chambers evaluated for studies of macromolecular permeability in the human colon. *Scand. J. Gastroenterol.* **2005**, *40*, 586–595.
- 24. Schmitz, H.; Barmeyer, C.; Gitter, A.H.; Wullstein, F.; Bentzel, C.J.; Fromm, M.; Riecken, E.O.; Schulzke, J.D. Epithelial Barrier and Transport Function of the Colon in Ulcerative Colitis. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* **2006**, *915*, 312–326.
- 25. Geraedts, M.C.P.; Troost, F.J.; De Ridder, R.J.; Bodelier, A.G.L.; Masclee, A.A.M.; Saris, W.H.M. Validation of Ussing chamber technology to study satiety hormone release from human duodenal specimens. *Obesity* **2012**, *20*, 678–682.
- 26. Viktoria, V.B.; Evgeny, L.F.; Larisa, S.O.; Natalia, M.K.; Alexander, D.N.; Alexander, G.M. Increased paracellular permeability of tumor-adjacent areas in 1,2dimethylhydrazine-induced colon carcinogenesis in rats. *Cancer Biol. Med.* **2018**, *15*, 251.
- Thomson, A.; Smart, K.; Somerville, M.S.; Lauder, S.N.; Appanna, G.; Horwood, J.; Sunder Raj, L.; Srivastava, B.; Durai, D.; Scurr, M.J.; et al. The Ussing chamber system for measuring intestinal permeability in health and disease. *BMC Gastroenterol.* 2019, 19, 98.
- 28. Araki, Y.; Sugihara, H.; Hattori, T. In vitro effects of dextran sulfate sodium on a Caco-2 cell line and plausible mechanisms for dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis. *Oncol. Rep.* **2006**, *16*, 1357–62.
- 29. Zhao, H.; Zhang, H.; Wu, H.; Li, H.; Liu, L.; Guo, J.; Li, C.; Shih, D.Q.; Zhang, X. Protective role of 1,25(OH)2 vitamin D3 in the mucosal injury and epithelial barrier disruption in DSS-induced acute colitis in mice. *BMC Gastroenterol.* **2012**, *12*, 57.
- 30. Zhao, H.; Yan, R.; Zhou, X.; Ji, F.; Zhang, B. Hydrogen sulfide improves colonic barrier integrity in DSS-induced inflammation in Caco-2 cells and mice. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* **2016**, *39*, 121–127.
- 31. Van Dijk, A.P.M.; Keuskamp, Z.J.; Wilson, J.H.P.; Zijlstra, F.J. Sequential release of cytokines, lipid mediators and nitric oxide in experimental colitis. *Mediators Inflamm.* **1995**, *4*, 186–190.
- 32. Nagib, M.M.; Tadros, M.G.; Elsayed, M.I.; Khalifa, A.E. Anti-inflammatory and antioxidant activities of olmesartan medoxomil ameliorate experimental colitis in rats. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* **2013**, *271*, 106–113.
- 33. Ruder, B.; Atreya, R.; Becker, C. Tumour Necrosis Factor Alpha in Intestinal Homeostasis and Gut Related Diseases. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2019**, *20*.
- 34. Kitajima, S.; Takuma, S.; Morimoto, M. Tissue distribution of dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) in the acute phase of murine DSS-induced colitis. *J. Vet. Med. Sci.* **1999**, *61*, 67–70.

- 35. Smythies, L.E.; Sellers, M.; Clements, R.H.; Mosteller-Barnum, M.; Meng, G.; Benjamin, W.H.; Orenstein, J.M.; Smith, P.D. Human intestinal macrophages display profound inflammatory anergy despite avid phagocytic and bacteriocidal activity. *J. Clin. Invest.* **2005**, *115*, 66.
- 36. Kamada, N.; Hisamatsu, T.; Okamoto, S.; Chinen, H.; Kobayashi, T.; Sato, T.; Sakuraba, A.; Kitazume, M.T.; Sugita, A.; Koganei, K.; et al. Unique CD14 intestinal macrophages contribute to the pathogenesis of Crohn disease via IL-23/IFN-gamma axis. *J. Clin. Invest.* **2008**, *118*, 2269–80.
- 37. Roulis, M.; Armaka, M.; Manoloukos, M.; Apostolaki, M.; Kollias, G. Intestinal epithelial cells as producers but not targets of chronic TNF suffice to cause murine Crohn-like pathology. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2011**, *108*, 5396–401.
- 38. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Comitato, R.; Ginés, I.; Ardévol, A.; Pinent, M.; Virgili, F.; Terra, X.; Blay, M. Protective Effect of Proanthocyanidins in a Rat Model of Mild Intestinal Inflammation and Impaired Intestinal Permeability Induced by LPS. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 2019, 63, 1800720.
- 39. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Arola, L.; Blay, M.; Terra, X. Chronic supplementation with dietary proanthocyanidins protects from diet-induced intestinal alterations in obese rats. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2017**, *61*, 1601039.
- 40. González-Quilen, C.; Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Beltrán-Debón, R.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Terra, X.; Blay, M.T. Grape-seed proanthocyanidins are able to reverse intestinal dysfunction and metabolic endotoxemia induced by a cafeteria diet in wistar rats. *Nutrients* **2019**, *11*.
- 41. Wu, H.; Luo, T.; Li, Y.M.; Gao, Z.P.; Zhang, K.Q.; Song, J.Y.; Xiao, J.S.; Cao, Y.P. Granny Smith apple procyanidin extract upregulates tight junction protein expression and modulates oxidative stress and inflammation in lipopolysaccharide-induced Caco-2 cells. *Food Funct.* **2018**, *9*, 3321–3329.
- Li, X.; Yang, X.; Cai, Y.; Qin, H.; Wang, L.; Wang, Y.; Huang, Y.; Wang, X.; Yan, S.; Wang, L.; et al. Proanthocyanidins from Grape Seeds Modulate the NF-κB Signal Transduction Pathways in Rats with TNBS-Induced Ulcerative Colitis. *Molecules* 2011, *16*, 6721–6731.
- 43. Ginés, I.; Gil-Cardoso, K.; Serrano, J.; Casanova-Martí, À.; Blay, Mt.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Terra, X. Effects of an Intermittent Grape-Seed Proanthocyanidin (GSPE) Treatment on a Cafeteria Diet Obesogenic Challenge in Rats. *Nutrients* **2018**, *10*, 315.
- 44. Siegmund, B.; Lehr, H.-A.; Fantuzzi, G.; Dinarello, C.A. IL-1 -converting enzyme (caspase-1) in intestinal inflammation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **2001**, *98*, 13249–13254.
- 45. Sanz-Pamplona, R.; Berenguer, A.; Cordero, D.; Molleví, D.G.; Crous-Bou, M.; Sole, X.; Paré-Brunet, L.; Guino, E.; Salazar, R.; Santos, C.; et al. Aberrant gene expression in mucosa adjacent to tumor reveals a molecular crosstalk in colon cancer. *Mol. Cancer*

**2014**, *13*, 46.

- 46. Monagas, M.; Urpi-Sarda, M.; Sánchez-Patán, F.; Llorach, R.; Garrido, I.; Gómez-Cordovés, C.; Andres-Lacueva, C.; Bartolomé, B. Insights into the metabolism and microbial biotransformation of dietary flavan-3-ols and the bioactivity of their metabolites. *Food Funct.* **2010**, *1*, 233–253.
- 47. Margalef, M.; Pons, Z.; Bravo, F.I.; Muguerza, B.; Arola-Arnal, A. Plasma kinetics and microbial biotransformation of grape seed flavanols in rats. *J. Funct. Foods* **2015**, *12*, 478–488.
- 48. Mena, P.; Bresciani, L.; Brindani, N.; Ludwig, I.A.; Pereira-Caro, G.; Angelino, D.; Llorach, R.; Calani, L.; Brighenti, F.; Clifford, M.N.; et al. Phenyl-γ-valerolactones and phenylvaleric acids, the main colonic metabolites of flavan-3-ols: Synthesis, analysis, bioavailability, and bioactivity. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **2019**, *36*, 714–752.
- 49. Wiese, S.; Esatbeyoglu, T.; Winterhalter, P.; Kruse, H.P.; Winkler, S.; Bub, A.; Kulling, S.E. Comparative biokinetics and metabolism of pure monomeric, dimeric, and polymeric flavan-3-ols: A randomized cross-over study in humans. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2015**, *59*, 610–621.
- 50. Castello, F.; Costabile, G.; Bresciani, L.; Tassotti, M.; Naviglio, D.; Luongo, D.; Ciciola, P.; Vitale, M.; Vetrani, C.; Galaverna, G.; et al. Bioavailability and pharmacokinetic profile of grape pomace phenolic compounds in humans. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **2018**, *646*, 1–9.
- 51. Sano, A. Safety assessment of 4-week oral intake of proanthocyanidin-rich grape seed extract in healthy subjects. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* **2017**, *108*, 519–523.

# IV. General Discussion

The intestinal tract is an interface between the host and the environment where complex interactions between host cells, microbiota and external factors take place. Thus, diverse regulatory mechanisms cooperate to maintain tissue homeostasis, and a breakdown in these processes can result in dysfunction and the development of pathological conditions [1]. Additionally, the intestine serves as a target organ for naturally occurring bioactive compounds such as plant flavonoids, where they can modulate the activity of its intrinsic machinery [2]. In this scenario, PACs have emerged as potential adjunctive therapeutic agents for the treatment of intestinal alterations prevalent in diet-induced obesity and IBD [3]. In this doctoral thesis we explored the influence of grape-seed PACs in various models of intestinal dysfunction induced by nutritional or chemical agents.

## 1. The CAF Diet Induces Detrimental Effects in the Intestine That Can Impact Overall Health

In **Manuscript 2** [4], we showed that a 17-week CAF diet greatly increased body weight and adiposity in Wistar rats. These changes in body mass and composition came with substantial alterations in the barrier function and inflammatory status of the intestinal mucosa.

The OVA assay revealed augmented intestinal permeability in CAF-diet fed rats after 17 weeks of dietary intervention. A direct consequence of this increased permeability was a substantial rise in LPS plasma levels (metabolic endotoxemia). Increased plasma LPS has been reported in other diet-induced obesity models, and it has been linked to adipose dysfunction and systemic inflammation in human obesity [5]. Our findings were consistent with this, as we found increased levels of plasma TNF- $\alpha$ , suggesting a systemic inflammatory state. The effect of diet composition on metabolic endotoxemia was also evidenced in several human
studies which found a positive correlation between dietary fat content and plasma LPS [6,7]. The data also suggests that the occurrence of this effect can be either chronic [7] or acute [6,8].

*Ex vivo* UCh assays showed the increased secretion of TNF-α from duodenum, ileum and colon tissues, which is in agreement with previous studies reporting intestinal inflammation in rodents fed a Western-style diet [9,10]. One of the characteristics of chronic inflammation is immune-cell infiltration. In this regard, the increased MPO activity estimated in the ileum showed clear indications of neutrophil accumulation in inflamed tissues [11]. Although neutrophil infiltration is crucial to limit microbial invasion and essential in the resolution of inflammation, it can contribute to oxidative stress in pathological conditions [12]. In this process, MPO is a potential source of reactive species such as hypochlorous acid/hypochlorite, tyrosyl radicals, chloramines, and nitrogen dioxide [13] that can react with proteins and DNA in host cells and contribute to tissue damage [11]. Thus, elevated levels of MPO may potentiate mucosal injury.

Another observation in the ileal tissues was the decreased expression of the claudin 1 gene (*Cldn1*), suggesting alterations in the integrity of TJs. The downregulation of TJ proteins in rodents fed a Western-style diet has been extensively reported in the literature [10,14–17]. The UCh system allowed us to get a direct measurement of barrier integrity (TEER values) and to discern site-specific changes in this parameter along the intestinal tract. With this *ex vivo* approach, we were able to confirm the disruption of barrier integrity in all the tissues studied (duodenum, ileum and colon). Additionally, we were able to determine that the distal segments, especially the colon, contributed to metabolic endotoxemia to a greater extent than the proximal intestine. This observation can be explained by the continuous increase in the number of commensal bacterial cells along the mammalian gastrointestinal tract [18], as the microbiota is a natural reservoir of endotoxins.

The disruption of barrier integrity in the context of the obesogenic diet has been attributed to changes in the composition and functionality of intestinal microbiota caused by SFA [19]. These dietary components also seem to affect the inflammatory status and barrier integrity by activating TLR2/4-mediated proinflammatory signal transduction [20,21], although more recent evidence argues against previous research and postulates an alternate mechanism involving the reprogramming of macrophage metabolism [22]. Fructose, another major component of most obesogenic diets, has also been implicated in detrimental effects to intestinal health [23–25]. This component represents nearly 20% of food dry weight in the CAF diet (see Table 1 in Manuscript 2 [4]). Interestingly, high fructose intake has been associated with metabolic endotoxemia in animals [26] and increases in plasma endotoxin levels in humans [27] even in the context of isocaloric diets. Considering that commercial sugar-sweetened beverages typically have up to 11 g of free sugars per 100 mL, a single 330-mL can of soft drink can contain ~20 g of fructose (>100 mmol) [28]. Therefore, it is reasonable to think that fructose concentration at the very proximal part of the small intestine can reach hundreds of millimoles per liter after a particularly sugary meal. Few studies have quantified luminal sugar concentrations in the intestine of experimental animals in the postprandial state (up to 100 mmol  $L^{-1}$ ) [29], and we are not aware of studies in humans.

In **Manuscript 3**, we evaluated the effect of high concentrations of fructose (50– 300 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>) achievable in the context of the CAF diet, on the functionality of human colon carcinoma Caco-2 cells. We showed that cell monolayers exposed to fructose ( $\geq$ 150 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>) on the apical side for 5 h underwent alterations in the barrier integrity (TEER drop) by means of a combination of osmotic stress and cell injury (increase in LDH activity in the culture media), resulting in increased molecular permeability (increased *Papp* of FD4 and LY). Fructose has also been associated with increased permeability [24,25] and injury [24] in other intestinal cell lines and with hepatic cytotoxicity in animal models and humans [30,31]. Some authors have reported the downregulation of TJ protein genes in intestinal cells incubated with fructose [24,25]. In our study, we did not observe a change in the expression of the TJ protein genes analyzed, but we cannot rule out the occurrence of alterations in protein synthesis or of processes directly affecting the integrity of TJs. In this regard, recent research using animal and cell line models has found that metabolic alterations produced by high intracellular levels of fructose in the enterocyte or hepatic cells can increase the activity of ethanol-inducible cytochrome P450-2E1 (CYP2E1) and iNOS to promote the nitration of TJ proteins [25]. However, in our *in vitro* model we did not find any significant increase in ROS production and therefore there was no indication of oxidative stress. Lastly, the mechanisms underlying cell injury are not clear yet, but a growing body of evidence suggests that it could involve the depletion of ATP driven by uncontrolled fructose assimilation, which promotes a proinflammatory state [23,32]. In keeping with this, we quantified high levels of IL-8 in the basolateral side of monolayers apically treated with 150 mmol L<sup>-1</sup> of fructose.

Taken together, our results indicate that the consumption of a CAF diet compromises intestinal health. In this process, fructose may play a pivotal role in inducing a proinflammatory environment in epithelial cells which may lead to cell injury and integrity disruption. The enhanced permeability would favor the entrance of bacterial LPS into the systemic circulation, thereby promoting metabolic endotoxemia and systemic inflammation.

## 2. Preclinical Research: Unveiling the Influence of GSPE on Intestinal Dysfunction Induced by Nutritional Factors

The evidence provided in this thesis confirms the experimental data yielded in previous studies on the beneficial effect of GSPE against dysfunction promoted by detrimental factors in the intestinal mucosa.

In the study presented in **Manuscript 2** [4], we tested the effectiveness of pharmacological doses of GSPE in reversing the intestinal permeability and inflammation induced by the CAF diet when co-administered for two weeks at the end of a 16-week diet intervention. Gil-Cardoso et al. [16] evaluated nutritional doses  $(5-50 \text{ mg kg}^{-1} \text{ bw})$  administered orally in the same model and found that they were able to partially reverse the detrimental effects of the CAF diet by lowering ileal markers of oxidative stress (ROS) and inflammation (MPO). In the same study, changes in the expression of TJ protein genes were quantified as indirect markers of permeability alteration. Here we contributed to expanding the body of knowledge on the effectiveness of this therapeutic approach by testing pharmacological doses of GSPE (100–500 mg kg $^{-1}$  bw) that have been proven elsewhere [33] to exert beneficial effects in CAF-diet fed rats when co-administered or administered as preventive treatments. We consider that these pharmacological doses, although quite high, are reliable when translated from rats to humans (HEB of  $\sim$ 1–5 g d<sup>-1</sup> for a 60 kg person). As a matter of fact, the safety of the oral intake of GSPE of up to 2.5 g d<sup>-1</sup> for four weeks was demonstrated in a small group of healthy adults [34] and the NOAEL for systemic toxicity subchronically administered in rats has been estimated at  $1400-2000 \text{ mg kg}^{-1} \text{ d}^{-1}$  (equivalent to  $14-20 \text{ g d}^{-1}$  in humans) [35,36].

We found that the administering GSPE to the animals ameliorated CAF-diet induced intestinal permeability (measured as plasma OVA) when compared to CAF-diet fed non-treated animals. The normalization of intestinal permeability was consistent with the upregulation of the claudin 1 gene (*Cldn1*) in the ileum and the restitution of TEER in the ileum and colon. Gil-Cardoso et al. [16] found an increased expression of the ZO-1 gene (*Tjp1*) in the ileum of CAF-diet fed rats treated with nutritional doses of GSPE. Recently, other authors have also reported the upregulation of the ZO-1 and occludin (*Ocldn*) genes in the colon of Wistar rats fed a high fat diet co-administered with a pharmacological dose of GSPE (200 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> bw).

GSPE administration produced a beneficial effect at the systemic level, ameliorating metabolic endotoxemia, although contrary to other strategies of administration described elsewhere [33], the counteractive approach was not effective in reducing systemic inflammation (measured as plasma TNF- $\alpha$ ). The reduction in plasma endotoxin concentrations was most probably driven by the restitution of the barrier function, although a direct interaction between PACs and luminal LPS provoking endotoxin neutralization cannot be ruled out [37].

GSPE administration was associated with a reduction in the basolateral production of TNF- $\alpha$  in the duodenum and colon mucosa. A reduction in the synthesis of proinflammatory mediators has also been reported in numerous *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies testing the anti-inflammatory properties of PACs (extensively reviewed in **Manuscript 1** [38]) and their microbial metabolites [39]. In this regard, accumulated evidence indicates that grape-seed PACs interfere with the NF- $\kappa$ B and MAPK-mediated signaling pathways involved in the synthesis of cytokines and chemokines [40,41]. A direct effect of the inhibition of proinflammatory mediators was the reduction of neutrophil infiltration in the ileum (MPO activity) and, therefore, a presumable improvement in oxidative stress [16]. It is known that the grape-seed PACs exert antioxidant effects by means of radical scavenging [42] and through the upregulation of antioxidant enzymes [43]. Several *in vitro* studies performed with cell lines have demonstrated the antioxidant properties of the GSPE [44]. For instance, Pinent et al. [45] found that a 20 h incubation period with GSPE was able to prevent oxidative stress in Caco-2 cells treated with tert-butyl hydroperoxide. In our *in vivo* study (**Manuscript 3**) GSPE did not prevent detrimental changes induced by fructose under similar experimental conditions. As cell injury induced by high fructose concentrations was not associated with an increase in ROS generation, but it was with IL-8 secretion, we infer that a proinflammatory environment rather than oxidative stress was the root cause of cell injury in this model.

The microbial metabolism of GSPE during intestinal transit may yield low-weight phenolic compounds with comparable or even higher anti-inflammatory bioactivities than those exhibited by parental compounds [39]. Thus, we believe that the lack of effect of GSPE in this study can be attributed to the inherent limitations of the *in vitro* model. It is possible that, due to the severity of the proinflammatory changes provoked by fructose at the concentrations tested, the parental compounds were not able to attenuate the detrimental effects on monolayer functionality. Thus, although useful for the exploration of molecular mechanisms, most cell culture-based *in vitro* models lack physiological complexity and fail to mimic the *in vivo* situation [46].

Taken together, the evidence provided by *in vivo* studies with experimental animals is promising. The reduction in plasma LPS concentrations seen herein is particularly remarkable, as metabolic endotoxemia has been associated with the onset of obesity and comorbid conditions such as insulin resistance [47] and cardiovascular disease [48]. However, it should be noted that animal models cannot accurately reflect human pathophysiology and therefore are not necessarily good predictors of human responses [49]. Furthermore, current clinical data is limited

173

and shows a very preliminary correlation between PAC consumption and health benefits. *In vivo* human experimentation is challenging and has obvious ethical restrictions with regard to exposing patients to unknown outcomes. In the next study (**Manuscript 4** [50]), we standardized an *ex vivo* model of dysfunctional colon with human samples, thus overcoming the limitations of animal- and cell culture-based models and, at the same time, the challenges related to clinical trials.

### 3. Bridging the Gap Between Preclinical Research and Clinical Trials: A Human *ex Vivo* Model of Acute Colonic Dysfunction

In the study described in **Manuscript 4** [50], we tested the influence of GSPE on the human intestine in the context of acute dysfunction. Fresh mucosal preparations from human proximal and distal colon were mounted in an UCh system and incubated on the apical side for 60 min with DSS (12% w v<sup>-1</sup>), a chemical agent used to induce IBD in rodents [51]. The rationale for using DSS rather than fructose or another more physiological proinflammatory/permeability inductor is based on the fact that fresh samples drastically reduce viability as UCh experiments are conducted over an extended period of time [52]. Therefore, dysfunction had to be induced within a short time span. Furthermore, for these experiments we collected human colon samples, as this segment of the intestinal tract was identified as the most important contributor to metabolic endotoxemia *in vivo* (**Manuscript 2** [4]). An obvious advantage of this model in contrast to the cell culture-based model described in **Manuscript 3** was the preservation of the tissue structure as it would be in an *in vivo* situation, thus maintaining the complex interplay between the different cell types in the intestinal mucosa. DSS produced some features of acute colitis, i.e. loss of barrier integrity (TEER drop), increased permeability (increased *Papp* of FD4) and a proinflammatory state (increased basolateral secretion of TNF- $\alpha$ ) similar to that observed with high-fructose exposure *in vitro* (**Manuscript 3**), but in a comparatively short time period (60 min). The increase in TNF- $\alpha$  secretion was only significant in the proximal colon, indicating that this tissue was more prone to proinflammatory stimulation than the distal colon. This is probably due to the natural adaptation (immune tolerance) of the distal colon to the particularly abundant microbiota inhabiting this segment of the intestinal tract [53,54].

We tested the effectiveness of GSPE (50 and 200 mg mL<sup>-1</sup>) in preventing acute intestinal dysfunction by incubating intestinal tissues for 30 min prior to washout and the following treatment with DSS. Given that sample processing did not involve a thorough cleansing of tissue samples and remnants of microbiota were surely present, we speculate that the possible limitations related to the microbial metabolism of PACs in the in vitro model were partially surpassed ex vivo. However, supplementary studies are needed to evaluate the production of microbial-derived phenolic metabolites under the experimental conditions assayed. In any event, we found clear indications that GSPE bioactivity (1) reduced TEER drop and Papp of FD4 and (2) reduced the basolateral secretion of TNF- $\alpha$  in agreement with that found *in vivo* (Manuscript 2 [4]). The effects on integrity, permeability and TNF- $\alpha$ secretion were dose-dependent and only observed in the proximal colon. Moreover, these changes were evident after complete washout and, therefore, in the absence of GSPE in the apical media. This suggests the rapid modulation of cell signal transduction, either by highly polymerized PACs though protein receptors in the epithelial cell membrane or by low-weight microbial phenolics, monomericand/or dimeric- flavan-3-ol intracellularly. This long-lasting protection could also relate to observations in CAF-diet-fed Wistar rats experiencing a memory effect 12 weeks after a subchronic 15-day treatment with GSPE [33], although the underlying mechanisms need to be studied in more detail.

In summary, the administration of GSPE as a counteractive or preventive treatment resulted in an overall improvement in intestinal health in the context of intestinal dysfunction induced by nutritional or chemical agents. The therapeutic effect of GSPE appears to be effective in the human colon and comprises the reinforcement of barrier integrity and the reduction in local inflammation. These effects may also have an impact at a systemic level by reducing the entrance of LPS into circulation and therefore metabolic endotoxemia. Lastly, the translation of the GSPE concentrations tested here to oral human doses is not straightforward. However, evidence derived from this thesis, several animal studies and a limited number of clinical trials suggest that the doses therapeutically effective for intestinal dysfunction might be pharmacological rather than nutritional.

#### References

- 1. Maloy, K.J.; Powrie, F. Intestinal homeostasis and its breakdown in inflammatory bowel disease. *Nature* **2011**, *474*, 298–306.
- 2. Kong, A.-N.; Ma, Y.; Hu, M. Metabolism and Transport of Anticancer and Anti-Inflammatory Phytochemicals across the Gastrointestinal Tract. In *Inflammation*, *Oxidative Stress, and Cancer*; CRC Press, 2013; pp. 135–170.
- 3. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Blay, M.; Terra, X. Effects of flavonoids on intestinal inflammation, barrier integrity and changes in gut microbiota during diet-induced obesity. *Nutr. Res. Rev.* **2016**, *29*, 234–248.
- 4. González-Quilen, C.; Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Beltrán-Debón, R.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Terra, X.; Blay, M.T. Grape-seed proanthocyanidins are able to reverse intestinal dysfunction and metabolic endotoxemia induced by a cafeteria diet in wistar rats. *Nutrients* **2019**, *11*.
- 5. Clemente-Postigo, M.; Oliva-Olivera, W.; Coin-Aragüez, L.; Ramos-Molina, B.; Giraldez-Perez, R.M.; Lhamyani, S.; Alcaide-Torres, J.; Perez-Martinez, P.; El Bekay, R.; Cardona, F.; et al. Metabolic endotoxemia promotes adipose dysfunction and inflammation in human obesity. *Am. J. Physiol. Metab.* **2019**, *316*, E319–E332.
- 6. Clemente-Postigo, M.; Queipo-Ortuño, M.I.; Murri, M.; Boto-Ordoñez, M.; Perez-Martinez, P.; Andres-Lacueva, C.; Cardona, F.; Tinahones, F.J. Endotoxin increase after fat overload is related to postprandial hypertriglyceridemia in morbidly obese patients. *J. Lipid Res.* **2012**, *53*, 973–978.
- 7. Pendyala, S.; Walker, J.M.; Holt, P.R. A high-fat diet is associated with endotoxemia

that originates from the gut. *Gastroenterology* **2012**, *142*, 1100.

- 8. Wong, X.; Madrid, A.M.; Tralma, K.; Castillo, R.; Carrasco-Pozo, C.; Navarrete, P.; Beltrán, C.; Pastene, E.; Gotteland, M. Polyphenol extracts interfere with bacterial lipopolysaccharide in vitro and decrease postprandial endotoxemia in human volunteers. *J. Funct. Foods* **2016**, *26*, 406–417.
- 9. Ding, S.; Chi, M.M.; Scull, B.P.; Rigby, R.; Schwerbrock, N.M.J.; Magness, S.; Jobin, C.; Lund, P.K. High-fat diet: Bacteria interactions promote intestinal inflammation which precedes and correlates with obesity and insulin resistance in mouse. *PLoS One* **2010**, *5*, e12191.
- 10. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Terra, X.; Blay, M. A cafeteria diet triggers intestinal inflammation and oxidative stress in obese rats. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2017**, *117*, 218–229.
- 11. Khan, A.; Alsahli, M.; Rahmani, A. Myeloperoxidase as an Active Disease Biomarker: Recent Biochemical and Pathological Perspectives. *Med. Sci.* **2018**, *6*, 33.
- 12. Fournier, B.M.; Parkos, C.A. The role of neutrophils during intestinal inflammation. *Mucosal Immunol.* **2012**, *5*, 354–366.
- 13. Honda, H.; Matsunaga, T.; Komoda, T. Degenerated HDL and Its Clinical Implications. In *The HDL Handbook: Biological Functions and Clinical Implications: Third Edition*; Elsevier Inc., 2017; pp. 37–63 ISBN 9780128125137.
- Cani, P.D.; Bibiloni, R.; Knauf, C.; Waget, A.; Neyrinck, A.M.; Delzenne, N.M.; Burcelin, R. Changes in gut microbiota control metabolic endotoxemia-induced inflammation in high-fat diet-induced obesity and diabetes in mice. *Diabetes* 2008, *57*, 1470– 1481.
- 15. Sellmann, C.; Priebs, J.; Landmann, M.; Degen, C.; Engstler, A.J.; Jin, C.J.; Gärttner, S.; Spruss, A.; Huber, O.; Bergheim, I. Diets rich in fructose, fat or fructose and fat alter intestinal barrier function and lead to the development of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease over time. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* **2015**, *26*, 1183–1192.
- 16. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Arola, L.; Blay, M.; Terra, X. Chronic supplementation with dietary proanthocyanidins protects from diet-induced intestinal alterations in obese rats. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2017**, *61*, 1601039.
- 17. Do, M.H.; Lee, E.; Oh, M.J.; Kim, Y.; Park, H.Y. High-glucose or-fructose diet cause changes of the gut microbiota and metabolic disorders in mice without body weight change. *Nutrients* **2018**, *10*, E761.
- 18. Sekirov, I.; Russell, S.L.; Caetano M Antunes, L.; Finlay, B.B. Gut microbiota in health and disease. *Physiol. Rev.* **2010**, *90*, 859–904.
- 19. Cani, P.D.; Neyrinck, A.M.; Fava, F.; Knauf, C.; Burcelin, R.G.; Tuohy, K.M.; Gibson, G.R.; Delzenne, N.M. Selective increases of bifidobacteria in gut microflora improve high-fat-diet-induced diabetes in mice through a mechanism associated with

endotoxaemia. *Diabetologia* **2007**, *50*, 2374–2383.

- 20. Huang, S.; Rutkowsky, J.M.; Snodgrass, R.G.; Ono-Moore, K.D.; Schneider, D.A.; Newman, J.W.; Adams, S.H.; Hwang, D.H. Saturated fatty acids activate TLR-mediated proinflammatory signaling pathways. *J. Lipid Res.* **2012**, *53*, 2002–2013.
- 21. Rogero, M.M.; Calder, P.C. Obesity, inflammation, toll-like receptor 4 and fatty acids. *Nutrients* **2018**, *10*, 432.
- 22. Lancaster, G.I.; Langley, K.G.; Berglund, N.A.; Kammoun, H.L.; Reibe, S.; Estevez, E.; Weir, J.; Mellett, N.A.; Pernes, G.; Conway, J.R.W.; et al. Evidence that TLR4 Is Not a Receptor for Saturated Fatty Acids but Mediates Lipid-Induced Inflammation by Reprogramming Macrophage Metabolism. *Cell Metab.* **2018**, *27*, 1096-1110.e5.
- Johnson, R.J.; Rivard, C.; Lanaspa, M.A.; Otabachian-Smith, S.; Ishimoto, T.; Cicerchi, C.; Cheeke, P.R.; McIntosh, B.; Hess, T. Fructokinase, Fructans, Intestinal Permeability, and Metabolic Syndrome: An Equine Connection? *J. Equine Vet. Sci.* 2013, *33*, 120–126.
- 24. Kawabata, K.; Kanmura, S.; Morinaga, Y.; Tanaka, A.; Makino, T.; Fujita, T.; Arima, S.; Sasaki, F.; Nasu, Y.; Tanoue, S.; et al. A high-fructose diet induces epithelial barrier dysfunction and exacerbates the severity of dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* **2019**, *43*, 1487–1496.
- 25. Cho, Y.E.; Kim, D.K.; Seo, W.; Gao, B.; Yoo, S.H.; Song, B.J. Fructose Promotes Leaky Gut, Endotoxemia, and Liver Fibrosis Through Ethanol-Inducible Cytochrome P450-2E1–Mediated Oxidative and Nitrative Stress. *Hepatology* **2019**.
- 26. Kavanagh, K.; Wylie, A.T.; Tucker, K.L.; Hamp, T.J.; Gharaibeh, R.Z.; Fodor, A.A.; Cullen, J.M. Dietary fructose induces endotoxemia and hepatic injury in calorically controlled primates. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2013**, *98*, 349–357.
- 27. Nier, A.; Brandt, A.; Rajcic, D.; Bruns, T.; Bergheim, I. Short-Term Isocaloric Intake of a Fructose- but not Glucose-Rich Diet Affects Bacterial Endotoxin Concentrations and Markers of Metabolic Health in Normal Weight Healthy Subjects. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2019**, *63*, e1800868.
- 28. White, J.S.; Hobbs, L.J.; Fernandez, S. Fructose content and composition of commercial HFCS-sweetened carbonated beverages. *Int. J. Obes.* **2015**, *39*, 176–182.
- 29. Ferraris, R.P.; Yasharpour, S.; Lloyd, K.C.K.; Mirzayan, R.; Diamond, J.M. Luminal glucose concentrations in the gut under normal conditions. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* **1990**, *259*, G822–G837.
- 30. Abdelmalek, M.F.; Lazo, M.; Horska, A.; Bonekamp, S.; Lipkin, E.W.; Balasubramanyam, A.; Bantle, J.P.; Johnson, R.J.; Diehl, A.M.; Clark, J.M. Higher dietary fructose is associated with impaired hepatic adenosine triphosphate homeostasis in obese individuals with type 2 diabetes. *Hepatology* **2012**, *56*, 952–960.

- 31. Puri, B.K.; Kingston, M.C.; Monro, J.A. Fructose-associated hepatotoxicity indexed by the lactate dehydrogenase isoenzyme LDH-5. *Med. Hypotheses* **2019**, *124*, 40–41.
- 32. Jensen, T.; Abdelmalek, M.F.; Sullivan, S.; Nadeau, K.J.; Green, M.; Roncal, C.; Nakagawa, T.; Kuwabara, M.; Sato, Y.; Kang, D.H.; et al. Fructose and sugar: A major mediator of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *J. Hepatol.* **2018**, *68*, 1063–1075.
- 33. Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ginés, I.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Blay, M.; Terra, X. The coadministration of proanthocyanidins and an obesogenic diet prevents the increase in intestinal permeability and metabolic endotoxemia derived to the diet. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* **2018**, *62*, 35–42.
- 34. Sano, A. Safety assessment of 4-week oral intake of proanthocyanidin-rich grape seed extract in healthy subjects. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* **2017**, *108*, 519–523.
- 35. Ray, S.; Bagchi, D.; Lim, P.M.; Bagchi, M.; Gross, S.M.; Kothari, S.C.; Preuss, H.G.; Stohs, S.J. Acute and long-term safety evaluation of a novel IH636 grape seed proanthocyanidin extract. *Res. Commun. Mol. Pathol. Pharmacol.* **2001**, *109*, 165–197.
- 36. Yamakoshi, J.; Saito, M.; Kataoka, S.; Kikuchi, M. Safety evaluation of proanthocyanidin-rich extract from grape seeds. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* **2002**, *40*, 599–607.
- Delehanty, J.B.; Johnson, B.J.; Hickey, T.E.; Pons, T.; Ligler, F.S. Binding and Neutralization of Lipopolysaccharides by Plant Proanthocyanidins. *J. Nat. Prod.* 2007, 70, 1718–1724.
- 38. González-Quilen; Rodríguez-Gallego; Beltrán-Debón; Pinent; Ardévol; Blay; Terra Health-Promoting Properties of Proanthocyanidins for Intestinal Dysfunction. *Nutrients* **2020**, *12*, 130.
- 39. Mena, P.; Bresciani, L.; Brindani, N.; Ludwig, I.A.; Pereira-Caro, G.; Angelino, D.; Llorach, R.; Calani, L.; Brighenti, F.; Clifford, M.N.; et al. Phenyl-γ-valerolactones and phenylvaleric acids, the main colonic metabolites of flavan-3-ols: Synthesis, analysis, bioavailability, and bioactivity. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **2019**, *36*, 714–752.
- 40. Terra, X.; Valls, J.; Vitrac, X.; Mérrillon, J.M.; Arola, L.; Ardèvol, A.; Bladé, C.; Fernández-Larrea, J.; Pujadas, G.; Salvadó, J.; et al. Grape-seed procyanidins act as antiinflammatory agents in endotoxin-stimulated RAW 264.7 macrophages by inhibiting NFkB signaling pathway. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2007**, *55*, 4357–4365.
- 41. Kim, H.; Kim, J.Y.; Song, H.S.; Park, K.U.; Mun, K.C.; Ha, E. Grape seed proanthocyanidin extract inhibits interleukin-17-induced interleukin-6 production via MAPK pathway in human pulmonary epithelial cells. *Naunyn. Schmiedebergs. Arch. Pharmacol.* **2011**, *383*, 555–562.
- 42. Bagchi, D.; Garg, A.; Krohn, R.L.; Bagchi, M.; Tran, M.X.; Stohs, S.J. Oxygen free radical scavenging abilities of vitamins C and E, and a grape seed proanthocyanidin extract

in vitro. Res. Commun. Mol. Pathol. Pharmacol. 1997, 95, 179–89.

- 43. Puiggròs, F.; Llópiz, N.; Ardévol, A.; Bladé, C.; Arola, L.; Salvadó, M.J. Grape Seed Procyanidins Prevent Oxidative Injury by Modulating the Expression of Antioxidant Enzyme Systems. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2005**, *53*, 6080–6086.
- 44. Bagchi, D.; Bagchi, M.; Stohs, S.J.; Ray, S.D.; Sen, C.K.; Preuss, H.G. Cellular protection with proanthocyanidins derived from grape seeds. In Proceedings of the Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences; 2002; Vol. 957, pp. 260–270.
- 45. Pinent, M.; Castell-Auví, A.; Genovese, M.I.; Serrano, J.; Casanova, A.; Blay, M.; Ardévol, A. Antioxidant effects of proanthocyanidin-rich natural extracts from grape seed and cupuassu on gastrointestinal mucosa. *J. Sci. Food Agric.* **2016**, *96*, 178–182.
- 46. Langhans, S.A. Three-dimensional in vitro cell culture models in drug discovery and drug repositioning. *Front. Pharmacol.* **2018**, *9*, 6.
- 47. Cani, P.D.; Amar, J.; Iglesias, M.A.; Poggi, M.; Knauf, C.; Bastelica, D.; Neyrinck, A.M.; Fava, F.; Tuohy, K.M.; Chabo, C.; et al. Metabolic Endotoxemia Initiates Obesity and Insulin Resistance. *Diabetes* **2007**, *56*, 1761–1772.
- 48. Neves, A.L.; Coelho, J.; Couto, L.; Leite-Moreira, A.; Roncon-Albuquerque, R. Metabolic endotoxemia: A molecular link between obesity and cardiovascular risk. *J. Mol. Endocrinol.* **2013**, *51*, 51–64.
- 49. Denayer, T.; Stöhrn, T.; Van Roy, M. Animal models in translational medicine: Validation and prediction. *New Horizons Transl. Med.* **2014**, *2*, 5–11.
- 50. González-Quilen, C.; Grau-Bové, C.; Jorba-Martín, R.; Caro-Tarragó, A.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Beltrán-Debón, R.; Terra, X.; Blay, M.T. Protective properties of grapeseed proanthocyanidins in human ex vivo acute colonic dysfunction induced by dextran sodium sulfate. *Eur. J. Nutr.* **2020**.
- 51. Solomon, L.; Mansor, S.; Mallon, P.; Donnelly, E.; Hoper, M.; Loughrey, M.; Kirk, S.; Gardiner, K. The dextran sulphate sodium (DSS) model of colitis: an overview. *Comp. Clin. Path.* **2010**, *19*, 235–239.
- 52. Clarke, L.L. A guide to Ussing chamber studies of mouse intestine. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* **2009**, 296.
- 53. Smythies, L.E.; Sellers, M.; Clements, R.H.; Mosteller-Barnum, M.; Meng, G.; Benjamin, W.H.; Orenstein, J.M.; Smith, P.D. Human intestinal macrophages display profound inflammatory anergy despite avid phagocytic and bacteriocidal activity. *J. Clin. Invest.* **2005**, *115*, 66.
- 54. Lathrop, S.K.; Bloom, S.M.; Rao, S.M.; Nutsch, K.; Lio, C.W.; Santacruz, N.; Peterson, D.A.; Stappenbeck, T.S.; Hsieh, C.S. Peripheral education of the immune system by colonic commensal microbiota. *Nature* **2011**, *478*, 250–254.

# V. Conclusions

The main conclusions of this doctoral thesis are listed below:

- 1. Nutritional factors associated with the Western diet compromised intestinal barrier integrity and promoted a proinflammatory environment in animal and cell culture-based models.
  - A long-term CAF diet in Wistar rats increased the influx of intestinal luminal content, thus producing a sustained local inflammatory response, as well as metabolic endotoxemia and systemic inflammation. Integrity disruption in distal segments of the intestine (mainly colon) greatly contributed to metabolic endotoxemia in CAF diet-induced intestinal dysfunction.
  - High concentrations of fructose produced cell injury and a proinflammatory state in human colon Caco-2 cells, and were associated with increased monolayer permeability.
- 2. The subchronic oral administration of pharmacological doses of GSPE in rats after a long-term CAF diet was able to reverse the detrimental effects of the diet intervention locally and systemically.
  - The amelioration of intestinal permeability alterations and local inflammation by GSPE was site-specific with a remarkable restitution of barrier integrity in distal segments.
  - The therapeutic effects of GSPE on the barrier function had a systemic impact through the reduction in metabolic endotoxemia.

# 3. The GSPE lessened chemically-induced dysfunction in mucosal tissues of human colon *ex vivo*.

- A short preventive treatment with GSPE was able to attenuate the loss of integrity and increased permeability caused by a colitisinducing chemical in the human proximal colon.
- This therapeutic approach also contributed to ameliorating the proinflammatory environment in both the proximal and distal colon

### **Manuscripts Included in this Thesis**

- González-Quilen, C.; Beltrán-Debón, R; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Terra, X.; Blay, M. Teresa. Detrimental Effects of High Fructose Concentrations in Monolayers of Human Colon Carcinoma Caco-2 Cells: Role of Proanthocyanidins in Permeability Alterations and Proinflammatory Changes. 2020, [manuscript in preparation].
- González-Quilen, C.; Grau-Bové, C.; Jorba-Martín, R.; Caro-Tarragó, A.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Beltrán-Debón, R.; Terra, X.; Blay, M. Teresa. Protective properties of grape-seed proanthocyanidins in human *ex vivo* acute colonic dysfunction induced by dextran sodium sulfate. *European Journal of Nutrition* 2020, [published online ahead of print]. DOI: 10.1007/s00394-020-02222-3.
- González-Quilen, C.; Rodríguez-Gallego E.; Beltrán-Debón, R.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Blay, M. Teresa; Terra, X. Health-Promoting Properties of Proanthocyanidins for Intestinal Dysfunction. *Nutrients* 2020, 12(1), 130. DOI: 10.3390/nu12010130.
- González-Quilen, C., Gil-Cardoso, K; Ginés, I; Beltrán-Debón, R.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Terra X.; Blay, M. Teresa. Grape-Seed Proanthocyanidins are Able to Reverse Intestinal Dysfunction and Metabolic Endotoxemia Induced by a Cafeteria Diet in Wistar Rats. *Nutrients* 2019, 11(5), 979. DOI: 10.3390/nu11050979.

### **Other Manuscripts**

- Grau-Bové, C.; González-Quilen, C.; Terra, X.; Blay, M Teresa; Beltrán-Debón, R; Jorba-Martín, R.; Espina, B; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A. Effects of flavanols on enteroendocrine secretion. *Biomolecules* 2020, 10(6), 844. DOI: 10.3390/biom10060844.
- González-Quilen, C.; Rodríguez-Gallego E.; Beltrán-Debón, R.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A.; Blay, M. Teresa; Terra, X. Beneficial Effects of Proanthocyanidins on Intestinal Permeability and Its Relationship with Inflammation. *IntechOpen* 2020, [published online ahead of print]. DOI: 10.5772/intechopen.91212.

### Abstracts

- Gonzalez-Quilen, C.; Gil-Cardoso, K.; Terra, X; Blay, M. Teresa. Grape-seed proanthocyanidins reduce intestinal permeabilization and systemic endotoxemia induced by cafeteria diet in Wistar rats. Poster presented at 15th NuGOweek: Mitochondria, Nutrition and Health 2018, Sep 3–6 Newcastle, UK.
- Robles-Bolivar, P.; Gonzalez-Quilen, C.; Ginés, I.; Blay, M Teresa; Terra, X.; Pinent, M.; Ardévol, A. Identification of pure bioactive molecules on enteroendocrine secretions in different pig intestine segments. Poster presented at XL SEBBM Congress 2017, Oct 23–26. Barcelona, Spain.
- Gonzalez-Quilen C., Robles-Bolivar, P., Ginés I., Pinent M, Ardévol A Blay M Teresa, Terra X. *In vitro* and *ex vivo* models of intestinal mucosal alteration: Grape seed proanthocyanidin extract ameliorates transepithelial electrical resistance loss under different detrimental stimulus. Poster presented at XL SEBBM Congress 2017, Oct 23–26. Barcelona, Spain.
- González-Quilen, C.; Robles-Bolívar, P.; Gil-Cardoso, K.; Ardévol, A.; Pinent,
  M.; Blay, M. Teresa; Terra, X. Modelo *ex vivo* de alteración de la mucosa

intestinal: Evaluación del efecto de las proantocianidinas de pepita de uva sobre la resistencia eléctrica transepitelial en colon ascendente de cerdo. Poster presented at IX Seminario sobre Alimentación y estilos de vida saludables 2019, Jul 20–21. Tarragona, Spain.

The intestinal tract is a site of interaction with microorganisms and potentially detrimental environmental factors. The high intake of fructose and saturated fats typical of the Western diet has been associated with intestinal dysfunction (disruption of barrier function and inflammation) and an increased influx of proinflammatory bacterial endotoxins into the systemic circulation. In turn, high concentrations of plasma endotoxins (metabolic endotoxemia) are a precursor to the onset of metabolic syndrome. In view of the above, the intestine is emerging as a target for disease prevention and therapy. Proanthocyanins (PACs) are naturally occurring phenolic compounds with remarkable anti-inflammatory properties in the intestinal mucosa, according to preclinical studies. Thus, PAC administration is a promising adjunctive therapeutic strategy for the treatment of intestinal dysfunction, but its efficacy in humans is yet to be confirmed.

The main objective of this doctoral thesis was to evaluate the impact of a grape-seed PAC extract (GSPE) on preclinical models of intestinal dysfunction and to investigate its effectiveness in humans. We found that a long-term Western-style diet (cafeteria diet) induces intestinal dysfunction in rats, and that alterations in the permeability of the colon largely contribute to metabolic endotoxemia. These effects are partially driven by high luminal concentrations of fructose and could be effectively reversed *in vivo* by pharmacological doses of GSPE. Lastly, we compared these findings with evidence derived from an *ex vivo* human model of chemically-induced colonic dysfunction in which we were able to replicate the reduction of intestinal permeability and the amelioration of inflammatory status by means of GSPE found *in vivo*.

In conclusion, the administration of GSPE results in the overall improvement of intestinal dysfunction and associated metabolic endotoxemia. Effective doses in humans are probably pharmacological and will have to be determined in clinical trials.

